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ABSTRACT

The primary objectives of this thesis are: (i) to review the ongoing practices of
corporate governance in six developed and emerging markets that represent a broad
and diverse sample that varies in terms of historical, legal, economic and cultural
systems; (ii) to assess comprehensively the effectiveness of corporate governance in a
unique developing country, Saudi Arabia; and (iii) to identify whether there are
significant differences in the perceptions among the involved four samples (board of
directors’ members, chief executive officers ‘CEQs’, audit committee members and
shareholders) towards the four mechanisms of corporate governance investigated in
this study, namely: shareholders’ rights; board of directors; audit committees and
internal audit; and disclosure and transparency.

A mail-out questionnaire methodology was used. The populations in this study
have been divided into two categories: (i) the entire board of directors’ members,
chief executive officers and audit committee members of the 71 listed Saudi joint
stock companies; and (ii) 400 randomly selected shareholders.

Saudi joint stock corporations generally were found to be doing relatively well
in allowing shareholders to exercise some shareholders' rights such as secure
registration, sharing in profits and participating in general meetings. Minority
shareholders, however, seem to encounter difficulties in understanding their rights,
calling special shareholders' meetings, putting issues on meeting agendas, obtaining
timely information and taking little part in the process of selecting directors. The size
and composition of boards varied widely among Saudi joint stock corporations. The
boards were generally weak in performing some of their functions and the
independence of independent directors was questionable. They also tend not to have
independent board committee for remuneration and nomination. Although the
existence of an audit committee was mandatory in all listed Saudi corporations, the
number of members in those committees was less than four. Virtually all the audit
committees had accounting or finance specialists; are chaired by an independent
director; take minutes of committee meetings; and had written rules governing the
overall audit function. Audit committees, however, were weak in approving the
appointment and replacement of the internal audit head and in discussing with him
related matters; reporting on audit committee’s activities provided at annual
shareholder meeting; and accessing relevant information. Sample firms performed
relatively poorly in the areas of information disclosure and transparency, particularly
in relation to matters such as disclosing material foreseeable risk factors, providing
channels for disseminating information for fair, timely and cost-efficient access to
relevant information by users, disclosing governance structures, disclosing the
remuneration of the board members and disclosing the financial and operating results
of the company in the English language. Firms also were not yet making full use of
web sites to disclose information in a timely fashion and to enhance transparency.

The mean values of the responses obtained from the first two samples (board
of directors and CEOs) were higher than the mean values of the responses obtained
from the last two samples (audit committee members and shareholders). That was a
clear indication that the board of directors’ members and the chief executive officers
were more confident about the effectiveness of corporate governance in Saudi joint
stock corporations than the audit committee members and the shareholders.
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CHAPTER ONE.:

INTRODUCTION

1.1. BACKGROUND

The subject of corporate governance has attracted increasing attention on both
sides of the Atlantic in recent years (Aguilera and Jackson, 2003). Corporate
governance is now the subject of much discussion in boardrooms, classrooms and the

media (Cheffins, 1999).

Corporate governance received more attention due to a series of corporate
failures that affected not only those directly connected with the companies concerned
(i.e., directors, shareholders and auditors) but also those affected by its existence like
employees, customers, suppliers and the environment. The first well-documented
failure of governance was the South Sea Bubble in the 1700s, which revolutionized

business laws and practices in England (Iskander et al., 1999).

The Asian financial crisis, which started with the devaluation of the Thai baht
in July 1997, brought to the foreground the common occurrence of weak corporate
governance which had allowed companies to engage in excessive over-leverage, some
of which were aided by implicit state guarantees. The concepts of transparency,
disclosure and accountability were largely ignored in the lead-up to the crisis as
investors assumed a short-term outlook in order to derive increasing profits from the

steadily rising regional financial markets.

The issue transcends national boundaries. Both the United States and Europe
have had their share of questionable management decisions leading to the loss of
billions of dollars, including Enron Corp. and Long Term Credit Management in the
United States and Morgan Grenfell in Europe (Chambers, 2002). Australia has also
not been immune as evident from the recent collapses of One.Tel Ltd and HIH
Insurance Limited, a telecommunications and an insurance company, respectively.
These are but a few of the more recent well documented cases that highlight the

increasing importance of effective corporate governance. The financial crises in Asia,
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Russia, United States and Australia, amongst others, have shown that a lack of regard
for core values of corporate governance does have a negative impact globally.
Countries, markets and companies that have not been able to survive or that have
fared badly in a crisis have one thing in common: poor corporate governance
standards (Keong, 2002). Those financial crises showed that even strong economies
lacking transparent control, responsible corporate boards and shareholder rights

collapse quite quickly as investor’s confidence erodes.

Empirical evidence (Fremond et al., 2002) suggests that good corporate
governance increases the efficiency of capital allocation within and across firms,
reduces the cost of capital for issuers, helps broaden access to capital, reduces

vulnerability to crises, fosters savings provisions and renders corruption more

difficult.

A careful study of corporate governance is important at the present time in
Saudi Arabia because the future will be even more competitive than it is now. In
emerging market economies the business environment lacks many elements needed
for a competitive market and a culture of enforcement and compliance (Iskander et
al.,, 1999). Saudi Arabia needs to take a long hard look at the way other countries’

systems work and keep their own under review.

To remain competitive in a changing world, Saudi corporations must innovate
and adopt their corporate governance practices so that they can meet new demands
and new opportunities. The Saudi government also has an important responsibility for
shaping an effective regulatory framework that provides for sufficient flexibility to
allow the Saudi market to function effectively and to respond to expectations of
shareholders and other stakeholders. The way these principles should be adopted is

the responsibility of the government and the market participants.
1.2. OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY

The main aims of this thesis are: (i) to review the ongoing practices of
corporate governance in six developed and emerging markets that represent a broad
and diverse sample that varies in terms of historical, legal, economic and cultural

systems; (ii) to assess comprehensively the effectiveness of corporate governance in a
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unique developing country, Saudi Arabia; and (iii) to identify whether there are
significant differences in the perceptions among the involved four samples (board of
directors’ members, chief executive officers, audit committee members and
shareholders) towards the four mechanisms of corporate governance investigated in
this study, namely: shareholders’ rights; board of directors; audit committees and

internal audit; and disclosure and transparency.

Saudi is a unique developing country because: (i) little is known about
corporate governance in this country since this thesis, to the author’s best knowledge,
is the first to assesses comprehensively corporate governance practices in Saudi
Arabia; (ii) Saudi Arabia has never had typical institutions (outside influences) of
corporate governance, has never had a Code of corporate governance best practices
and has never adopted the Principles of Corporate Governance that have been
developed by the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)
(1999, 2004), the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the World Bank and others;
(iii) the influence of Islam, given that Saudi Arabia is the heartland of Islam, the
birthplace of its history, the site of the two holy mosques and the focus of Islamic

devotion and prayer.

This thesis is among the few comparable studies that have been conducted
using developing or transition country data to analyse corporate governance systems
and one which will add to the growing pool of scattered cross-country evidence.
Example studies in the literature investigating corporate governance in developing
countries are those with respect to Russia (Blasi and Shleifer, 1996; Black, 2001),
Czech and Slovak Republics (Claessens, 1997; Claessens et al., 1996), China (Xu and
Wang, 1997), a cross-section of transition economies (Aoki and Kim, 1995; Gray and
Hanson, 1993), India (Chhibber and Majumdar, 1999; Khanna and Palepu, 1998;
Sarkar and Sarkar, 1999; CII, 1998; Choudhury, 1999), Korea (Black, Jang and Kim,
2003) and others.

The assessment of the effectiveness of corporate governance is the outcome of
the assessments of four corporate governance mechanisms, namely: shareholder
rights; board of directors; audit committees and internal audit; and disclosure and

transparency. As the intensity of adoption of these mechanisms in the Saudi publicly
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traded, joint stock, corporations increases corporate governance becomes more

effective.

In other words, it is an objective to provide evidence from a developing and
emerging Islamic economy, Saudi Arabia, on the role of shareholders, board of
directors, audit committees and disclosure and transparency in enhancing the

effectiveness of corporate governance in the Saudi joint stock corporations.

The characteristics of the four mechanisms of corporate governance being
discussed in this thesis will be adopted from the recommendations of some
international organizations such as the Organization of Economic Cooperation and
Development (OECD) (1999, 2004), the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the
World Bank, the Treadway Commission (1987), the Cadbury Committee (1992), the
Blue Ribbon Committee (1999), The International Corporate Govermnance Network
(ICGN) and other recommendations. However, more emphasis will be given to the
OECD (1999, 2004) Principles of Corporate Governance since the OECD Principles
have been widely accepted by many countries, organizations and regulators around
the world and because the Principles were intended to assist non-members, too, as it

has been stated by the OECD (1999: p.11) that;

The Principles are intended to assist member and non-member governments in their
efforts to evaluate and improve the legal, institutional and regulatory framework for corporate
governance in their countries, and provide guidance and suggestions for stock exchanges,
investors, corporations, and other parties that have a role in the process of developing good

corporate governance.

The International Corporate Governance Network (JCGN) in their Statement
on Global Corporate Governance Principles that was adopted in 1999 applauds the
OECD Principles as a declaration of minimum acceptable standards for companies

and investors around the world. The ICGN (1999: p.1) stated:

The ICGN applauds the OECD Principles as a declaration of minimum acceptable
standards for companies aﬁd investors around the world. Much of the document reflects
perspectives promoted by ICGN representatives serving on the OECD’s Ad Hoc Task Force
on Corporate Governance, relying on the draft principles under discussion at the ICGN. The
ICGN welcomes the OECD Principles as a remarkable convergence on corporate governance

common ground among diverse interests, practices and cultures.
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The World Bank also assists its client countries in the assessment of their
corporate governance institutional frameworks and practices by preparing country
corporate governance assessments using the OECD (1999) as a benchmark. The
activities of the World Bank in corporate govermnance focus on the rights of
shareholders, the equitable treatment of shareholders, the treatment of other

stakeholders, disclosure and transparency and the duties of board members.

Since the publication of the OECD Principles in 1999, they have become the
most widely accepted corporate governance benchmark and have influenced the
drafting of other codes issued by international organizations, countries, companies
and stock exchanges. Therefore, as has been said earlier, a special emphasis will be

given to these principles as a benchmark to the Saudi corporate governance practices.
1.3. CONTRIBUTION TO KNOWLEDGE

This thesis differs from the related literature in several ways: by investigating
the effectiveness of corporate governance; firm-level issues; all listed Saudi firms; no

typical institutions (outside influences) of corporate governance; and religion effects.

First, most of the empirical literature on corporate governance has focused on
the relationship between corporate governance and performance (Dumev and Kim,
2002; Klapper and Love, 2002; and Gompers et al., 2003), shareholder rights and
performance (Holthausen et al., 1999; and Claessens et al. 2002), board of directors
and performance (MacAvoy et. al., 1983, 1999; Black, 2000; and Burton, 2000), audit
committee and performance (Wild, 1994; Klein, 2002; Vafeas and Theodorou, 1998)
and disclosure and transparency and performance (Leuz et al. 2000; and Healy et al.
1999)

However, few authors have investigated the effectiveness of corporate
governance and its elements discussed in this study, namely: shareholder rights, board
of directors, audit committees and disclosure and transparency. In the Saudi Arabia
case, it was thought to be too early to link corporate governance to firm performance
because corporate governance in Saudi is still developing. Moreover, Saudi Arabia
has not adopted any international recommendations or principles and, furthermore,

Saudi has not yet produced its own best practices of corporate governance. Corporate
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governance in Saudi Arabia seems to be weak and the focus at this stage should be
towards assessing corporate governance practices, helping regulators, organizations
and corporations in understanding what has been meant by good corporate
governance and providing the Saudi economy with some recommendations to develop

and enhance corporate governance.

Second, previous authors have shown that better legal protection for investors
is associated with higher valuation of listed firms relative to their assets or changes in
investments (Claessens et al., 2002; La Porta et al., 2002; Wurgler, 2000), higher
market value (La Porta et al., 1997) and larger listed firms in terms of their sales and
assets (Kumar et al., 1999). Rajan and Zingales (1998) and Demirgiic-Kunt and
Maksimovic (1998) also found that industries and firms that had better legal
protection for investors rely more on external financing to fund their growth.
Although these studies provide valuable insights into the effects of regulatory
environments on stock markets, valuation and corporate financing, they do not
address firm-level issues such as how corporate governance affects individual firm
valuation within a country and they do not assess the effectiveness of corporate

governance mechanisms.

Third, the data source for this study is all listed Saudi firms, both large and
small, which enhances the generalizability of this study. The other researchers on
emerging markets, however, either use a small single-country sample (Black, 2001) or
multi-country samples that contain only the largest firms in each country (Durnev and
Kim, 2002; Klapper and Love, 2002).

Fourth, the most widely known guidelines and principles of corporate
governance are those developed by three international organizations, namely, the
World Bank, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the Organization for
Economic Co-operation and Development Principles of Corporate Governance
(OECD) (PCSU, 2000). Countries adopting corporate governance rules more or less
follow the standards set by those organizations. However, Saudi Arabia is not one of
these countries and does not adopt or follow any of these organizations. Although
some authors have investigated corporate governance in developing markets, this

study will be the first to investigate how good corporate governance is in a developing
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country that does not adopt the corporate governance principles and does not have

typical institutions (outside influences) of corporate governance.

Finally, this study could be classified as the first study investigating how
religion (Islam) affects the adoption of such principles. Islam guides not only the lives
of the people, but also the policies and functions of the government, which, in turn,

regulate and impose corporate governance.
1.4. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The research methodology is a very important step in the research design
process. The use of a particular methodology for a research project depends on the
scope, purpose, target, population, etc. of the study as well as the resources available
to the researcher. It is essential, therefore, that in order to achieve their objectives,
researchers adopt the right methodology and select the right data collection techniques
through which they can collect the required data within their available resources (Gill
and Johnson, 2002).

In the process of the construction of the methodology, the author considered
various factors that best reflect corporate governance practices in Saudi Arabia. The
choice of the variables is based on the corporate governance mechanisms, namely:
shareholders’ rights, board of directors, audit committees and internal audit and

disclosure and transparency.

Survey methodology currently is the most common approach used in a variety
of fields ranging from economics and political science to environmental studies,
marketing research, voting behaviour and health, among others, to study empirically
the characteristics and interrelations of sociological and psychological variables
(Roberts, 1999; Marsh, 1982; Young, 1996). The great advantage of this method is
that it allows us to measure the attitudes and behaviours of large populations (e.g.,
country, state or city) by questioning a relatively small number of people, who are
chosen through statistical/probabilistic procedures. Surveys, indeed. provide an
efficient and economical means of determining facts about the economy and about

people’s attitudes, expectations and behaviours.
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One of the most critical decisions in many social research investigations is the
selection of the appropriate type of survey. However, the researcher has chosen the
mail-out questionnaire survey method as the best method for this study relying on
very few simple rules that made this decision easier. The researcher has used this
judgment to balance the advantages and disadvantages of different survey types. In
the decision process, the researcher asked a number of questions that guided this

decision (see Chapter 6: Section 6.4.1).

The populations in this study have been divided into two categories: the entire
(71) listed Saudi joint stock companies and 400 randomly selected shareholders. The
subjects have also been classified into four groups: board members; chief executive

officer CEQ; audit committee members; and shareholders.

All questions in this instrument were constructed according to the Five-Point
Likert Scale with a value of 1 indicating that the respondent strongly disagrees with a
factor or statement and the highest number, 5, indicating that the respondent strongly
agrees with a factor or statement based on the actual practice. The use of the
standardised questions in this study allowed the findings from a number of
respondents to be summarised, and this was also facilitated by the use of questions,
which are amenable to numerical analysis such as rating scales. The Likert scale
allows the respondent to choose one of five degrees of feeling about a statement from
strong approval to strong disapproval. The questions were in the form of statements
that seemed either definitely favourable or definitely unfavourable toward the matter

under consideration.

The questionnaire has been divided into four parts, namely: shareholder rights,
board of directors, audit committee and internal audit and disclosure and
transparency, preceded by some short demographic (general) questions in order to
provide sufficient motivation for the respondents to complete and to reduce the
possibility of boredom which might induce the respondent to give up. The
demographic questions have also been used in this questionnaire to break down the

data when the survey was complete.

The pilot test was conducted to assure the clarity and effectiveness of the

survey questions and to test the reliability and validity in order to revise the survey
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prior to final administration. To determine the effectiveness of the present survey
questionnaire, the author pre-tested it before actually using it. The pilot test helped to
determine the strengths and weaknesses of the survey concerning question format,

sequence, wording, order, layout, validity, reliability and other matters.

Validity and reliability, the two major issues that a researcher must take into
consideration when he or she uses a data gathering or measurement instrument, have
been checked. The validity determines whether the research truly measures that which
it was intended to measure or how truthful the research results are. In other words,
does the research instrument allow the researcher to hit "the bull’s eye" of the
research objective. Reliability, on the other hand, is concerned with the accuracy and

precision of a measurement procedure.
1.5. LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The study has several limitations that should be taken into consideration at all
levels of the research and analysis. First, the study was intended to evaluate the
effectiveness of corporate governance in the Saudi joint stock corporations based on
four mechanisms of corporate governance, namely: shareholders’ rights, board of
directors, audit committees and internal audit and disclosure and transparency. Other
mechanisms that may be related to the effectiveness of corporate governance were not

considered.

Second, the study focuses on the effectiveness of corporate governance of
Saudi joint stock corporations. It does not deal with proprietorships, partnerships and

close-held companies.

Third, the survey questionnaire reflects only the views, experiences and
opinions of the targeted groups (board of directors, chief executive officers, audit
committee members and shareholders) in Saudi joint stock corporations, which were

restricted by the choice of questions used.

Fourth, the ANOVA test was based on an overall mean of a number of
variables used for each corporate governance mechanism. Hence, the researcher is

treating each variable as being of equal importance which might be debatable.
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Fifth, any generalisation derived from the study’s results is restricted to Saudi
Arabia; cultural differences, social, accounting, corporate governance and investment

environment distinctiveness from other countries may prevent wider generalisations.

Sixth, although tests for non-response bias were carried out using firm
characteristics of industry and category of respondent and using late responses as a
proxy for non-responses, the research lacks some other explicit controls for responder
bias such as ‘social desirability response bias’. Finally, other difficulties encountered

in the study will be noted throughout the remaining chapters.
1.5. OUTLINE OF THE REMIANING CHAPTERS

This thesis is organized into nine chapters. The present chapter provides a
background of the study, the objectives, research methodology and limitations of the

study.

Chapter 2 provides an overview to corporate governance, including: definition
of corporate governance, who sets corporate governance; the trends in corporate
governance in a number of developed and developing countries, with emphasis that
corporate governance of a particular country reflects its history, culture, regulatory

structures and capital market characteristics.

Chapter 3 provides a background on the Saudi Arabian economy and
development of corporate governance in the country by: discussing the development
of the Saudi economy, highlighting the country’s constitution, legislation and five-
year development plans; providing some important facts relating to the Saudi Arabian
oil and non-oil economy; clarifying that Saudi Arabian corporate governance is
governed by four bodies: the Ministry of Commerce, the Saudi Arabian Monetary
Agency (SAMA), the Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) and some professional

bodies; and explaining how Islam effects corporate governance in Saudi.

Chapter 4 investigates four mechanisms for effective corporate governance in
Saudi Arabia. The chapter starts by developing a “four-legged chair” model that
supports responsible, reliable, fair, accountable and transparent corporate governance

system. Shareholders, board of directors, audit committees and disclosure and
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transparency are the four legs of the chair, supporting the one top goal of producing

an effective corporate governance system in a firm.

Chapter 5 provides an overview of the theories, hypotheses and the literature
that have been conducted in the field of corporate governance. The author relies on
two related theories: the no one size fits all theory and the agency theory. The chapter

finally introduces the hypotheses involved with this research.

Chapter 6 focuses on the methodology used to examine the effectiveness of
corporate governance in Saudi Arabia. The chapter starts by providing different types
of research methodologies and then concludes that the written survey method was the
most appropriate methodology to be used in this study. Some characteristics, rules,
ethics, strengths and weaknesses of survey research methodology were also discussed.
The chapter is then divided into six major sub-sections, each of which discusses a

different major step in administering the survey methodology used in this thesis.

The results of the study are detailed in Chapters 7 and 8. The analysis in the
seventh chapter concentrates on the exploratory data analysis focusing on univariate
and bivariate data analyses. The author looks at four main groups of techniques when
considering the exploratory data analysis approach, which are frequencies, cross-
tabulation, measuring location (central tendency) and measuring dispersion (spread).
Chapter 8 relates to the hypotheses testing which could be referred to the second type

of analysis, the confirmatory data analysis.

Chapter 9 presents a brief summary of the overall study and highlights its
findings. Furthermore, a number of recommendations and suggestions for further

research are provided.
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CHAPTER TWO:

CORPORATE GOVENANCE OVERVIEW

2.1. INTRODUCTION

In our new millennium, the world is experiencing an unprecedented
transition. The winds of sweeping changes have been reshaping the world
politics, economies, environment, culture, and many other aspects. The end of the
Cold War and the ensuing proliferation of the market economy, the resurgence of
the world economic prowess, the economic conglomeration of Europe, the rise,
fall and recovery of some economies, the rapid advancement in technology and
the explosion of e-commerce are some of the highlighted events the world has
been witnessing over recent decades. One of the significant implications of all
these changes is that they pose a big challenge to business enterprises, particularly
for those in developing countries and large global corporations that operate
beyond national borders and play multiple functions with increasing power and
influence. (Vernon, 1971; Ohmae, 1990; Korten, 1996; Karliner, 1997; Morss,
1997; and Clarke, 1998).

Monks and Minow (1995) defined a corporation as a mechanism
established to allow different parties to contribute capital and expertise, for the
maximum benefit of all of them. Oliver et al. (2003) suggested that corporations
be governed by a system of checks and balances to make sure that their actions do

not incur losses to the shareholders and stakeholders.

Corporations exist in different cultures with different norms and standards.
It is therefore critical to recognize that managers, employees, business partners
and other corporate stakeholders make decisions and choices that draw upon their
cultural background and identity-group perspectives (Thomas and Ely 1996). The
corporate governance of a particular country reflects its history, culture,

regulatory structures and capital market characteristics (Keong, 2002). As a Saudi
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academic, this thesis will be about a system by which companies are directed,

controlled and operate in Saudi Arabia.

In this chapter, an overview of corporate governance is carried out
including: definition of corporate governance; who sets corporate governance;
and the trends in corporate governance in a number of developed and developing

countries.
2.2. DEFINITION

The etymology of “governance” comes from the Latin words gubernare
and gubernator, which refer to steering a ship and to the steerer or captain of a
ship. The word “governance” comes from the old French “gouvernance” and

means control and the state of being governed (Farrar, 2001).

Corporate governance has succeeded in attracting a good deal of public
interest because of its importance for the economic health of corporations and the
welfare of society, in general. However, the concept of corporate governance is
defined in several ways because it potentially covers many activities having direct
or indirect influence on the financial health of corporate entities. As a result,
different people and organizations have presented different definitions, which

basically reflect their special interests in the field.

Milton Friedman (2002), an economist and Noble laureate, said that
corporate governance is to conduct the business in accordance with owners or
shareholders’ desires, which generally will be to make as much money as
possible, while conforming to the basic rules of the society embodied in law and
local customs. This definition is based on the concept of market value

maximization that underpins shareholder capitalism.

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)
(1999) defined corporate governance as the system by which business
corporations are directed and controlled. According to them the corporate
governance structure specifies the distribution of rights and responsibilities

among different participants in the corporation, and spells out the rules and

Chapter Two: Corporate Governance Overview 13



procedures for making decisions on corporate affairs. By doing this, it provides
the structure through which the company objectives are set, and also provides the

means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance.

The World Bank (1999) defined corporate governance from two different
perspectives. From the standpoint of a corporation the emphasis is put on the
relationships between the owners, management board and other stakeholders (the
employees, customers, suppliers, investors and communities). Major significance
in corporate governance is given to the board of directors and its ability to attain
long-term, sustained value by balancing these interests. From a public policy
perspective, corporate governance refers to providing for the survival, growth and
development of the company, and at the same time its accountability in the
exercise of power and control over companies. The role of public policy is to
discipline companies and, at the same time, to stimulate them to minimize

differences between private and social interests (World Bank, 1999).

Monks and Minow (2001: p.1) defined corporate governance

(Corporate governance) is the relationship among various participants in
determining the direction and performance of corporations. The primary participants are (1)

the shareholders, (2) the management, and (3) the board of directors.

An article published in the June 21, 1999 issue of the Financial Times
quoted J. Wolfensohn, President of the World Bank, as saying that “Corporate
Governance is about promoting corporate fairness, transparency and

accountability”.

According to some other authors, corporate governance means doing
everything better, improving the relationships between companies and their
shareholders, improving the quality of outside directors, encouraging people to
think long-term, ensuring that the information needs of all stakeholders are met
and ensuring that executive management is monitored properly (Monks and

Minow 2001; Keong, 2002; Chambers 2002; and Charkham 1995).
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Gregory (2001) in her very-well-done comparison study entitled,
“International Comparison of Corporate Governance Guidelines and Codes of

Best Practice: Developed Markets,” described corporate governance as,

“Corporate Governance refers to that blend of law, regulation, and appropriate
voluntary private-sector practices which enables the corporation to attract financial and
human capital, perform efficiently, and thereby perpetuate itself by generating long-term
economic value for its shareholders, while respecting the interests of stakeholders and

society as a whole” (Gregory, 2001, pp. i).

According to Olin (2001) corporate governance is a broad term that
encompasses rules and market practices that determine how companies make
decisions, the transparency of their decision-making processes, the accountability
of their directors, managers and employees, the information they disclose to
investors and the protection of minority shareholders. From the author’s point of
view, corporate governance can be defined as the set of rules and incentives by
which the management of a company is directed and controlled in order to

maximize the profitability and long-term value of the firm.

In Saudi Arabia, the contractual governance of management behavior, as
one example, is necessarily incomplete and direct monitoring will be under-
provided (Al-tweejri, 2002). Hence, management is in the position to seize
residual control rights and may appropriate the shareholders’ investment returns.
If left unregulated, shareholders will under-provide finance and companies will
not be able to take advantage of all value enhancing investment opportunities.
Thus the codification of corporate governance into national law or codes of best
practice in Saudi Arabia becomes a necessary and effective means of alleviating

under-investment and limiting the implied agency costs.
2.3. CODES OF GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Codes of good corporate governance present a comprehensive set of
norms on the role and composition of the board of directors, relationships with
shareholders and top management, auditing and information disclosure, as well as
the selection, remuneration and dismissal of directors and top managers. The

codes serve to improve the overall corporate governance of corporations,
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especially when legal environments fail to ensure adequate protection of

shareholders’ rights (OECD, 1999; Aguilera et al., 2000; Keong, 2002).

An important factor affecting the issuance of the codes is the issuer
(Sullivan, 2000). Issuers can be stock exchanges, governments, director
associations, manager associations, professional associations or investors.
Differences in who issues the code denote differences in the enforcement of the
codes. For instance, government and stock market issuers might exert coercive
pressure for the adoption of the codes of good governance, whereas associations

and investors might apply normative pressures for adoption (Sullivan, 2000).
2.3.1. Who sets the codes of corporate governance?

The majority of countries adopting corporate governance rules more or
less follow the standards and guidelines of corporate governance set by three
international organizations: the Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development Principles of Corporate Governance (OECD), the World Bank and
the International Monetary Fund (IMF).

2.3.1.1. The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD)

In 1998, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD) established an Ad-Hoc Task Force on Corporate Governance to develop
a set of non-binding core principles on corporate governance that reflected the
views of its 30 member countries.' The Task Force concluded its work in April
1999. The Principles and associated recommendations were subsequently
approved by the OECD and endorsed by ministerial level representatives of

member nations at their annual meeting on May 26 and 27, 1999.

The OECD principles of corporate governance are general guidelines for

regulating the entity (Fremond et al., 2002). According to the OECD Task Force

' Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany,
Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, Netherlands, New
Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland. Turkey, United
Kingdom, and the United States
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that drafted them, the Principles were devised with four fundamental concepts in
mind: responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency. The OECD
principles are primarily concerned with listed companies. They are organized into
five sections, (I) the rights of shareholders, (II) the equitable treatment of
shareholders, (III) the role of shareholders in corporate governance, (IV)

disclosure and transparency and (V) the responsibilities of the board (OECD,
1999).

2.3.1.1.1. The Rights of Shareholders

The rules emphasize that shareholders have secure ownership, the right to
full disclosure of information, voting rights and participation in decisions
concerning fundamental corporate changes such as the sale or modification of
corporate assets including mergers and new share issues. Markets for corporate
control should be efficient and transparent and shareholders should consider the

costs and benefits of exercising their voting rights (OECD, 1999).
2.3.1.1.11. The Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

“All shareholders of the same class should be treated equally” (OECD,
1999: p.19), including minority and foreign shareholders and should have the
opportunity to obtain effective redress for violation of their rights. This principle
emphasizes the protection of minority and foreign shareholders rights with full
disclosure of material information. It ensures the setting up of systems that keep
insiders, including managers and directors, from taking advantage of their roles,
insider trading is prohibited and members of the board and managers should be

required to disclose any material interest in transactions (OECD, 1999).
2.3.1.1.I11. The Role of Stakeholders in Corporate Governance

In addition to the shareholders, the OECD also recognizes the right of
stakeholders. The principles stress that stakeholders (in particular creditors,
employees and consumers) play an integral part in shaping the decisions of a

company. Principle III states that,
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...the corporate governance framework should encourage active co-operation
between corporations and stakeholders in creating wealth, jobs and the sustainability of

financially sound enterprises (OECD 1999: p. 35).

Employees are usually the important stakeholders that determine how
companies perform and take decisions. Thus the corporate governance framework
must ensure that the rights of stakeholders are protected by law and respected.
Stakeholders participating in the corporate governance process should have access

to relevant information (OECD, 1999).
2.3.1.1.1V. Disclosure and Transparency

The OECD principles ensure that “...timely and accurate disclosure is
made on all material matters regarding the corporation, including the financial
situation, performance, ownership and governance of the company” (OECD,
1999: p.21) including board of directors and their remuneration. The guidelines
also specify that annual audits should be performed by independent auditors in
accordance with high quality standards of accounting, financial and non-financial
disclosure. Channels for disseminating information should provide fair, timely

and cost efficient access to relevant information by users (OECD, 1999).

2.3.1.1.V. The Responsibilities of the Board

The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the
company, the effective monitoring of management by the Board, and the Board’s

accountability to the company, shareholders and stakeholders (OECD, 1999: p. 22).

These include concerns about corporate strategy, risk, executive
compensation and performance, as well as accounting and reporting systems.
Board members should act on a fully informed basis, in good faith, with due
diligence and in the best interests of the company and its shareholders. The Board
should also ensure compliance with applicable laws and take into account the
interests of the stakeholders. Finally, the Board should be able to make objective

judgments on corporate affairs, independent from management (OECD, 1999).

The OECD principles are not binding. Their purpose is to serve as a

reference point. They are evolutionary in nature and should be reviewed in light
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of significant changes in circumstances (OECD, 1999). The Principles are
primarily intended to provide assistance to governments as they pursue their own
efforts to evaluate and improve the legal, institutional and regulatory framework
that affects corporate governance. They also provide guidance and direction for
stock exchanges, investors, corporations and other parties that have a role in

developing good corporate governance.

The OECD Principles were based on different views from a number of
various developed countries. Thus, they represent a basic consensus on corporate
governance requirements and describe existing rules, rather than propose radical
changes. As a result, the OECD Principles are an excellent starting point for the
examination of a sound framework in emerging countries. The principles mainly
focus on publicly traded companies. However, to the extent they are deemed
applicable, they may be also useful for non-traded companies, such as privately
held and state-owned enterprises. In brief, the OECD Principles emphasize that
good corporate governance can be achieved through a combination of regulatory

and voluntary private actions.
2.3.1.2. The World Bank

The Financial Stability Forum, the G7 (Canada, France, Germany, Italy,
Japan, UK and USA)Z, the G20 (G7 plus Argentina, Australia, Brazil, China,
India, Indonesia, Korea, Mexico, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Turkey and
EU)3 and the G22 (G7 plus Argentina, Australia, Brazil, China, Hong Kong SAR,
India, Indonesia, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, Poland, Russia, Singapore, South
Africa and Thailand) have emphasized the role of minimum standards and codes

in strengthening international corporate governance.

At the international level, standards enhance the transparency, identify
weaknesses that may contribute to economic and financial vulnerability and foster
market efficiency and discipline. At the national level, standards provide a

benchmark to identify vulnerabilities and guide policy reform. To serve best these

* Russia joined as full participant in 1998, which marked the establishment of the Group of Eight
(G-8).

* G20 was formally established at the G-7 Finance Ministers' meeting on September 26, 1999
(www.g20.0rg).

Chapter Two: Corporate Governance Overview 19


http://www.g20.org

two objectives, the scope and application of such standards need to be assessed in
the context of a country's overall development strategy and tailored to individual

country circumstances (Fremond et al., 2002).

The World Bank has always encouraged developing countries to adopt
international best practices and implement legal and regulatory reforms. It is not
in the business of setting standards or creating codes, rather it gives necessary

support on national, regional and global levels (Iskander et al., 1999).

At the national level, the World Bank has supported a series of country
self-assessments that identify strengths and weaknesses in corporate governance
that helped countries to establish priorities. The objective of the assessments is to
strengthen regulatory reform and enforcement while fostering private voluntary
actions. This is consistent with the Bank’s comprehensive development
framework that emphasizes good corporate governance as a key factor in
development effectiveness. The framework stresses the importance of the private
sector (local and foreign), as a major player in the development process. It also
calls for the participation of stakeholders in the design and implementation of a

comprehensive reform strategy (Iskander et al., 1999).

At the national level, the World Bank has co-sponsored with other
multinational agencies (e.g., OECD) a series of round-tables addressing
government officials, legislators, regulators, local and foreign firms, investors and
rating agencies to help craft a consensus for reform. The World Bank has worked
closely with the OECD to broaden the corporate governance beyond OECD
countries (Iskander et al., 1999).

2.3.1.2.1. The Report on Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSC)

The corporate governance team of the Private Sector Advisory Services
Department (PSAS) after consultations with a number of emerging market
governments uses the OECD Principles as the benchmark in the assessment
process. The OECD Principles were agreed upon by a large number of countries
(30) of varied legal, economic and cultural traditions and after extensive

consultation with the World Bank, the IMF and representatives of the business
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community from Japan, Germany, France, UK and the US, as well as
international investors, trade unions and other interested parties. As such, they
represent the minimum standard that countries with different traditions could

agree upon, without being unduly prescriptive.

To assess countries, the World Bank has produced a questionnaire in the
form of a template. It is structured along the five chapters of the OECD
Principles. The objective of having the template is to facilitate the gathering of
information necessary to formulate a diagnostic of the institutional framework
underlying corporate governance, as well as prevailing practices and enforcement.
For each OECD Principle, a set of questions has been prepared to assess the
compliance of the country under assessment. Most of the questions could be

answered in “yes” or “no”, to allow benchmarking (Fremond et al., 2002).

The template includes a section on the ownership structure of the assessed
country because this is an important determinant of corporate governance
practices. It endeavors to identify pyramid structures, cross-shareholdings and
business groups and gathers information on the divergence between cash flow
rights and voting rights. While the OECD Principles are mainly concerned with
the rights of shareholders and stakeholders, disclosure and the responsibilities of
insiders, the template also addresses the issue of institutional capacity (Fremond

etal.,, 2002).

The format of the assessments allows for systematic benchmarking across
countries and regions. It is divided into four parts: (i) executive summary; (ii)
capital market overview and institutional framework; (iii) principle by principle

review including policy recommendations; and (iv) institutional strengthening.
2.3.1.2.2. Insolvency and transparency in codes of corporate governance

The World Bank has emphasized the inclusion of insolvency and creditors

rights besides transparency in codes/rules of corporate governance.
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2.3.1.2.2.1. Insolvency and creditors rights

In an effort to improve the stability of the international financial system
after the South East Asian Crisis, the World Bank led an initiative to identify
principles and guidelines for meaningful insolvency systems and for the

strengthening of related debtor-creditor rights in emerging markets.

Insolvency systems provide a pre-determined set of rules and institutions
concerned with the recognition of insolvency, the resultant liquidation or
rehabilitation of the insolvent firm and the allocation of the financial
consequences between the stakeholders. The insolvency systems also permit
lenders to price risk more accurately and encourage cash flow lending rather than
relationship or politically directed lending and discipline managers to allocate

scarce resources efficiently.
2.3.1.2.2.2. Transparency in accounting and auditing systems

In order to have transparent, timely and reliable corporate financial
reporting and as part of the Reports on the Observance of Standards and Codes
(ROSC) initiative, the World Bank is undertaking reviews of compliance with
accounting and auditing standards in a number of countries. It is intended to
provide a basis for comparing practice in the countries reviewed to both national
and international accounting and auditing standards which, in turn, will facilitate
cross-country comparison and the design of programs to strengthen corporate
financial reporting. More specifically, the objectives of the review are to assess
the comparability of national accounting and auditing standards with International
Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Standards on Auditing (ISA),
respectively; and the degree to which corporate entities comply with established

accounting and auditing standards in the country.

Furthermore, the International Finance Corporation (IFC), being a member
of the World Bank Group, has also promoted better corporate governance by
requiring that the firms in which it invests, practise sound corporate governance
and insist on proper internal controls and reporting. This applies particularly on

developing stock and bond markets (Iskander et al., 1999).
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2.3.1.3. International Monetary Fund (IMF)

The IMF is an international organization of 184 member countries. It was
established in 1945 to promote international monetary cooperation, exchange
stability, and orderly exchange arrangements; to foster economic growth and high
levels of employment; and to provide temporary financial assistance to countries

to help ease balance of payments adjustment (IMF).

In addition to the IMF’s contribution in the Report on Observance of
Standards and Codes (ROSC) of the World Bank, the IMF has developed codes of
good practice mainly for the transparency of governments’ fiscal and monetary

policies.
2.3.1.3.1. Greater Fiscal Transparency

The IMF is encouraging its member countries to implement a Code of
Good Practices on Fiscal Transparency. The Code stresses: responsibilities of
government should be clear; information on government activities should be
provided to the public; budget preparation, execution and reporting should be
undertaken in an open manner; and fiscal information should attain widely
accepted standards of quality and be subject to independent assurances of
integrity. The Code sets out what governments should do to meet these objectives

in terms of principles and practices.

The Code of Good Practices on Fiscal Transparency is based on four

general principles:

a Clarity of Roles and Responsibilities. The government sector and/or its public
sector agencies should be distinguished from the rest of the economy. Policy
and management roles within the public sector should be clear and publicly
disclosed. There should be a clear legal and administrative framework for

fiscal management.

Q Public Availability of Information. The public should be provided with full

information on the past, current and projected fiscal activity of the
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government. A commitment should be made to the timely publication of fiscal

information.

Q0 Open Budget Processes. The budget documentation should specify fiscal
policy objectives, macroeconomic framework and policy basis for the budget
as well as identifiable major fiscal risks. Budget information should be
presented in a way that facilitates policy analysis and promotes accountability.
Procedures for the execution and monitoring of approved expenditure and for
collecting revenues should be clearly specified. There should be regular fiscal

reporting to the legislature and the public.

a Assurance of integrity. Fiscal data should meet accepted data quality standards
and fiscal information should be subjected to independent scrutiny. There
should be mechanisms in place which provide assurances to the public about

data integrity.

2.3.1.3.2. Code of Good Practices on Transparency in Monetary and

Financial Policies

The IMF has developed a Code of Good Practices on Transparency in
Monetary and Financial Policies. The design of good transparency practices in the
Code rests on two principles. First, monetary and financial policies can be made
more effective if the public knows the goals and instruments of policy and if the
authorities make a commitment to meeting them. Also good governance calls for
central banks and financial agencies to be accountable, particularly where the

monetary and financial authorities are granted a high degree of autonomy.

The Code was developed in the context of the development of standards
and codes for public disclosure and transparency practices designed to strengthen
the international monetary and financial system. It calls for greater transparency

of commercial banks, securities firms, insurance firms, central banks etc.

An increasing number of countries are taking the next step of participating
in a fiscal module of a Report on Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSC),
which the IMF and the World Bank have developed as a means of assessing the
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extent to which countries meet the requirements of standards and codes in core
areas and providing information to the public. Fiscal ROSCs comprise a summary
description of practices prepared by the IMF staff based on the completed
questionnaire, together with a staff commentary including recommendations for
improvement. When fiscal ROSCs become out of date, a ROSC reassessment will

be done to replace the original ROSC.

As of March 2003, 48 ROSC fiscal transparency modules have been
published on the IMF website, and 11 have published updates. Around 20 new or
revised fiscal transparency ROSCs are planned for each year (IMF, 2003).

2.4. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE WORLD WIDE

In the late 1990’s, the issue of corporate governance has received more
global attention than it would have in the light of a series of corporate failures
(Iskander et al., 1999). Furthermore, the recent crises and bankruptcies faced by
various firms in different countries, including East Asia, Russia, United States,

United Kingdom, Australia and others raises a question: what went wrong?

Those failures, amongst others, have shown that a lack of regard for core
values of corporate governance does have a negative impact globally. Countries,
markets and companies that have not been able to survive or that have fared badly

in a crisis have one thing in common: poor corporate governance standards

(Keong, 2002).

Over the last decade a number of reports has been commissioned into the
subject of corporate governance and as a result a number of codes of best practice
has emerged. The purpose of these codes of best practice is to increase
transparency and accountability in the manner in which companies are governed.
By 2004, thirty-seven countries had issued codes of good governance (Appendix
5). This excludes other developed and emerging countries that are in the process
of issuing their Code of Good Practice for Corporate Governance. A complete list
of these countries can be found at the World Bank, OECD, and European

Corporate Governance Networks.
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Since this is the first empirical study investigating corporate governance in
Saudi Arabia, it will provide a comparative analysis of corporate governance, as
an issue of concern in some developed and developing countries. It will provide a
general perspective of what the trend has been in the last two decades in order to
benefit from those countries in the development of the Saudi’s corporate
governance rules and codes of good governance practice. Six countries have been
identified and classified into three groups based on the state of development of
their corporate governance, similarities of their economic environment to that of
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the possibility of Saudi Arabia benefiting from

their established organizations. The three groups are as follows:

v" The United States of America and United Kingdom;
v" France and Germany; and

v" Korea and Malaysia.
2.4.1. The United States of America

In the United States of America each company is incorporated under the
laws and jurisdiction of one of the states. Expectations and requirements of

companies vary from state to state (Tricker, 1984).

Between 1880 and 1930, the United States experienced a ‘corporate
revolution’ and the ‘outsider/arms-length’ system of ownership took shape as part
of this process (Means, 1962). According to Bishop (1994), corporate governance
in the USA has its roots in the public stock markets of the late 19" century.
American shares are mostly owned by individuals. These individuals typically
hold a tiny slice of the equity of a firm which gave them little incentive to incur
the costs of monitoring managements. Throughout the 19™ century, there were
isolated examples of companies with widely dispersed shareholdings and well-
developed management. Industrial enterprises almost invariably were privately
held with family control being very much the norm (Lamoreaux, 1955).
Lamoreaux added that a merger wave that peaked at the turn of the 20" century
heralded a distinct change in approach. The mergers were often financed in part
by public offerings of shares which served to disperse share ownership among a

wide range of investors. The process of consolidation thereby created situations

Chapter Two: Corporate Governance Overview 26



where those making managerial decisions did not own a substantial shareholding

block (Lamoreaux, 1955).

Change was also evident in large companies that remained family-
dominated. By the end of World War I, family members were typically working
closely with salaried executives rather than attempting to manage their own
businesses (Chandler, 1990). Despite the trends affecting US business enterprises,
the family did not disappear completely from the corporate landscape. In the mid
1990’s in over one -fifth of America’s largest one thousand public companies, the
founding family retained significant influence (Cheffins, 2001). Nevertheless, in
“The Modern Corporation and Private Property,” it was mentioned that while the
law treated shareholders as a company’s owners, delegation of managerial
authority to professionally trained executives was common practice and there was

true “separation of ownership and control” (Berle and Means, 1932).

The first code of good governance in the United States appeared in the late
1970’s. It denoted the transition from the conglomerate merger movement of the
1960s to empire-building behavior by management through hostile takeovers

(Aguilera, 2003).

In the context of charges and counter charges surrounding the takeover
movement, the Business Roundtable (BRT) issued a report in January 1978
entitled: “The Role and Composition of the Board of Directors of the Large
Publicly Owned Corporation”. The Business Roundtable Report chaired by
Austin, CEO of Coca-Cola, turned out to be a claim for the legitimacy of private
power and the enforcement of accountability. The Report stated that the directors’
main duties are: overseeing the management and board selection and succession;
reviewing the Codes of Good Governance Worldwide, the company’s financial
performance and allocating its funds; overseeing corporate social responsibility

and ensuring compliance with the law (Charkham, 1995).

In the U.S., when an investor is unhappy with the manner in which
management deals with the business of the company, he/she dumps his/her shares.
This is called the "Wall Street Walk". Results from a poll in /nvestor’s Business

Daily found that only one in 13 Americans have high confidence in the honesty
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and integrity of corporate chief executives and chief financial officers (Investor’s

Business Daily, May 12, 2003).

In the United States and other developed markets, the main methods of
solving agency problems are the legal protection of minority investors, the use of
Boards of directors as monitors of senior management and an active market for
corporate control, “takeovers.” The strength of these methods is determined by
securities regulations, corporate laws, charter provisions, etc. However, the recent
corporate failures of Enron, WorldCom, Global Crossing, Adelphia, Qwest, etc.
have obviously shown that sometimes rules, laws, market discipline and use of

Boards can all fail, if not effectively and properly implemented.

Rules, regulations, laws and provisions are set to define the power of
corporate governance. Firms, in turn, have wide latitude in setting the rules for
shareholder voting and the election of Board of directors, duties and
responsibilities of Board of directors, the effectiveness of Boards, etc. If they
choose, managers can use this leeway to make it more difficult for shareholders to

exercise any influence or control (Stein, 1988).

According to Bhide (1994) and Bishop (1994), the USA regulatory model
for protecting investors is the most comprehensive and well enforced in the world.
The origins of the system can be traced to the extensive losses suffered by the
public during the crash of 1929. Responding to the outrage of voters, Congress
passed the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and created the Securities Exchange

Commission to regulate the stock exchanges conduct.

Over the years, Congress has also sought to protect investors by regulating
the financial institutions that manage funds. For example, the Investment
Company Act 1940, which followed the collapse of Investment Trusts, set
minimum levels of diversification for mutual funds and precluded them from

holding more than 10 per cent of a company’s stock.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (2002) ‘the Act’, which became law on July
2002, included several corporate governance related provisions, along with new

corporate disclosure requirements and auditor regulatory and securities law
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enforcement measures (John et al, 2002). Most of the provisions related to board
structure and function required for implementation the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) rule-making, which has for the most part now been
completed. However, certain important provisions relating to audit committees
are to be effectuated through the self-regulatory process of stock market listing

standards (mandated by new “national market system” provisions) (John et al,

2002; and Antin et al, 2002).

The New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) has submitted to the Securities
Exchange Commission (SEC) (initially on August 16, 2002 and amended on
October 7, 2002 and March 12 and April 4, 2003) proposed listing requirements
which create a wide-ranging set of corporate governance standards,
supplementing the standards it had already established (which related primarily to
audit committees and shareholder approval requirements) (John et al, 2002). They
include provisions intended to satisfy the requirements regarding audit
committees mandated by the Act. As proposed, listed companies will be required
as a general rule to comply with many of these requirements within six months
following the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) approval of the
proposed requirements but will not be required to comply with the new
requirements regarding board and committee composition until 18 months after

SEC approval (subject to extension of this deadline in certain circumstances)

(Antin et al., 2002).

The NASDAQ Stock Market (Nasdaq) has also submitted to the SEC
(initially on October 9, 2002 and amended on March 11, 2003) more than 25 new
corporate governance requirements for listing, supplementing its pre-existing
listing standards (which also related primarily to audit committees and
shareholder approval requirements). Generally, they cover the same subjects as
the NYSE proposals and they include provisions intended to satisfy the
requirements  regarding audit committees mandated by the Act

(PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2003).
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2.4.1.1. Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association College Retirement

Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF)

The Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association College Retirement
Equities Fund TIAA-CREF (2000) believed certain principles were the
benchmark of an equitable and efficient corporate governance structure.
According to TIAA-CREF (2000), good corporate governance must be expected
to maintain an appropriate balance between the rights of shareholders, the owners
of the corporation, and the need of the board and management to direct and

manage the corporation's affairs free from non-strategic short-term influences.

TIAA-CREF (2000) believed that good governance practices are
important to encourage investments in countries and companies in a global
economy where gaining access to capital markets is increasingly seen to be very
competitive. As a consequence, there are now accepted principles of global
corporate governance, such as those employed by the OECD, the IMF and the
World Bank. These principles recognize that not every country needs to adopt a
"one-size-fits-all" code of practice. Therefore, the TIAA-CREF believed that
shareholders might reasonably expect country and company practice to include

the following characteristics in their developments of good practice (TIAA-
CREF, 2000).

* Appropriate structures of accountability of the company to its owners.

* Independent oversight of managers and accounts (including independent
audits of financial statements based on high quality accounting principles).

* Fair and equitable treatment for all shareholders (an issue that can be
particularly relevant when there is a controlling shareholder).

* Fair voting processes that in practice assure disclosure of all facts material
to each vote being taken, and that enable shareholders to exercise their
ownership rights in relation to their economic interest.

* Prohibition of insider trading and abusive insider trading.

* Open, efficient, and transparent markets for corporate control.

* Timely disclosure of financial and operating results of the company,
material developments and foreseeable risk factors, and matters related to

corporate governance. Disclosures related to corporate governance should
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include interested party transactions and any capital structures or
arrangements that enable certain shareholders to obtain control
disproportionate to their equity ownership; significant information about
board members and key executives, including their compensation; and
information describing governance structure and policies.

= Regulatory and legal recourse if principles of fair dealing are violated.
2.4.1.2. The California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS)

The CalPERS, America’s largest public pension fund managing assets of
more than US$143 billion (Carlson, 1998), was established in 1932 as a defined
benefit plan. A defined benefit plan is a retirement program that sets a benefit
calculated on a formula, often a percentage of final average pay, times years of

service based on retirement age.

The CalPERS began their corporate governance program in the early
1980’s, as a direct response to the takeover frenzy in corporate America. It began
simply as objections by a few share-owners to certain company actions that were
considered to be self-serving. Companies created anti-takeover devices and
procedural obstacles that were viewed more as protecting the corporate status quo

than serving the long-term interests of shareowners (Carlson, 1998).

The CalPERS strongly believes that each market throughout the world
should adopt corporate governance principles that are appropriate for that market.
Ideally, these principles should be developed by the market’s participants

themselves, through cooperative action and consensus (see CalPERS).

The CalPERS defined corporate governance to be the relationship among
valuable participants in determining the direction and performance of
corporations (Carlson, 1998). The primary participants are shareholders, company
management and the board of directors. The definition does not expressly mention
other stakeholder groups (the community, company employees, suppliers, and
customers). In CalPERS’ point of view, companies that operate with long-term

shareowner returns, as the primary goal, will ultimately also reward other

stakeholders.
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In late 1989, CalPERS began working closely with the US Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). This relationship led to the 1992 reform of
executive compensation disclosure and proxy solicitation reforms (Carlson,
1998). In early 1997, the CalPERS Investment Committee approved CalPERS'
Global Governance Principles. [n late 1999, the CalPERS Investment Committee

analysed other newer global governance principles (see CalPERS).

In March 1996, CalPERS’ Board formally adopted its International
Corporate Governance Program (Gillan, 1997). As the first step in implementing
this program, in December 1996 the Board adopted a set of Global Governance
Principles. The Principles focus on 6 basic concepts that are fundamental to free
and fair markets throughout the world (Gillan, 1997). Moreover, the Principles
reflect the core of what the corporate/shareholder relationship should be.
Specifically, the 6 Global Principles are: (i) accountability; (i1) transparency; (iii)
equity; (iv) voting method improvements; (v) code of best practices; and (vi)

long-term vision (CalPERS, 1999). Those principles (CalPERS, 1999) are:

* Directors should be accountable to shareholders, and management
accountable to directors. To ensure this accountability, directors must be
accessible to shareholder inquiry concerning their key decisions affecting the
company’s strategic direction.

* Information about companies must be readily transparent to permit accurate
market comparisons; this includes the notion of some globally accepted
minimum accounting standard.

* Investors — even minority and foreign investors — must be treated equitably
and upon the principle of one share/one vote.

* Proxy materials should be written in a manner designed to provide
shareholders with the information necessary to make informed voting
decisions. Similarly, proxy materials should be distributed in a manner
designed to encourage shareholder participation. All shareholder votes,
whether cast in person or by proxy, should be formally counted; vote

outcomes should be formally announced.
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» Each market should adopt its own Code of Best Practices; and, where such a
code is adopted , companies should disclose to their shareholders whether they
comply with it.

* Finally, CalPERS believes that corporate directors and management should
have a long-term strategic vision, which at its core emphasizes sustained
shareholder value. In turn, despite differing investment strategies and tactics,
shareholders should encourage corporate management to resist short-term

behavior by supporting and rewarding long-term superior returns.
Carlson (1998: p. 34) stated,

In my opinion, effective governance is essential to the healthy growth of
capitalism. The present system in the United States and internationally must continue
to change in order to survive in the dynamic capital markets of the world economy.
Our world cannot afford corporate owners who do not recognize themselves to be
responsible with the same tenacity and ingenuity they employ to assert their
shareowner rights. We are indeed at a critical, and exciting, place in the development

of corporate governance.

2.4.1.3. Blue Ribbon Commission on Director Professionalism (NACD
Report)

The Report of the National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD)
was issued in 1996 and then reissued in 2001. The NACD argues that governance
practices ought to be designed to promote a culture of “professionalism” for
boards of directors and board members. The NACD Report (2000) recognizes that
board practices are evolving and believes that they will continue to evolve in the
direction it suggests. The Report’s recommendations are purely voluntary

(Gregory, 2001; NACD, 2000).

The NACD (2000: p.1) Report stated,

A primary goal of the board, the CEO, and the audit committee is to create and
maintain an audit committee that adds value to the board and the corporation. To add
value, audit committees should oversee the organization’s reporting, control, and audit
processes. These tasks should be the essence of their purpose, the philosophy underlying

selection of their committee members, and the focus of their processes.
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2.4.1.3.1. The BRT Report

The Business Roundtable (BRT) released a revised “Principles of
Corporate Governance” in May 2002. The principles discussed in the Report are
intended to assist corporate management and boards of directors in their
individual efforts to implement best practices of corporate governance and also to

serve as guideposts for the public dialogue on evolving governance standards
(BRT, 2002).

The Business Roundtable (2002) supports the following guiding

principles.

* Boards of directors should select and oversee the CEO and other senior
management in the competent and ethical operation of the corporation on a
day-to-day basis.

* Managements should operate the corporation in an effective and ethical
manner in order to produce value for stockholders.

* Management is responsible for producing financial statements that fairly
present the financial condition and results of operations of the corporation,
and making timely disclosures to investors.

* Boards and their audit committees should engage an independent accounting
firm to audit the financial statements prepared by management and issue an
opinion on those statements based on Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles.

* [t is the responsibility of the independent accounting firm to ensure that it is,
in fact, independent, employs highly competent staff and carries out its work
in accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.

* The corporation has a responsibility to deal with its employees in a fair and

equitable manner.
2.4.1.4. Other Committees

Several Committees have been established in the US including the “Report
of the National Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting” (commonly

known as the Treadway Commission) strengthening the professionalization of the
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independent auditor (Treadway Commission, 1987), “Report to the Public
Oversight Board of the SEC Practice Section” (see Public Oversight Board), “The
Advisory Panel on Auditor Independence” (American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA), 1994) and the “Corporate Governance Rule Proposals
Reflecting Recommendations from the NYSE Corporate Accountability and
Listing Standards Committee” that was approved by the NYSE Board of
Directors in August 2002 (NYSE, 2002).

The US market is a notable example in terms of applying corporate
governance rules. According to the Nikkei Newspaper, June 15, 2003, about 36
Japanese corporations, as an example, adopted the US-style corporate governance
structures. The move toward US-style governance, allowed under amendments to
Japan’s Commercial Code in April 2003, involves establishing three committees —
audit, nominating and compensation. Many high profile international firms, such
as Sony Corp., Mitsubishi, Hitachi Ltd. and Toshiba Corp. have made the changes
to enhance their corporate image to overseas investors. Japanese firms who adopt
US governance systems do so to enhance earnings, transparency and oversight of
their operations by relying more on outside board members (Nikkei Newspaper,

June 15, 2003).

According to a report in the Financial Times, June 5, 2003, the United
States is continuing to up-date its corporate governance. The New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) in June 2003 adopted ten new rules that were being called the
exchange’s most sweeping governance up-date in 30 years. The rules were drafted
to bring the NYSE’s own governance practices in line with the requirements of its

2,500 listed companies (see NYSE).
2.4.2. United Kingdom

Tricker (1984) did a detailed historical study of the development of
corporate governance in the United Kingdom since the Industrial Revolution. In
his view, the evolution of the concept stems from the mid-nineteenth century, in
particular, from the Companies Acts of 1855 and 1862. The developments that led
to the corporate concept are threaded far back through the evolution of British

trade and industry: indeed back to mediaeval England with the importance of
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individualism, freedom and self-regulation, contrasting with the more prescriptive

rule of law in continental European countries.

Under British company law, each company is treated as an independent
legal entity, irrespective of ownership or the locus of decision-making. The
separation of ownership and control occurred later than it did in the US (Berle and
Means, 1932). It began in the final few years of the 19" century when the British
industrial and commercial firms first made a strong move towards public

ownership, as dozens carried out initial public offerings (Prais, 1976).

With many British public companies, the one who founded the firms
retained a sizeable percentage of the shares and played an important role in
corporate decision- making. A commitment to personal ways of management was,

therefore, perpetuated (Okochi et al., 1984).

Empirical studies of ownership and control patterns in the UK illustrate
that there was a relative decline in the importance of family control of business as
the 20" century progressed. Statistical data compiled in 1951 showed that there
was a clear divorce between control and ownership for very large companies and
that a “managerial evolution” was taking place (Florence, 1961). Florence said
that between 1936 and 1951, the number of “very large” industrial and
commercial companies that had an investor who controlled 20 percent or more of
the voting equity fell from one out of three to less than one out of five. By the
early 1960s, a number of firms Florence categorized as “owner-controlled” had
ceased to qualify for inclusion in the group and it may be that the progressive
erosion of family influence meant that by 1970 it would make little sense to talk

of British personal capitalism.

As of 1970, forty-four of the UK’s 100 largest manufacturing companies
were either “family companies” (thirty) or were controlled by a non-British parent
company (fourteen) (Channon, 1973). By the late 1980s, share ownership patterns
were in fact moving closer towards the dispersed pattern evident in the US (Scott,
1990) as noted in the ownership patterns of the 200 largest industrial companies

and the 50 largest financial businesses in the UK as of 1988.
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Scott (1990) attributed this shift primarily to the decline of family control
in UK companies. Clearly, then, by the time the 1980s drew to a close, “personal
capitalism and family ownership had been swept away” and Britain had moved to

a US-style corporate governance system with ownership separated from control.

The US and UK systems are characterized by active stock markets and the
separation of ownership and control with some regrouping of ownership interests
in the hands of institutional investors (Roe, 1994). There is a market for corporate
control and a preference for boards dominated by non-executive directors
(Whitman, 1999). The separation of ownership and control began after 1918 and
is more pronounced in the US and the UK than in other countries (Berle and
Means, 1932).

However, many significant companies in the United Kingdom remained
under family control for longer periods and there were delays in the development

of a professional managerial class (Cheffins, 1999).
2.4.2.1. The Cadbury Report 1992

The Cadbury Committee was set up in May 1991 by the Financial
Reporting Council, the London Stock Exchange and the accountancy profession
to address the financial aspects of corporate governance (Cadbury Report, 1992).
It was then followed by the Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate
Governance. The committee issued a draft report for public comment on 27 May
1992. Its final report, taking account of submissions made during the consultation
period and incorporating a Code of Best Practice was published on 1 December

1992 (Chambers 2002; Cadbury Report, 1992; and Gregory, 2001).

The Code of Best Practice is directed to the boards of directors of all listed
companies registered in the UK, and is enforced by a disclosure mechanism:
listed companies have to report on their implementation of the Code's
recommendations. The Stock Exchange and public opinion exercise pressure to

ensure optimal follow-up of the Code rules (Cadbury Report, 1992).
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The issuance of the Cadbury Committee Report in the United Kingdom
marked the importance of corporate governance in the UK. The Cadbury Report,
sometimes referred to as the Magna Carta of Corporate Governance (Gregory,
2001), which became very popular and widely accepted, deliberately challenged
the effectiveness of voluntary regulation and British corporate democracy (Stiles
et al., 1993). The recession in 1990 as well as a series of high-profile corporate
failures, in which the weakness of internal corporate control was clearly a
contributing factor, raised the issue of corporate accountability both in the public

mind and in the House of Commons (Monks et al., 1992).

The Cadbury Report was issued because of concern about the perceived
low level of confidence both in financial reporting and in the ability of auditors to
provide the safeguards, which the users of the company reports sought and
expected (Stiles et al., 1993; Charkham et al., 1999; and Cadbury Report, 1992).
It also emphasized the need for independent directors, larger shareholder
involvement, and the establishment of audit, compensation and nomination
committees (Charkham et al., 1999). Moreover, sanctions were introduced to

ensure that companies listed in the London Stock Exchange would comply with
the Code.

The Cadbury Report’s recommendations are highly codified, allowing
both companies and stakeholders to benchmark best practices, as well as to be
emulated by other agencies. The main principles of the Cadbury Report (Cadbury
Report, 1992) comprise the following.

* Shareholders have a right and an obligation to exercise responsibilities.
Owners should back management striving for long-term growth and intervene
when problems arise.

* Existing UK Codes of Best Practice should be strengthened not weakened.

* Periodic review and up-dating of best practice guidelines should continue and
reviewing bodies should include investors based outside the United Kingdom.

* The structure of the Board should be built upon the twin concepts of
independence from management and accountability to shareholders. The
following qualities are necessary to ensure a fully accountable and

independent board: a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer with the
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role of Chairman held by an independent director and a majority of
independent directors. The U.K. corporations should certainly comply with
Cadbury's recommendation that there be at least three non-executive directors
on a board and that a majority of those non-executives should be independent
directors. Key committees such as the audit, compensation and nomination
committees composed exclusively of independent directors. Appropriate
training for independent directors who face increased responsibilities
associated with monitoring key functions such as audits, executive
performance and compensation and corporate strategy. A properly focused
board with directors occupying no more than two seats on other boards if they
are employed full-time (i.e., a CEO at another company) or three if they are
not (i.e., a retired CEQO).

s Best practices in the UK should include several elements to strengthen
management accountability to corporate owners through the director-

shareholder relationship.

In May 1995, an implementation report was published, which indicated a
considerable degree of compliance by larger corporations. Later reports
complained about the administrative and others burdens resulting from the code,

especially for the smaller companies.

The Cadbury Report was eventually followed by the Greenbury
Commission Report (on director and executive remuneration), the Hampel
Commission Report and the Combined Code of the Committee on Corporate

Governance of the London Stock Exchange.
2.4.2.2. The Greenbury Report 1995

In 1995, a report was published by a Study Group into Directors’
Remuneration (known as the ‘Greenbury Report’). This report contained a code of
best practice for determining and disclosing the remuneration of company
directors. The Greenbury Code includes the following key recommendations

(Greenbury, 1995).
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» The compensation committee should be composed exclusively of independent
members.

* Companies should annually outline their compliance with the Greenbury
Code, including explanations if they do not comply.

* The annual compensation committee report should disclose pay details for all
executive directors, including pension provisions, incentive pay, option plans,
performance measurements, severance agreements and comparisons with
similar companies.

» Executive pay should not be "excessive."

* Employment contracts should extend for no longer than one year so as to rule
out multi-year golden handshake payouts in the event that an executive is
dismissed or the company taken over.

* New long-term incentive plans should replace, not supplement, existing stock
option plans.

* Performance-related pay should “align the interest of directors and
shareholders,” while performance criteria should be “relevant, stretching and
designed to enhance the business.” Upper limits should always be considered.

» Executive stock option awards should be phased rather than given all at once,

and options should never be awarded at a discount.

A distinctive feature of the British corporate governance system is that it
strongly resembles its counterpart in the United States. Both countries have well-
developed equity markets, with most major business enterprises being quoted on a
stock exchange and sharing an “outsider/arms-length” system of ownership and

control (Moerland, 1995).
2.4.2.3. The Hampel Report 1998

In January 1998 the Committee on Corporate Governance, which was
established to review the implementation of the Cadbury Report and to pursue any
relevant matters arising from the Greenbury Report, published its final report,

known as the “Hampel Report.”
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The Hampel Report (The Hampel Report, 1998: 7.3) noted,

We intend to produce a set of principles and code of good corporate governance
practice, which will embrace Cadbury and Greenbury and our own work. We shall pass this
to the London Stock Exchange. We suggest that the London Stock Exchange should

consult on this document, together with any proposed changes in the Listing Rules.

2.4.2.4. Other Committees

In mid 1998 the London Stock Exchange published a new code of
corporate governance best practice, which drew on the Cadbury, Greenbury and
Hampel Reports. This code became known as the ‘Combined Code’ (Combined
Code, 1998). In December 1999, the provisions of the Combined Code were
adopted by the Irish Stock Exchange, which annexed the Code to its Listing
Requirements. As a result, Irish listed companies are now required to report on
how they have applied the principles of the Combined Code or, where they have
not applied the principles, to justify any instances of non-compliance in their
annual reports (OECD, 2002). It is then a matter for shareholders and others to
evaluate such explanations. The Combined Code sets out Principles of Good
Governance under such headings as Directors, Directors’ Remuneration,
Relations with Shareholders, Accountability and Audit, Internal Control and
Audit Committees (OECD, 2002).

Following the publication of the Combined Code the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England & Wales (ICAEW) established a Committee charged
with the task of providing guidance to company directors on the implementation
of those principles of the Combined Code relating to internal control and risk
management (ICAEW). The Committee published its report, known as the
‘Turnbull Report’ in September 1999 (Turnbull Report, 1999).

As a result of a series of high profile corporate failures in the U.K. and the
U.S.A. in early 2002 (Enron, Worldcom etc.), the UK Government asked the UK
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) to develop further the guidance on audit
committees provided in the Combined Code (OECD, 2002). The FRC-appointed
committee reported in January 2003. The committee’s report sets out guidance to

assist the boards of companies required to comply with the Combined Code in
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making suitable arrangements for their audit committees. The report also includes
proposals for amendments to the Combined Code itself and includes a specimen
audit committee charter. In reading the report, readers should note that
compliance with the bold typeface content of the report is necessary in order to
comply with the provisions of the Combined Code. As with the provisions of the
Combined Code, non-compliance must be accompanied by an explanation as to

the reasons for non-compliance (see FRC).

In January 2003, the ‘Review of the Role and Effectiveness of Non-
Executive Directors’ (‘The Higgs Report’) was also published. This review was
commissioned by the UK Secretary of State for Trade and Industry and the
Chancellor. The report includes a number of recommended changes to the
Combined Code, including the insertion of additional material in relation to

company boards and non-executive directors (Higgs Report).
2.43. France

The move towards an increased focus on corporate governance by French
and German companies is a recent phenomenon (Whittington and Mayer 2000).
The use of the conglomerate form, the internal organization of the firm based on
the multi-divisional structure, and the diversification in many related and
unrelated business activities characterized companies in France at least until the
mid-1990s (Richter 1997; Whittington and Mayer 2000). This organizational
structure was broadly similar to its counterparts in the U.K. and the U.S.

(Chandler 1990).

With the increase of private companies, the opening of markets to
international investors, and a shortage of equity financing, France has engaged in
a vigorous debate about corporate governance over the past decade. Michel
Albert, former managing director of the French National Planning Office (1992),
lays the foundation for the French debate by arguing that any system of corporate
control is tied to social values. According to Albert, France has basically to
choose between the Rhine Model (Germany) and America’s freewheeling liberal

system. He concludes, not unsurprisingly, that France’s social and economic
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system is better suited to the German model. Implementing the German system in

France would require few structural or attitudinal changes (Brean et al., 2003).

Corporate governance in France has often been described as an
uncomfortable mixture of the American and German models (Brean et al., 2003).
Company presidents (président directeur-générale, PDG) have held near
dictatorial control over their boards and companies, leading to justified criticism

about the ineffectiveness of control mechanisms (Helderman, 2000).

The executive management of French companies can exist in two different
forms. The first one, which is the most commonly used by the listed companies, is
based on the dominant power of the “President Directeur General” (PDG) who is
CEO and Chairman at the same time. The second is the option of a two-tier board,

a system similar to that adopted in Germany (EkonomiHgskolan, 2004).

Several factors have combined to lead market players to become
concerned about corporate governance. Principal among them are privatization,
the increasing presence of foreign shareholders - American pension funds in
particular - the emergence in France of the pension fund concept, the desire to
modernize the Paris financial market and the publication of the Viénot Report
(AFG-ASFFI).

2.4.3.1. The Viénot Report (1)

The French employers' association CNPF (Conseil National du Patronat
Frangais) and the private business association AFEP (Association Frangaise des
Entreprises Privées) have entrusted a corporate governance committee to review
the principal issues concerning the membership, powers and operation of the
boards of directors of French listed companies, to review related problems and the
various solutions proposed and to draw the conclusions detailed in the Viénot

Report (Viénot Report I, 1995).

The Viénot Report has attracted wide attention and was commented on in

the press at large. However, the report did not propose substantial changes in
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present practices and the implementation of its recommendations has lagged.

There has been no official follow-up in terms of a compliance report.

The Viénot Report acknowledged as an essential part of the French

system, the principle that,

whatever a board's membership and procedures may be, its members
collectively represent all shareholders and it must at all times put the company's interests

first” (Viénot Report, 1995: p.4).

The report affirmed that a board controlled by a majority shareholder,

must be particularly attentive to avoid any conflict of interest, take all interests into
due account and ensure the transparency of information provided to the market” (Viénot

Report, 1995: p.14).
The committee report stated that

implementation of its recommendations is necessary to consolidate investor
confidence in the bodies governing the companies they are asked to invest in” ((Viénot

Report, 1995: p.3).

Without such an implementation of fairly basic recommendations, French

corporations cannot expect to maintain investor confidence.

The main recommendations of the Viénot Report (Viénot Report, 1995)

are as follows.

* Boards should participate in decisions of strategic importance to a
company.

= Each board should have a minimum of two independent directors.

* Cross-shareholding should be eliminated as quickly as possible.

* Companies should "avoid including an excessive number" of reciprocal
directors on boards, and reciprocal directors_should not serve on each
other's audit or compenéation committees.

* Each board should have a nomination committee that includes at least one
independent director and the company chairman.

* Firms should disclose annually how it is organized to make decisions.
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= Each board should have audit, compensation and nomination committees,
and should indicate annually how many meetings the committees had.
Each committee should be composed of at least three directors, one of
whom should be independent. Neither executives nor employee directors
should serve on the audit and compensation committees.

» Directors should "own a fairly significant" number of their company's
shares.

» Executive directors should join no more than five boards other than their

own.

However, compliance with the Viénot Report is entirely voluntary, and
there is no requirement by the stock exchange or any regulatory body to disclose

whether or to what extent a company adopts Viénot principles.
2.4.3.2. The Viénot Report (II)

The second Viénot Report was issued in 1999 by the Mouvement des
Entreprises de France (MEDEF) [formerly CNPF] and the Association Frangaise
des Entreprises Privées (AFEP) (Viénot Report, 1999). The Report recommends
that boards of public companies that have a single-tier board structure should be
allowed to separate the post of président du conseil d’administration into separate
chairman and CEO positions (Gregory, 2001). Gregory (2001) concluded that the

Report also calls for expanded disclosure to shareholders as to:

» executive remuneration policy.
» stock options schemes.
* the total amount of directors’ remuneration.

* individual directors’ remuneration for attendance at board meetings.

2.4.3.3. The Marini Report

At the instigation of Prime Minister, Alain Juppé, Senator Philippe Marini
in July 1996 issued a parliamentary report proposing sweeping reforms in French
corporate law. The report came one year after the Viénot Committee concluded

that no major legislative changes were needed. Marini's policy paper contained

Chapter Two: Corporate Governance Overview 45



proposals addressing corporate governance matters, including measures to place
various Viénot recommendations into law. The main recommendations of the

Marini Report (Marini Report , 1996) are as follows.

* Boards should be permitted in law to name committees with autonomous
powers.

» Companies should have the legal right, but not obligation, to separate the
offices of chairman of the board and chief executive officer without
having to adopt a two-tier board structure.

* Corporations should have to release detailed lists of its owners to all
Investors.

» Notices of meetings should be issued one month, rather than 15 days,
before shareholder meetings.

* Shareholders who prefer not to vote themselves should be able to assign
their voting rights to an independent entity rather than to management.

* Directors would be permitted to serve on no more than five boards.
2.4.3.4. AFG-ASFFI

France’s fund management association, the Association Frangaise de la
Gestion Financiére (AFG-ASFFI) adopted a report in 1998 (up-dated in October
2001) with best practice recommendations that go further than the Viénot Report |
(1995) and the Marini Report (1996) and propose even tougher steps, such as
stricter standards of independence for directors, greater disclosure, and an end of

poison pill-style takeover defences (see AFG-ASFFI).
2.4.3.5. The Bouton Report

In April 2002, Bertrand Collomb, Chairman of the Association Frangaise
des Entreprises Privées et Association des Grandes Entreprises Frangaises
(association of French private-sector companies and association of major French
corporations) (AFEP-AGREF), and Emest-Antoine Seilliére, Chairman of
MEDEF (Mouvement des Entreprises de France), requested a working group

chaired by Daniel Bouton, President of Société Générale Bank in France, to re
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examine the application in France of corporate governance principles (Bouton
Report, 2002).

According to the Bouton Report (2002), the working group that was set up

was charged with examining the following:

« improving the workings of company bodies for management or the
supervision of management, in particular the audit committee;

» the adequacy of accounting standards and practices;

* the quality of financial information and communication;

« the effectiveness of internal and external controls (by auditors and regulators);

» relations between companies and the various categories of shareholders; and

* the role and independence of various other market players, such as banks,

financial analysts, rating agencies, etc.
2.4.4. Germany

From the prosperity of the empire during the Wilhelmine Era (1890-1914),
Germany plunged into World War I (1914-1918) followed by the Great Inflation
of the early 1920s. Then, after a brief period of prosperity during the mid -1920s,
came the Great Depression, which destroyed what remained of the German
middle class and paved the way for the dictatorship of Adolf Hitler (1933-45) and
World War I1 (1939-1945) (Kaes, 1994; and Allen, 2002).

The first several years after World War 11 were years of bitter penury for
the Germans. Their land, their homes, and their property lay in ruin. As
Germany's post-war economic and political leaders shaped their plans for the
future German economy, they saw in ruin a new beginning, an opportunity to

position Germany on a new and totally different path (Kaes et al., 1994).

Later, in the 1990s, economic forecasters have been projecting a longer
lasting recovery in Germany, sparked off by strong export growth. Up to now,
however, so-called external shocks impede an acceleration of growth. This leads
to a pattern of very short and flat economic waves (Directorate General for

Economic and Financial Affairs, 2002).
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Corporate governance has become a highly charged issue in Germany
after years of wars, inflations and depressions. After wide-ranging talks with the
parties concerned and with academics, the German government has recommended

a package of changes for the reform of corporate governance (Seibert, 2002).

The debate about corporate governance has become more important after
the collapse of some major German firms such as Flowtex, Comroad and Philipp
Holzmann International GmbH (Germany's biggest construction company
employing 17,000) in 1999 (Transparency International, 2001), but that alone was

not adequate ground.

Rather, the inflexible structure of shareholdings is gradually falling away
and the shareholder structure is becoming more international, the influence of
foreign institutional investors and their expectations are growing, a better stock
market culture is developing, the investment behaviour is changing, the return on
German share investment is becoming more attractive and financial
intermediaries are reacting to these changes. For the legal and political
framework, this means that against a background of institutional competition,
there is growing pressure for changes and adaptation of some German company

laws, stock market laws and accounting laws (Seibert, 2002).

German corporate governance principles maintain the old suspicions to a
significant degree. Both the Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz or AktG), the
principle statute governing German corporations, and the statutory accounting
principals set out in the Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch or HGB) reflect a
concern for protecting the interests of shareholders of a corporation
(Aktiengesellschaft or AG) against those of directors and officers (Hutter et al.,
2002). An AG must, for example, build up hidden reserves, segregated from its
distributable retained earnings, as an additional “equity cushion” helping to
ensure that the company can satisfy its creditors (Hutter et al., 2002).
Nevertheless, the corporate governance regime of Germany has undergone

significant changes during the past years (Seibert, 2002).

In Germany, effective regulations on corporate governance have been

missing until now (Waclawczyk, 2002). In most of the other countries with a free
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market economy, a code of conduct with generally accepted principles is already
in existence. These principles enable investors to check and to judge

systematically a corporation in regard to its corporate governance (Waclawczyk,

2002).

As a result, rapid change pertaining to corporate governance now figures
as a global economic fact of life in Germany. In recent years, the downturn in the
financial markets as well as a number of corporate scandals have spurred efforts
by legislators, regulators and stock exchanges to improve corporate governance

standards in companies whose shares are publicly traded (Hutter et al., 2002).

German corporate governance principles have a different origin from
those of the US, England and other common law jurisdictions. Recent years have
seen a measure of convergence between German and Anglo-American principles
of corporate governance, as borders between capital markets have grown

increasingly porous (Hutter et al., 2002).

The G8* nations are seeking the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and
the World Bank to assess the extent to which countries are embracing their
corporate governance standards and practices. They view new and improved
governance practices as a key to spurring prosperity and jobs by strengthening

corporations’ abilities to compete for global capital (Davis, 1999).

In Germany, the legislature, regulatory bodies and securities exchanges
have clearly made significant progress in modernizing corporate governance. Just
as clearly, there remains room for additional improvement. More pressing,
perhaps, than a need to simplify the mechanics of effecting board resolutions or
obtaining shareholder consents is the need to further increase corporate
transparency. Potential investors considering a purchase of shares and existing
shareholders considering their votes at a shareholder meeting require adequate
and accurate information. It may be expected, therefore, that the focus of future
corporate governance reform in Germany will be the establishment of more

demanding disclosure duties, backed up with credible deterrents for directors and

! Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Russia, UK and USA
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officers who knowingly or recklessly disseminate false or inadequate information

(Hutter et al., 2002).
2.4.4.1. Control and Transparency in Business (KonTraG)

Due to both the internal pressure of mismanagement in German public
companies and the external change caused by the globalisation of capital markets,
the corporate governance discussions in Germany have resulted in much effort to
create a system of regulations to make Germany more attractive to local and
international investors. In addition to this, the regulations are intended to stem the
criticism of numerous aspects of German corporate governance, such as poor
alignment with shareholders’ interests, the lack of transparency within German
management and poor co-operation between the management and board of

directors (Waclawczyk, 2002).

A wide discussion also resulted, relating to the effects of the introduction
of the Euro® on shares with nominal value. Proposals have been submitted to
Parliament. Recently, the German government had approved the law on control
and transparency in business (KonTraG). The law was approved in March 1998

by the Bundestag, parliament's lower house (Ferrarini, 2000).
A summary of the regulations in the KonTraG is as follows (Ferrarini, 2000).

* Repurchase of a company’s own shares will be allowed under strict conditions
(previously forbidden).

* Shares with multiple voting rights would not be further allowed.

* There would not be a mandatory reduction in the number of members of the
supervisory board, while members may continue to sit on ten boards.

*  Minority claims against directors would be made more accessible, by reducing
the threshold to 5 percent. (Previously 10 percent).

* The supervisory board, not the management board, will appoint auditors.

The influence of the banks is somewhat curbed: banks may not vote as proxy

holders if voting in their own name for more than 5 percent of the shares.

* On January 4, 1999 the Euro was successfully implemented in a big-bang approach in the
German security market.
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2.4.4.2. German Code of Corporate Governance (GCCG)

In January 2000, a German panel of governance scholars, shareholder
activists and corporate executives issued a set of corporate governance guidelines
referring to the OECD Principles and encouraging companies to be more

transparent on governance and compensation (Gregory, 2001).

The Berlin Initiative Group, comprising academics and professionals, on
6th June 2000, issued the German Code of Corporate Governance (GCCG). It
highlights the standards of good management and supervision for companies
which develop their value creating activities in and from Germany and contains
recommendations for the arrangement of the regulatory framework for managing
and supervising a company. The Code, which is directed primarily towards large,
listed public stock corporations, is not only intended to promote the quality of
company management, but at the same time also serves as a source of information
for foreign investors seeking a compact introduction into the basic principles of

corporate governance in Germany (Ttingler, 2000).

The GCCG is not intended to provide suggestions for reform, but rather
suggestions which complement and describe the existing law. The reason for this
concentration on existing law is the consideration that improvement can be

brought about within the framework of the GCCG (GCCG, 2000).

The GCCG suggests that each company take the recommendations of the
report and have a checklist in its annual report that states which guidelines were

adopted and which were not and the reasons for that (GCCG, 2000).
2.4.4.3. DSW Guidelines

The Deutsche Schutzvereinigung Fiir Wertpapierbesitz (DSW),
Germany’s largest shareholder organization, has successfully worked towards the
adoption of legislative changes to German corporate law that should promote
positive corporate governance principles through the new Control and

Transparency Law.
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Furthermore the Deutsche Schutzvereinigung Fiir Wertpapierbesitz had
the following proposals to be followed by German companies as a minimum

benchmark for good corporate governance (DSW).

» Prohibiting supervisory board members from simultaneously sitting on a
competitor’s board.

» Prohibiting conflicts of interest among supervisory board members.

* Eliminating interlocking ownership.

» Ensuring the independence of the corporate auditor.

» Requiring greater accountability and transparency on banks that vote their
beneficial shares through greater proxy voting disclosure on the part of
German banks including providing public notice when voting against
management.

* Providing more advanced notice of Annual General Shareholders meeting.

* Proxy voting to be simplified
2.4.4.4. Corporate Governance Rules for German Quoted Companies

The Code of Best Practice for German Corporate Governance was drawn
up by the Frankfurt Panel on Corporate Governance in July 2000. The Rules of
the Code of the German Panel on Corporate Governance serve as general
guidelines for Corporate Governance of quoted German companies. Quoted
companies are all enterprises whose shares are officially listed on a German stock
exchange or traded over-the-counter. The Rules and respective adjustments to the
specifics of the individual company shall be published on the Internet. In addition,
their acceptance and implementation shall be communicated in the Annual Report

(German Panel on Corporate Governance, 2000).
2.4.4.5. Baums Commission Report 2001

The German government appointed a government commission to draw up
proposals for making German corporate governance more transparent for both
domestic and foreign investors and for strengthening confidence in the

management of German corporations (Baums Commission Report, 2001). The
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recommendations of the Baums Commission have been the impetus for much of

Germany’s recent efforts to reform corporate governance.
2.4.4.6. Cromme Code 2002

The Baums Commission urged in one of its recommendations that the
government convene a group of experts to create a new Corporate Governance
Code (Cromme Code, 2002). Acting on this, the government appointed an expert
panel led by Gerhard Cromme, chairman of the Supervisory Board of
ThyssenKrupp AG. The Cromme Commission promulgated the Corporate
Governance Code in February 2002. The Code sets out practical standards of
conduct for members of management and supervisory boards, determines duties
of reporting and disclosure to shareholders and defines the role of auditors (Hutter

et al., 2002).

Following the release of the Code, the Cromme Commission has been
mandated as a standing commission to review continuously and modify and up-

date the Code as appropriate.

The German legislature implemented further proposals of the Baums
Commission by enacting the Transparency and Publicity Act in July 2002. This
Act strengthens the supervisory boards of AGs and provides a legal framework

for the Corporate Governance Code.
2.4.5. Korea

In 1996, Korea became the 29th member country of the OECD, which was
created with the objectives of plural democracy, free market economy and the
respect of human rights and which has since played a leading role in shaping new
international standards and norms in the social and economic areas, such as
macroeconomic policy, trade, environment, competition policy, energy, consumer

protection and education (Korean Ministry of Legislation, 2003).

A balanced analysis of corporate governance practices of Korean
companies requires an understanding of Korea’s legal system, Commercial Act,

as well as its Code of Best Practice.

Chapter Two: Corporate Governance Overview 53



Beginning in the 1960s, Korea has enacted various Acts and subordinate
statutes focused on the administrative and economic areas to support the
government-led economic growth policy in the course of the nation's rapid
modernization. In pursuing high economic growth, Korea temporarily maintained
the authoritarian government restricting the people's fundamental rights. In the
late 1980s, however, Korea pushed ahead with democratisation in the political
area and, in the economic area, Korea started revamping the legal system with the
aim of curtailing the role of government and restoring the market economy

(Korean Ministry of Legislation, 2003).
2.4.5.1. Legal Systems

In Korea, the laws most directly affecting corporate governance are the
corporate laws found in the Commercial Code; in the Joint Stock Companies
Law; the Securities and Exchange Act; the Act on External Audit of Joint Stock
Companies and the Bankruptcy Law, etc (Gregory, 2001; Bae et al., 2002; and
Campbell et al., 2002).

The Korean government authorities had assigned the Financial
Supervisory Commission (FSC), which was established in 1998, to be the engine
of the structural reform of the financial markets. As the next step, the Financial
Supervisory Service (FSS) was formed in 1999, by consolidating four separate
supervisory —agencies, namely, Banking Supervisory Authority, Securities
Supervisory Board, Insurance Supervisory Board, and Non-bank Supervisory
Board. The role of FSS was to supervise and regulate the activities of financial
service providers and other participants in the financial markets. Both FSC and
FSS carried out the task of providing financial companies with prudential

regulation, and applied Forward Looking Criteria (FLC) (Kishi et al.,, 2001).
2.4.5.2. Commercial Act

The Commercial Act (1962) is a law that regulates the existence and the
relationships of the enterprises that have the purpose of profit-making. It is
composed of five parts which are the General Provisions, Commercial Activities,

Companies, Insurance and Maritime Commerce (Korean Commercial Act, 1962).
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According to the law, companies are grouped into four categories:
partnership companies, limited partnership companies, stock companies and

limited liability companies (Korean Commercial Act, 1962).
2.4.5.2.1. Chaebols

The Korean government’s Heavy and Chemical Industries (HCI) drive in
the 1970s set the stage for the emergence of large conglomerates, known as
chaebols in Korea, which has been the engine of growth since then. A chaebol is
characterized as a group of large corporations operating in diverse and mostly
unrelated industries, usually under the ownership and control of a single family.
Many scholars agree that the success of chaebol has highly depended upon the
strong support of the State, coordinating investment and export strategies and
constraining the labor force. The chaebol was implemented through subsidized
credit, special tax policies, selective protection, entry restrictions and direct
government involvement in industrial decision-making (Cheng, 1990; Fields,
1995; Haggard and Moon, 1993; Kim, 1997; Seong, 1997; Wade, 1990; and Woo,
1991).

The term chaebol, which means ‘financial house’, is commonly used to
refer to conglomerates consisting of many related companies, including a number
of companies listed on the stock exchange, which are engaged in a broad range of
industrial and service businesses (Black, 2001). The chaebol structure enables
Korea to start industries that required huge initial investment and risk sharing
such as heavy machinery, automobiles, shipbuilding, and microchips. Such large
investment was not feasible for companies in other comparable developing

countries like Taiwan, Indonesia, Hong Kong, etc. (Koo 1998, Kim 1997).

In 1995, the 30 largest chaebols represented 41 per cent of total sales in
the Korean domestic economy, 40 per cent of value added, 44 per cent of total
fixed assets and 18 per cent of employment. The five® largest chaebols
represented 26 per cent of total domestic sales, 27 per cent of total value added,

26 per cent of total fixed assets and 11 per cent of total employment (Seong,
1997; Wade, 1990).

§ Hyundai, Daewoo, Samsung, LG (Lucky Goldstar) and SK (Sun kyong)

Chapter Two: Corporate Governance Overview 55



However, chaebols were not always profitable and occasionally faced
financial distress. During these occasions, the government repeatedly intervened.
During the debt crisis of 1972, the government froze their debts and gave them
bail-out loans (Cho, 2003). Between 1979-1983, firms in the heavy and chemical
industries’ suffered from over-investment and from the depression following the
second oil shock (Economic Planning Board, 1994). To deal with insolvency
problems associated with excess capacity, the government gave financial
subsidies and consolidated firms to create more concentrated markets. In the
1980s, the government adopted some liberal pro-competition policies, privatizing
commercial banks during 1981-83, and reducing the gap in interest rates between
industrial policy loans and general loans. During 1984-1988, many debt-ridden
firms became insolvent, only to have the government intervene yet again® (Cho,
2003). By providing the creditor banks with special 3% to 6% interest rate loans
(the general bank loan rate was about 12%.) (Lee 1998; Kim 1999), the
government allowed them to write off bad debts, extend debt maturities, and
replace existing debt with longer-term debt at a lower rate (Cho, 2003; Kim,
1997). In short, the government had repeatedly given large firms preferential

subsidies and bailed them out during times of financial distress.
2.4.5.4. Corporate Governance and Reforms

In Korea, corporate governance did not begin in earnest until 1996, and
was largely prompted by the financial crisis of 1997-1998 (Shim, 2002). During
the Asian financial crisis in 1997, the chaebols were characterized by low
transparency of corporate decision-making, low accountability of senior managers
and higher debt-equity ratios than their principal international competitors (Joh,
1999). The Asian financial crisis overtook the Korean economy in 1997. The
crisis in Korea had many causes, though it was triggered by a number of large-
scale corporate failures, beginning with the failure of Hanbo Steel, the 14 largest
chaebol, in 1997. Another steel producer, the Samni group, followed suit. Then

came Jinro’s turn, the 19w largest chaebol, and the Sangyong business group, the

" These industries include power generating equipment, cars, engines, heavy electric equipment,
telephone switching systems, refined copper, etc.,

* The government revised its tax exemption law to facilitate the insolvency procedure in December
198s.
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6w largest (Allayannis, 2003). Corporate failures placed financial institutions at
risk and led to a collapse of international confidence in the economy and the
withdrawal of foreign investors and financiers from the Korean markets. As a

result, major reform is now in progress.

Since the financial crisis in Korea there have been numerous changes in
corporate governance in both the private and public sectors. A principal focus of
the government’s policy response to the crisis was to reform Korea’s corporate
governance standards. The government undertook a series of measures to force
the chaebols to focus their business operations on a small number of core
businesses in each group, rely less on debt financing, improve transparency in
corporate decision-making, and enhance the accountability of controlling
shareholders and managers ( Black et al., 2001; Koo, 1998; Nam et al., 1999; Joh,
2001; Kim, 1999; and Shim, 2002).

In 2000, the Korean authorities initiated a series of improvement measures
for corporate governance, with the introduction of an outside directorship system
and protection of minority shareholder interests as the principal features. In order
to protect their interests, minority shareholders have fortified their rights to
demand cumulative voting (Kishi et al., 2001). The system of appointing outside
directors to company boards was aimed at improving the monitoring capabilities.
For example, large companies that were listed on the Korea Stock Exchange
(KSE) were required to nominate at least three outside directors to their boards,
and an audit committee had to be set up with outside directors comprising at least

two-thirds of the standing membership.

In order to promote more precise disclosure and to boost monitoring
capabilities, FSC and FSS have introduced a “Regulation on External Auditing
and Accounting”, and the use of consolidated balance sheets in financial
accounting. In addition, FSS introduced the Continuous Credit-Risk Assessment
System (CCRAS), so that banks could be inspected on a regular basis using the
authority and esteem, as well as the technical standards, of CCRAS (Koo, 1998).

Shareholdings by institutional investors in Korean companies are low

compared to other developed countries and many institutional investors are
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affiliated with and controlled by the chaebol. Foreign institutional investors have
recently become significant investors in Korean firms, but thus far have had very
modest influence on Korean corporate governance. Foreign investors’ share in the
Korean stock market represented 36% of market value, as of February 2002.
Therefore, Korean firms and institutional investors have been increasingly pressed

to reinforce and activate stronger corporate governance measures (Nam, 1999;

and Shim 2002).

In short, the following are some of the post-crisis amendments to the
principal Korean legislation and regulations relating to corporate governance
(Black et al., 2001; Koo, 1998; Nam et al., 1999; Nam et al., 2001; Joh, 2001;
Kim, 1999; Shim, 2002; and Mitton, 2001).

* The Securities and Exchange Act was amended to require that boards of
directors must be independent. For those with assets greater than 2 trillion
Won, at least 50 per cent of the board’s members must be independent.

* The regulation on Securities Listing granted to the Korea Stock Exchange
enhanced its powers to ensure the independence of listed companies’ external
auditors.

* To enhance transparency, the government has introduced significant changes
in financial accounting standards (December 1998) to bring them into
conformity with International Accounting Standards (IAS) or United States
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).

* QGiven that the financial crisis highlighted the deficiencies in the disclosure

system of the securities market, the government improved disclosure systems

by legislating for quarterly reports in addition to the annual and semi-annual
reports previously required, electronic filing systems, allowing more class
action lawsuits, and meting out more severe penalties in the case of violations

(Nam et al. 2001).

In regard to a direct corporate governance system, the government obliged

publicly traded companies to elect outside directors in 1998.

An explicit fiduciary duty has been established, requiring directors to

“perform their duties faithfully for the good of the company” in accordance

with applicable law and the company’s articles of incorporation.
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= Shareholders may propose matters for consideration at a general shareholder
meeting.

* The minimum shareholding level required for shareholders to assert rights has
been reduced for: (i) demanding removal of directors and auditors for wrong-
doing; (ii) seeking an injunction against a director who violates applicable law
or a company’s articles of incorporation; (iii) initiating a derivative lawsuit;
(iv) convening a general shareholder meeting; (v) inspecting a company’s
account books; (vi) applying to court for appointment of an inspector to
investigate the company’s actions; and (vii) demanding the removal of a
liquidator. These levels were further reduced for listed companies and yet
further reduced for the largest listed companies (with paid-in capital of not
less than 100 billion Won) (Black et al 2001).

* Many large publicly owned companies started to improve their governance
systems after they were mandated to do so by the government.

* In 1999, the government introduced an audit committee and other committees
in the board.

* In 1999, the Code of Best Practices was announced (which was framed by a
corporate governance committee composed of various professionals).

* The Korea Stock Exchange (KSE) in 2001 announced its own survey

regarding the improvement of corporate governance of listed companies.
2.4.5.4. Codes of Best Practices

According to both the 1999 Korn/Ferry survey and the KSE survey
(1999), Korean corporate governance still lagged far behind international
standards (Korn and Ferry, 1999). Two more recent surveys, one from Standard
and Poor (S&P) and the other from Credit Lyonnaise Securities Asia (CLSA),
further confirm the low degree of corporate governance in Korea, while pointing

out the positive relationship between corporate governance and return on equity

(CLSA, 2001; and S&P, 2001).

In March 1999, the Ministry of Finance and Economy initiated the
creation of a Private Sector Committee on Improving Corporate Governance, as a

non-government body, to develop a code of best practice. In September 1999, the
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Committee adopted the Code of Best Practices for Corporate Governance (the

“Best Practices Code™).

According to the Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance (1999),
the purpose of the Code is to maximize corporate value by enhancing the
transparency and efficiency of corporations for the future. This Code applies to
listed companies and other public companies. The contents of the Code consist of
five sections and recommendations: Preamble, Shareholders, Board of Directors,

Audit Systems, Stakeholders and Management Monitoring by the Market.
2.4.5.4.1. Shareholders

* Shareholder rights shall be protected; they must be able to exercise their rights
through proper procedures and be treated equitably under the principle of
shareholder equality.

* Controlling shareholders have the corresponding responsibilities when they
exercise any influence towards the corporate management other than the

exercise of voting rights.
2.4.5.4.2. Board of Directors

* The Board of Directors shall make the key management policy decisions,
supervise the activities of directors and management, observe the related
statutes and the articles of incorporation when performing its duties and
ensure that all members of the corporation also observe them.

* The directors and the Board shall perform their duties faithfully in the best
interests of the corporation and its shareholders; they shall also perform their

social responsibilities and consider the interests of various stakeholders.
2.4.5.4.3. Audit Systems

* Audits shall be performed by those independent from stakeholders in the
corporation, such as the management or controlling shareholder, and by those

who specialize in auditing.
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» Auditors shall audit with sufficient information provided and shall invest
much time and effort, and they shall not reveal, unless required by law, any

confidential corporate information learned while auditing.
2.4.5.4.4. Stakeholders

= The rights and authority of interested parties according to the law and contract
shall be protected.

» Participation of interested parties in corporate governance shall be determined
autonomously, considering the level of interests of the parties and the rights
protection systems.

» Corporations and interested parties shall cooperate for mutual benefit.
2.4.5.4.5. Management Monitoring by the Market

*  Formation and function of related markets shall be protected so that corporate
takeovers may be used as a means to raise efficiency of corporate
management, thereby further increasing corporate value.

= Corporations shall actively disclose matters of material importance to the
decision-making of shareholders, creditors and other interested parties.

= Corporations, to become equipped with a sound governance structure, shall
actively disclose their governance so that interested parties such as

shareholders may evaluate them.
2.4.6. Malaysia

The economic turmoil faced by so many countries, including Malaysia,
that started in July 1997, to a certain extent, was caused by a lack of proper
corporate governance in the corporate sector (Haji Ali, 1999). So, all relevant
regulatory authorities in Malaysia must cooperate and give their fullest and
sincere assistance and full support to the corporate sector for continuing economic

recovery.

A proper and efficient system of corporate governance should be able to
regulate and monitor companies. It should also be able to ensure that company

directors act in the best interests of their companies as well as ensuring the
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observance and compliance with all laws, regulations and codes of conduct and

best practices (Keong, 2002).

Companies need effective and friendly guidance from the relevant
regulatory authorities for their growth and good corporate governance (Keong,
2003), especially in 'bad times' as Malaysia faced in 1997. Setting standards and
creating a culture of good governance is the collective responsibility of regulators,
advisors of publicly listed companies and the board of directors and senior

management governing the respective companies (Charkham 1995).
2.4.6.1. Regulatory Authorities

In Malaysia, companies are guided by a number of laws and regulations
and non-legal requirements and codes of conduct (Anwar, 2003; Cheah, 2003;
Haji Ali, 1999; Koh, 1999; KLSE, 2002; Rajenthran, 2002; and Koh, 1994).
Principal among them is the Companies Act 1965, a law regulating companies
which was based originally on the U.K. Companies Act 1948 and the Australian
Uniform Companies Act 1961 (see Companies Act 1965). The Act sets out
requirements for the birth, death and existence of companies. It identifies
fundamental rules governing procedures for incorporation, the basic constitutional
structure and the cessation of existence of companies. The Act imposes minimum
requirements on the way in which corporations are incorporated consistent with
the Malaysian contractualist system of company law where the control structure is
left to be determined by the promoters and the company through the

Memorandum and Articles of Association of a company (Companies Act 1965).

The Companies Act has been amended twenty-seven times since it was
first implemented on 15 April 1966 to take into account the various comments
and suggestions from the private and corporate sectors. The amendments have

also taken into account abuses of company structures by company directors.

In addition to the Companies Act 1965, publicly listed companies must
also observe and comply with the Securities Commission Act 1993, the Securities
Industry Act 1983, the Policies and Guidelines On Issue/Offer of Securities issued

by the Securities Commission (SC) and the Listing Requirements of the Kuala
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Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE). The Companies Commission of Malaysia Act
2001 (the Act) also came into operation on 16 April 2002. This Act establishes
the Companies Commission of Malaysia, provides for its function and powers and
for matters connected therewith (Anwar, 2003; Cheah, 2003; Haji Ali, 1999; Koh,
1999; KLSE, 2002; and Rajenthran, 2002).

The guidelines of the SC set out the requirements which have to be met
before embarking a corporate proposal as well as the continuing obligations with
which all parties concerned must comply once their proposals have been approved
by the SC (Haji Ali, 1999). The KLSE listing requirements, in addition to other
matters, contain a requirement for every listed company to set up an audit
committee as a sub-committee of the board of directors. The prime role of an
audit committee is to provide an independent evaluation of a company's financial
reporting function. It involves both financial reporting to the shareholders and
others as well as a company's business ethics. The audit committee must comprise
not less than three members with a majority of them non-executive independent
directors who are not related to the executive directors of the company or its

related corporations and chaired by a non-executive director (KLSE, 2001).

One of the essential issues with the whole corporate governance exercise
is its credibility. Thus, regulators and rules do play an essential role for
enforcement. In terms of promoting effective enforcement, transgressions must be

penalized and rules must be effectively enforced.

Under Malaysian law, shareholders have a proprietary right to vote, with
one vote per share. Shareholders can register ownership to convey or transfer
shares, participate and vote at general shareholder meetings and elect members of
the board. Shareholders also may submit proposals to the general meeting.
Finally, the Securities Commission is examining ways to allow shareholders

cumulative voting rights (Rasiah et al., 2000).

2.4.6.2. Stock Exchanges

There are currently two stock exchanges and one futures exchange in

Malaysia, which are the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (KLSE), the Malaysian
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Exchange of Securities Dealing and Automated Quotation Bhd (MESDAQ) and
the Malaysia Derivatives Exchange (MDEX). As at 6 August 2003, 886
companies were listed on the KLSE and the MESDAQ. Of these, 571 companies
were listed on the main board, 291 were listed on the second board and 24

companies were listed in the MESDAQ market (KLSE, 2002; and Seong, 2003).

The KLSE is a public company limited by guarantee incorporated in 1976
under the Companies Act 1965. It has no shareholders and no share capital, only
members, with membership comprising two classes—voting and non-voting, as
defined in Article 1 of the KLSE’s Articles of Association. Voting members are
made up of companies that carry on the business of dealing in securities, which
are stock-broking companies. Non-voting members may either be dealing
members or non-dealing members. Dealing members refer to executive directors
of the member companies, who hold a dealer’s representative licence, while non-
dealing members include individual and corporate shareholders, and non-

executive directors of the member companies (Seong, 2003).

In January 2001, the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange became the region’s
first to require disclosure of compliance with the Corporate Governance Code via
its listing requirements, enhancing the protection of minority shareholders (KLSE,
2002). Listing requirements are amongst the best in East Asia, and similar to
London Stock Exchange rules. For example, all listed companies must report on
corporate governance in their annual reports. Company directors also must report

separately on internal control in the annual report (KLSE, 2001).

The MESDAQ Market was created on March 18, 2002 following the
merger between the MESDAQ and the KLSE. It operates as a unique market with
a separate identity from the KLSE Main and Second Boards, catering specifically
for the capital raising needs of technology and high-growth potential companies.
The framework of the establishment of the MESDAQ Market was first unveiled
by the Securities Commission (SC) in February 1997. With more of the growth
and development of the economy being premised upon higher value-added
activities, the SC recognised the need for an equity market to fund the

development of technology-based, high-growth companies (Abdul Kadir, 2001).
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The Malaysia Derivatives Exchange Berhad (MDEX) began operations on
11 June 2001. The MDEX operates under the supervision of the Securities
Commission and is governed by the Futures Industry Act (FIA) 1993. The
Exchange also falls under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Finance of Malaysia

(MIDA, 2004).
2.4.6.3. Corporate Governance

The Malaysian regulatory authorities: Registrar of Companies (ROC);
Securities Commission (SC); Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchage (KLSE); Bank
Negara;Foreign Investment Committee (FIC); and Ministry of Finance (MOF),
each has its role to play in assisting companies to achieve good corporate

governance.

Legal infrastructure such as rules and regulations must be in place to
facilitate corporate development from time to time. New rules must be enacted
and obsolete ones amended accordingly. In order to keep in tandem with latest
developments in the corporate sector, rules and regulations must take into
consideration the numerous comments and suggestions from the various
associations representing the private and corporate sector (Cheah, 2003; Haji,
1999; Koh, 1999; and KLSE, 2002). For that matter, the Companies Act 1965
had been reviewed and amended since its inception. These amendments are
necessary in order to facilitate corporate growth and thus establish a framework
for good corporate governance. On the other hand, having a good piece of law
alone does not guarantee effective implementation, unless the regulatory

authorities concerned take the necessary steps to enforce them effectively.

Thus, in 1997, the Malaysian government made a pledge that Malaysia
would take a leading role in corporate governance in the Asian Pacific Region
(MIDA, 2004). The Malaysian government placed emphasis on establishing good
corporate governance practices carried out by the private sector as well as the
government (Koh, 1999). The government established a High Level Committee
on Corporate Governance including senior officials of the relevant government

agencies and representatives of the private sector.
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In March 1998, the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (the
Malaysian Code), another milestone in creating good corporate governance, was
created when the Registrar of Companies formed an entity known as the
Malaysian Institute of Corporate Governance (MICG). The objective for setting
up this body was to fepresent, express and give effect to opinions of members of
MICG on issues relating to corporate governance in Malaysia, promote and
encourage corporate governance development and educate the public and
corporations on the importance of good governance to enhance shareholder’s

value and bring about corporate prosperity (Seong, 2003).

Both the Securities Commission (SC) and the Kuala Lumpur Stock
Exchange (KLSE) played crucial roles in enhancing corporate governance in
Malaysia. KLSE makes amendments to the Listing requirements that were
implemented by the Exchange on a continuing base. The key objectives of
revamping the old listing rules are to enhance corporate governance and
transparency, enhance efficiency in capital market activities, strengthen investor
protection and promote investor confidence. In line with these objectives, the
following points were incorporated in the new listing rules that will be adopted by
KLSE: (i) strengthening provisions in areas relating to disclosure, corporate
governance, continuing listing obligations, financial reporting and protection of
minority shareholders; (ii) codifying unwritten rules and procedures relating to
listed issuers; (iii) simplifying procedural requirements and processes; and (iv)
clarifying requirements and removing ambiguities and adopting global trends and

standards in listing rules, where applicable (KLSE, 2001).

The SC also initiated recommendations to the role of internal auditors.
This requires all publicly listed companies to set up an internal audit function.
Where there is no internal audit function, the Code provides that the audit
committee should assess whether there are other means of ensuring that there is

regular review and appraisal of the company's internal controls (Cheah, 2003).
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2.4.6.4. Code of Best Practice

The Finance Committee report on corporate governance sets the
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance, which provides principles and best

practices for good corporate governance.

According to Abdul Kadir (2001), Chairman of the Securities
Commission, the recommendations of the Finance Committee are broadly

focussed on the following three key areas.

* Jegal reform - to strengthen the statutory and regulatory framework for
corporate governance;

* developing a Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance - to enhance the self-
regulatory mechanisms that promote good governance; and

* training and education - to ensure that the proposed framework for corporate

governance is supported by necessary human and institutional capital.

The significance of a Code for Malaysia is that it will require companies
to make the relevant governance disclosures which then introduces more
information about how boards function in Malaysia. Another fairly significant
feature is the aspirational and evolutionary way in which a Code influences the
expectations of society that are eventually reflected in the law. The attention
generated by the Code of Best Practice has already had an impact on evolving
Judicial interpretations of director’s duties. Certainly the Code also acts as a
valuable guide to boards by clarifying their responsibilities and providing

prescriptions strengthening the control exercised by boards over their companies.

In March 2000, the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance was
developed by a Working Group on Best Practices in Corporate Governance (JPK)
and subsequently approved by the Finance Committee on Corporate Governance.
The Code aims to set out principles and best practices on structures and processes
that companies may use in their operations towards achieving the optimal

governance framework.
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The Code mainly focuses on public listed companies and identifies a set of
guidelines or practices intended to assist public listed companies in designing
their approach to corporate governance. While compliance with best practices is
voluntary, companies will be required as a provision of the listing requirements of
the KLSE to state in their annual reports the extent to which they have complied
with the best practices. By adopting relevant key principles contained in the Code,
the respective companies could enhance the standards of governance in their

respective organisations.
2.4.6.5. Survey on Corporate Governance

KLSE and PwC conducted a benchmark survey in 1998 to assess the level
of corporate governance in Malaysia. In 2002, the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange
(KLSE) and PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) conducted a Corporate Governance
Survey to gauge current perceptions among key stakeholder groups on Malaysian
Corporate Governance (CG) Standards. It also reviewed CG practices in Malaysia
in accordance with the various recommendations and guidelines prescribed in the
Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance and the KLSE listing requirements
(KLSE, 2002). In part, the Corporate Governance Survey 2002 is a follow-up to
the 1998 benchmark survey on the level of corporate governance in Malaysia in

view of recent developments.

Results from the survey already highlight the positive developments in
Corporate Malaysia, with regards to corporate governance practices. The main

results are:

* Malaysia's Corporate Governance standards are perceived to have
improved since the 1998 Survey, with the introduction of the Malaysian
Code on Corporate Governance and the new KLSE Listing Requirements;

* Malaysian public listed companies (PLCs) are highly cognisant of the
need for Board independence and most adopt a clear division of
responsibilities between the head of the Board (Ch_airman) and the chief

executive charged with the running of the company's business (CEO /

MD);
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» Institutional Groups are willing to pay at least 10% premium for shares in
organisations that have excellent Corporate Governance practices;

» Institutional Groups indicate the strong influence of non-financial
information 1in their investment decisions;

» Malaysian PLCs now recognise that shareholders' and investors'
communication play a significant part in enhancing the confidence of
investors who now demand greater transparency and disclosure of capital
markets; and |

= the on-going local and global regulatory and co-regulatory progress on CG
have made directors as a group more aware of their greater fiduciary

duties and responsibilities.

In short, Malaysia was well advanced in upgrading its corporate regulatory
environment when the crisis hit. In the 1980s, authorities required listed
companies to appoint independent directors to their boards and establish audit
committees. In 1996, Malaysia committed to move from a merit based to a
disclosure based regulatory regime for listed companies. Since the crisis, key
reforms include incorporating the Code of Corporate Governance into listing rules

and improving overall compliance (KLSE, 2001).
2.5. SUMMARY

Since mid 1990s the corporate governance movement grew into a major
movement worldwide, spreading from the US, over the UK to the rest of the
world (Carlsson, 2001; Keong, 2002; and Charkham, 1995). Despite the diversity
in corporate governance between the United States, United Kingdom, France,
Germany, Korea and Malaysia, it has been noticed in the discussion above that all
of them are undertaking corporate governance reforms. This emphasizes the
strong trend in changing law and regulations or/and setting best practices of
corporate governance. The goal is to have strong and independent boards of
directors, enhanced shareholder rights and activism, fuller financial disclosure,
tighter control of insider trading and self-dealing transactions, greater
accountability of controlling shareholders, directors and stronger regulatory

environment.
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It has also been seen that countries around the world are characterized by
alternative corporate governance systems (Shleifer et al. 1997). Considerable
debate is going on illustrating how good, superior or effective these systems are.
Prowse (1995) suggests that such judgments are inherently subjective because of
the sparse evidence on the relative performance of different corporate governance

systems.

It has been shown in this chapter that corporate governance encompasses
rules and market practices which determine how companies make decisions, the
transparency of their decision-making processes, the accountability of their
directors, managers and employees, the information they disclose to investors and
the protection of minority shareholders. It involves issues of company law,
securities laws, the listing rules of a country’s stock exchanges, accounting
standards applicable to listed companies, competition or anti-trust laws and
bankruptcy or insolvency laws. It includes government regulations and regulatory
agencies with which corporations and shareholders deal and those regulators’
actions to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Corporate
governance involves the courts as well, since shareholders, directors, managers
and regulators call upon courts to resolve corporate governance disputes and

enforce government regulations.

In short, corporate governance has become, and is likely to remain, a
powerful tool for attracting foreign direct investment. In order to remain
competitive in a changing world, corporations must adapt their corporate
governance practices to meet new demands and benefit from new opportunities.
Likewise, governments have an important responsibility for shaping an effective
regulatory framework that provides for sufficient flexibility to allow markets to

function effectively and to respond to expectations of shareholders and other
stakeholders.
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\CHAPTER THREE:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN SAUDI
ARABIA

3.1. INTRODUCTION

The development of corporate governance in Saudi Arabia is of interest for a
number of reasons. First, Saudi Arabia presents a unique combination of size, stage of
development of the economy and wealth, coupled with strictness of Islamic
observance. Second, corporate governance in the Saudi context has received very
little attention from researchers. Despite the richness of I[slamic teachings on the
conduct of business and trade, very little has been written on corporate governance in
Islamic societies. In this thesis, four important elements of corporate governance will
be explored in the case of Saudi Arabia, namely: shareholder rights, board of
directors, audit committees and disclosure and transparency. Islamic law (Shari’ah)
and Islamic jurisprudence (the Figh) are analyzed as a basis for the regulation of

corporate governance.

Corporate governance of a particular country reflects its history, culture,
regulatory structures and capital market characteristics (Keong, 2002). Therefore,
when studying corporate governance in Saudi Arabia, it is obviously essential to
consider the country’s history, culture, regulatory structures, economic and capital
market characteristics, etc. It is important to mention here that Saudi Arabia is in the
foundation stage of developing corporate governance and no Code of best practices

has been set up yet.

In the following section (section 3.2), a summary of the Saudi Arabian
background will be presented highlighting the country’s constitution, legislation and
five-year development plans. In the next section (section 3.3), some important facts
relating to the Saudi Arabian oil and non-oil economy will be raised. In section 3.4, it

will be indicated that the Saudi Arabian corporate governance is governed by four
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bodies: the Ministry of Commerce, the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA),
the Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) and some professional bodies. In section 3.5,
the author tries to assess corporate governance, specifically assessing four corporate
governance mechanisms: shareholder rights; board of directors; audit committees;
and disclosure and transparency, and to test the intensity of adoption of these
mechanisms in the Saudi publicly traded (joint stock) corporations. In section 3.6, it
will be explained how Islam effects corporate governance in Saudi. It will be shown
that the development of corporate governance must be based on the provisions of
Islamic Law (the Shari'ah) and Islamic Jurisprudence (the Figh) along with other
necessary principles and postulates which are not in conflict with the shari’ah and
figh. In the last section (3.7), there is a summary of the most important issues

discussed in this chapter.
3.2. SAUDI BACKGROUND

The Saudi Arabian State was first established in the central region of the
Arabian Peninsula in the early 18th century (Al-rasheed, 2002). Then, the modern
Saudi Arabia was founded in 1932 by King Abdul Aziz Al-Saud. The nation
experienced remarkable growth over a short period, spurred by the discovery of oil in
the 1930s. This income has given the monarchy the ability to deliver benefits to all
sectors of a populace grateful to receive them, to develop a very powerful centralized
security force, and to increase Saudi Arabia’s influence in regional affairs, thereby

buffering some of the security problems it faces on several borders (Hudson, 1999).

Prior to the discovery of oil in the 1930s, the Saudi economy revolved around
the pilgrimage to Makkah (Mecca) in the western area, subsistence farming in the few
agricultural regions in southern and central regions, and pearling along the eastern
coast. After the Second World War, oil quickly replaced these activities as the main
source of revenue. In the early 1970s, the Kingdom embarked on a long-term
program to use its substantial oil revenues to build the infrastructure for
diversification of the economy into several areas besides oil. In the 1970s and 1980s,
the government played the leading role in establishing basic infrastructure and
institutions. From the early 1970s until the early 1980s the government invested

heavily to modernize the country, building and owning the telecommunications,
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electric power, water, road, airline, rail, health care and education infrastructure and

systems (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 1970, 1975, 1980, 1985, 1990, 1995 and 2000).

3.2.1. Saudi Constitution

On March 1, 1992, King Fahd Bin Abdul Aziz Al-Saud issued three major
laws: the Basic Law of Government, the Consultative Council Law and the Law of
Provinces. The Basic Law of Government formalizes several aspects of the
constitutional framework of the country. The Consultative Council Law replaces the
existing council, established in 1926, with a new council to be appointed by the king
within six months. The Law of Provinces aims at regulating the relationship between
central government agencies and regional governors, replacing a 1963 law that was

never implemented.

Chapter I, Article 5 of the Basic Law of Saudi Arabia adopted in 1992
provides that the central institution of Saudi Arabian government is the monarchy
headed by King Fahd Bin Abdul Aziz Al-Saud (Committee on the Elimination of
Racial Discrimination, 2001; and Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia, 2003). Assisting
King Fahd in his duties are Crown Prince Abdullah Bin Abdul Aziz Al-Saud and
Prince Sultan Bin Abdul Aziz Al-Saud.

The government of Saudi Arabia has always rejected the idea of adopting a
secular written constitution, arguing that the constitution of the country already
existed, namely: the Qur'an, the Muslim holy book, and the Sunnah of the prophet
Mohammed (the teachings and deeds of the Prophet Muhammad), God’s prayers and

peace be upon him.

The Basic Law adopted in 1992 declared that Saudi Arabia is a monarchy
ruled by the sons and grandsons of King Abdul Aziz Al-Saud, and that the Holy
Qur'an is the constitution of the country, which is governed on the basis of Islamic
law (Shari'ah) and on decrees promulgated by the Council of Ministers. Shari'ah is
based on the provisions of the Holy Qur’an, the Sunnah (the teachings and deeds of
the Prophet Muhammad) and the consensus of the ‘Ulema’ (religious scholars) and
legal analogy, which is governed on the basis of Islamic law (Shari'ah) and on decrees

promulgated by the Council of Ministers (Human Rights Watch Report, 1992).
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3.2.2. Saudi Legislation

Chapter I, Article 1 of the Basic Law explicitly provides that Saudi Arabia’s
only “constitution” are the Qur’an and the Sunnah. Article 1 states, “the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia is a sovereign Arab Islamic state with Islam as its religion; God's Book
and the Sunnah of His Prophet, God's prayers and peace be upon him, are its
constitution, Arabic is its language and Riyadh is its capital” (Committee on the
Elimination of Racial Discrimination, 2001; and Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia,

2003).

Legislation and decision-making in Saudi Arabia is consultative, with an
emphasis on reaching consensus. Historically, King Abdul Aziz Al-Saud founded a
Majlis Al-Shura (Consultative Council) as early as 1927 (Long, 1997). This Council
was later expanded to 20 members, and was chaired by the king’s son, Prince Faisal
Bin Abdul Aziz Al-Saud. The Council was expanded to 25 members in the early
1950s, but its functions were then transferred to the Cabinet (Dekmejian, 1998; and
Aba-Namay, 1998). In 1997, King Fahd expanded the Consultative (Shura) Council
to 90 members (Dekmejian, 1998; and Aba-Namay, 1998). The extension of the
Majlis Al-Shura to 150 members in 2004 marks a shift towards a Western-style
representative democracy. The Majlis would have a four-year term of office, and the
responsibility to examine plans for economic and social development, question
Cabinet members, examine annual plans submitted by each ministry, and propose

new laws or amendments (Dekmejian, 1998; Aba-Namay, 1998).

In 1953, the king appointed a Council of Ministers, which has since advised
on the formulation of general policy and helps direct the activities of the growing
bureaucracy. The Council of Ministers sets internal, external, financial, economic,
educational and military policies, as well as other affairs of the state. The Council
supervises the implementation of these policies. It has legislative, executive and
administrative authorities. The Council is the final authority on financial affairs. This
Council consists of a prime minister, the first and second deputy prime ministers, 20
ministers, two ministers of state and a small number of advisers and heads of major
autonomous organizations (Long, 1997). Saudi laws are promulgated by a resolution

of the Council of Ministers, and are proposed by the King, senior ruling princes and
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key Ministers. They must be ratified by royal decree, and be compatible with the
Shari'ah, and are increasingly subject to informal debate or review within the Majlis

Al-Shura.

The Saudi legal system is administered according to the Shari'ah by a system
of religious courts. Judges are appointed by the king on the recommendation of the
Supreme Judicial Council, composed of 12 senior jurists. The independence of the
judiciary is protected by law. The king acts as the highest court of appeal and has the
power to pardon. Access to high officials (usually at a Majlis, or public audience) and
the right to petition them directly are well-established traditions. The kingdom is
divided into 13 provinces' governed by princes or close relatives of the royal family.
All governors are appointed by the King (Country Reports on Human Rights
Practices, 2002; US State Department Human Rights Report, 1998).

3.2.3. Saudi 5-Year Development Plans

The development of sound corporate governance in Saudi Arabia can be
traced through an analysis of the country’s five-year plans. For the past 25 years the
economic development of Saudi Arabia has been governed by five-year economic
plans. Through the five-year development plans, the government has sought to
allocate its petroleum income to transform its relatively undeveloped, oil-based
economy into that of a modern industrial state while maintaining the kingdom's
traditional Islamic values and customs. In the course of the past few decades, the
massive government investments in physical and social infrastructure in the context
of successive five-year development plans have transformed the Saudi economy into

a modern state with a well-diversified economy.

Saudi Arabia's first (1970-75) and second (1976-80) development plans
emphasized infrastructure, e.g., highways, power generation, seaports, etc. (Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia, 1970, 1975). Those two plans were silent on corporate governance
issues. For the third plan (1980-85), the emphasis rose markedly on education, health,
and social services (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 1980). The development of standards

and quality marks in the Second and Third Plans is seen solely as an aid to protecting

! Al-Bahah, Al-Hudud Al-Shamaliyah, Al-Jawf, Al-Madinah, Al-Qassim, Al-Riyad, Al-Sharqiyah,
Aseer, Ha'il, Jizan, Makkah, Najran and Tabuk.
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the nation’s development. In the fourth plan (1985-90), private enterprise was
encouraged and foreign investment in the form of joint ventures with Saudi public
and private companies was welcomed (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 1985). The private
sector became more important, rising to 70% of non-oil GDP by 1987. While still
concentrated in trade and commerce, private investment increased in industry,
agriculture, banking, and construction companies (Central Intelligence Agency,
2005). However, none of the First and Second Plan’s specific objectives mentioned

corporate governance.

The fifth plan (1990-95) emphasized consolidation of the country's defences;
improved and more efficient government social services; regional development; and
| creating greater private-sector employment opportunities for Saudis by reducing the
number of foreign workers (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 1990). The sixth plan (1996-
2000) focused on lowering the cost of government services without cutting them and
sought to expand educational training programs (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 1995).
The plan called for reducing the kingdom's dependence on the petroleum sector by
diversifying economic activity, particularly in the private sector, with special
emphasis on industry and agriculture (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 1995). These two
plans do begin indirectly to recognize the role of corporate governance in promoting
economic development; in particular, both sides of the market are explicitly

recognized in the justification for a standards system.

The seventh plan (2000-2005) focuses more on economic diversification and a
greater role for the private sector in the Saudi economy (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
2000). For the period 2000-05, the Saudi Government aims at an average GDP
growth rate of 3.16% each year, with projected growths of 5.04% for the private
sector and 4.01% for the non-oil sector. The government also has set a target of
creating 817,300 new jobs for Saudi nationals. The Seventh Development Plan
emphasizes the need to develop human resources. Development of the private sector
features strongly and privatization of the public sector, including airlines,
telecommunications and electricity, is a high priority. The plan also acknowledges the
need for continuous expansion of the social and economic infrastructure, particularly
hospitals, schools and transport facilities, to meet growing demand. The Seventh

Development Plan also calls for development of the stock market. At present it is an
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over-the-counter, highly regulated market connected to an Electronic Share
Information System (ESIS) that offers centralized trading and information through the
commercial banks (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 2000).

Thus, whilst the Kingdom’s development plans do mention, indirectly,
corporate governance issues, there is often little more than a nod in their direction.
Certainly, there does not seem to be a clear notice of what corporate governance

might be about.
3.3. SAUDI ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The Saudi Economy is an oil-based one. The commercial oil exploitation
began after World War II. Saudi Arabia has the world’s largest oil reserves, 25 per
cent of the world’s total (Ward, 2002). Oil revenues allowed successive governments
to develop the Kingdom’s infrastructure, agriculture and industry. Saudi Arabia's
huge oil reserves and mineral resources, expanding domestic market, liberal labor
policies, increasing number of privatization targets and generous package of
investment incentives make it one of the best investment locations in the Middle East

(Al-Sayari, 2003).

The Gulf War in 1990-1991 resulted in a substantial increase in defence-
related spending, which, in turn, increased economic activity and spurred an increase
in investment in local industry. In this period, the Kingdom moved, in some cases
assisted by government subsidies, towards self-reliance in agricultural and dairy
products, household goods and furnishings, construction materials, pharmaceuticals

and a growing list of appliances and electronic components.

From 1993 to 1995, another downturn in the oil market, government budgeted
expenditure was reduced by approximately 24 per cent from $52 billion to around
$40 billion (Samba Financial Group, 2002). The Gulf War period had resulted in
substantial budget deficits, as had the mid-to-late 1980s, so that by 1995 significant
fiscal imbalances were starting to appear, particularly an increasing debt burden,
albeit all domestic. This resulted in the austerity budgets of 1994 and 1995. In 1996,
the recently appointed cabinet embarked on a multi-year program of improved fiscal

discipline aimed at gradual elimination of deficits, privatization, and turning to the
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private sector as the engine of future growth. In the mid-1990s the maturing of the
baby boom that began in the early 1970s raised the problem of emerging
unemployment among Saudi youth to a high priority of economic policy. The
government was on a path to achieve its fiscal goals in 1996 and 1997, as revenues
increased and spending was constrained. The oil price recovery beginning in the
second quarter of 1999 allowed the government to improve its fiscal performance
(Table 3-1).

The Kingdom also has stressed the development of non-oil industries and
offered incentives to businesses to initiate industrial activities. According to the
Ministry of Industry, in 1980, Saudi Arabia had 730 industrial plants with total
invested capital of $6.3 billion (Samba Financial Group, 2004b). At year-end 2000,
the number of plants had grown to 4,836 with total invested capital of $71.9 billion.
These included over 400 joint ventures with foreign companies. The government has
sought to encourage foreign investment in Saudi Arabia. There are no foreign
exchange controls and the Saudi riyal has been pegged to the U.S. dollar at a rate of
3.75 riyals to the dollar since 1986 (Samba Financial Group, 2002). A new foreign
direct investment law was issued in April 2000 which reduced tax rates on foreign
owners’ corporate profits from maximum 45 per cent to maximum 30 per cent,
allowed foreigners to own land where they do business and sponsor their own foreign
employees, and gave access to other incentives, such as low-cost financing,

previously available only to majority Saudi-owned entities (Samba Financial Group,

2000).

Saudi Arabia is a founding member of the Organization of Petroleum
Exporting Countries (OPEC), which was established in 1960 to coordinate the
petroleum-related policies of the member petroleum exporting countries. Saudi
Arabia restrains its crude oil output under the current OPEC crude oil production
quota, which is 7 million barrels per day for Saudi Arabia in 2002. A 2004 average oil
price for Saudi oil of $41.33 per barrel (Table 3-1) and average production of 10.4
million barrel per day would satisfy the budget revenue projection (Samba Financial

Group, 2004a; and Energy Administration Information, 2005b).
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Table 3-1 Saudi Arabia Key Economic Data
(billion US$ unless noted otherwise)

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004  2005f¢

Nominal GDP 145.77 160.96 188.44 183.01 188.53 212.53 248.48 229.87
% Change -11.5 10.4 17.1 -2.9 3.0 12.7 16.9 -7.5
Real GDP (%Change) 2.80 -0.80 4.90 1.20 0.74 6.40 5.30 4.25
oil 3.20 -7.50 6.90 -1.20  -5.00 14.30 5.90 2.00
Non-Oil 2.60 4.20 4.30 3.50 4.20 3.40 5.70 6.00
Government 1.90 0.90 3.20 1.70 1.00 1.50 4.00 4.00

Unemployment (Males)
(% of Saudi labor force) N/A 6.66 6.54 6.82 7.57 8.20 8.50 8.80

Population (Million) 19.40 19.89 2085 21.44 22.04 2267 2330 24.01
Saudi 14.45 14.87 1559  16.03 16.49 1696 17.50 18.06
Non-Saudi 4.96 5.02 5.26 5.40 5.55 5.71 5.80 5.95
GDP/Capita 7,513 8,092 9,038 8,538 8553 9,375 10,664 9,574

Oil Price ($/barrel)
West Texas Intermediate 14.00 19.62 30.61 25.76  26.57 29.00 41.33 35.00

Saudi Average 11.30 16.88 26.81 21.84 2372 2700 35.17 30.00
Current Account -13.15 04! 14.32 9.36 11.87 2966 51.50 30.70
As percent of GDP -9.02 0.26 7.60 5.11 6.30 1396 2073  13.36
Government Budget -1292  -9.70 6.06 -7.19 -5.47 9.60 26.13 2.00
Balance

Revenues 3776 3932 6882 60.84 56.80 78.13 104.80 86.00
Expenditures 50.68 49.02 6275 68.04 6227 6853 68.67 84.00
Budget balance as -8.9 -6.0 32 -3.9 2.9 4.5 10.5 0.9
percent of GDP

Government Domestic 169.01 166.67 16427 170.67 176 176 163.73  161.07
Debt

As percent of GDP 116 119 87 93 93 83 66 70
Official Foreign Assets 7834 6935 7345 82.18 7730 9500 128.00 132.50
Central Bank 46.63 39.01 4070 48.28 41.70  57.00 88.00  90.00
Government Pension 31.71 30.34 3275  33.90 3560 38.00  40.00 42.5
Funds

Cost of Living (% -0.20 -1.20 -1.00 -.080 -0.40 0.50 0.20 0.40
Change)

Source: Samba Financial Group (2005)

Ali Al-Naimi, the Minister of Petroleum and Mineral Resources in Saudi
Arabia, (1999) said that it costs Saudi Arabia less than 10 cents per barrel to discover
new reserves (Al-Naimi, 1999). Saudi Arabia currently sells 5 grades of crude oil to
the international markets—Arab Heavy, Arab Medium, Arab Light, Arab Extra Light,
and Arab Super Light (Croft, 2005). Energy Administration Information (2005b:

Saudi Arabian Section) stated,
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Saudi Arabia ranks as the first or second largest crude oil producer in the world, and is
a leader in OPEC's production quota decisions. As such, Saudi Arabia was a critically
important player behind the oil price collapse of late 1997 through early 1999, and also in
actions taken by world oil producers which have led to a tripling in oil prices by the fall of
2000. During 2004, Saudi Arabia produced an estimated 10.4 million bbl/d of oil (32% of
total OPEC oil production), with net export of around 8.7 million bbl/d (the comparable
figures for 2003 as a whole were 9.9 million bbl/d and 8.3 million bbl/d, respectively).

Oil and gas exploration and production, refining, marketing and distribution
are managed within the Kingdom by Saudi Aramco. Under an agreement reached in
1978, the Saudi Arabian Government purchased the holdings of the foreign
shareholders in what was then Aramco and the company was reorganized as Saudi
Aramco (Samba Financial Group, 2002). Overseas, Saudi Aramco has invested in oil
refining and distribution companies so that it can capture downstream profits as well.
The Kingdom’s long-term objective is to shift the domestic uses of energy from oil to
gas, thereby freeing more oil production for export. In this regard, the Kingdom has
invited foreign oil companies to develop gas in the kingdom for domestic use. This
"Gas Initiative" is at an advanced stage of negotiation, and initial development

activities began in 2003 (Samba Financial Group, 2002).

Oil is still the anchor of the Saudi economy, and the Kingdom earned $106
billion in oil export revenues in 2004, the highest in its history, and well above the
average of $69 billion for the previous S years. This resulted in a current account

surplus of $51.5 billion, and a fiscal surplus of $26.1 billion (SAMBA, 2005).

Continued strength in the global economy in 2005, and thus in oil demand growth, as
well as continued tension in major oil producing countries, such as Iraq and Russia, portend
another good year for Saudi oil revenues. We believe prices for Saudi oil will average $30 per
barrel for the year, and production will decline modestly from the 9 million b/d average of
2004, resulting in lower, but still strong, oil export revenues of $90 billion for Saudi Arabia in
2005. This will again be well above the conservative forecast to meet the Kingdom’s 2005
budget, which we estimate was $25 per barrel, and likely result in fiscal and current account

surpluses, more government debt relief, and further build-up of government reserves
(SAMBA, 2005: p.4).
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3.3.1. Private Sector

During the last decade of the 20th century, the private sector contributed more
to the country’s economy than did the oil sector. In fact, the private sector constituted
42 per cent of the country’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP) for 1999, which
amounted to US$139 billion (Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia in London, 2003).

The Saudi Arabian Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC) allows for private
businesses to develop and contribute to the economy. SABIC is said to be the
“backbone of Saudi Arabia’s successful industrialization”. By 1999, it had 15 major
plants operating in Jubail, Yanbu and Jeddah, with an annual production of 25.5
million metric tons of chemicals, polymers, plastics, industrial gases, fertilizers, steel
and other metals. Other SABIC products are used as feedstock by secondary and
support industries to produce consumer goods (Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia in
London, 2003).

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia follows a free trade policy, believing that such
a policy and the competition it encourages is the most effective way of utilizing
resources efficiently, of employing those resources to meet the changing needs of
society, and of providing consumers with the greatest degree of choice. This policy
has lead the Government to encourage the private sector of the economy to become as
efficient and competitive as possible. Fledgling Saudi industries need help (in the
form of grants, soft loans, or, in some instances, even protective tariffs), but the
longer-term aim is to generate a private industrial sector capable of facing local and
fair foreign competition, of meeting the Kingdom’s own industrial needs as far as

practical and, indeed, of exporting Saudi goods to other Arab States and beyond.

The investment environment in the Kingdom reflects traditions of liberal and
open markets and private-enterprise-friendly policies (Al-Sayari, 2003). Saudi
Arabia’s leadership is moving towards establishing a free market economy. Although
parastatals still dominate the economic output, there has been decisive movement by
the Crown Prince to open up the economy to foreign investment and level the playing

field for foreign investors.
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As part of this economic strategy, the Government is progressively privatising
public organizations, encouraging both domestic and foreign investment in the
Kingdom’s industrial sector. The clearest indication of the Kingdom’s future policies
for the private sector is provided by the Seventh Development Plan (Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia, 1970, 1975, 1980, 1985, 1990, 1995, and 2000).

To stimulate private sector growth, the Saudi government has established a

number of institutions including (Al-Sayari, 2003):

¢ the Supreme Economic Council;

o the Supreme Council for Petroleum and Mineral Resources;
o the Saudi Arabian General Investment Authority;

o the Supreme Commission for Tourism;

e Human Resources Development Fund; and

e the Supreme Council for Human Resources.

Furthermore, a number of new laws and regulatory guidelines has been enacted
to speed up economic liberalization aimed at further opening Saudi markets and
ensuring stability for investors. The Foreign Investment Law (2000) allows foreigners
to invest in most sectors of the economy. It also allows foreign investors and their
non-Saudi staff to be sponsored by the licensed facility, and entitles foreign investors

to up to 100% ownership.

Realizing the importance of privatisation, Saudi Arabia issued the Cabinet
Decree No. 60 on 1/4/1418H (5/8/1997) to ensure a continued increase in the share of
the private sector and its expanded participation in the national economy. The Decree
established eight objectives of privatisation in Saudi Arabia and the principles to be
taken into account in order to achieve these objectives (the objectives are translated
into English: see U.S.-Saudi Arabian Business Council, 2003b). The government's
privatisation plans include identification of a host of economic sectors to be opened
for privatisation, such as telecommunications, electricity, airlines, postal services,
railways, port services and water utility. This was reinforced in 2002 with a further
announcement which confirmed an Initial Public Offering for Saudi Telecom. The
general objectives and strategic principles of the Seventh Development Plan, issued

by Cabinet Decree No. 58 in 2000 (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 2000) defined the
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eighth privatisation objective as “increasing the participation of the private sector in
activities related to economic and social development” (Third, Seventh and Eighth

Basic Principle of Seventh Development Plan, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 2000).

The private sector will benefit from privatisation in several ways (U.S.-Saudi

Arabian Business Council, 2003b):

o for a start it will become bigger, as a result of the transfer from public to
private;

o the efficiency and service gains will benefit the private sector, in lowering
its costs and thereby improving its overall competitiveness;

e the addition of large professionally run private sector entities will help
improve the overall corporate governance climate; and

e the attendant liberalization measures will create new private sector business

opportunities.
3.3.2. Saudi Financial Sector

Saudi Arabia has established a sound regulatory and financial infrastructure
based on financial standards and payment systems equivalent to those in major
industrial countries. The result is a strong banking sector that benefits from strong
management and the most sophisticated technologies. The reliability of this financial

infrastructure makes the Kingdom an attractive destination for foreign investment.

The financial system in Saudi Arabia consists of the central bank (Saudi
Arabian Monetary Agency ‘SAMA’), the commercial banks, the specialized credit
institutions and the stock market. Banking is regulated under the Banking Control
Law issued by royal decree in 1966 (Saudi Arabia General Investment Authority,
2005). The Council of Ministers issues licences for the establishment of banks, based

on recommendations from the Minister of Finance after review by the central bank.
3.3.2.1. The Central Bank (Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency)

The Kingdom’s central bank is the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA),

which stands at the apex of the financial system. It acts as the government’s bank,
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regulates and monitors commercial banks and manages the Kingdom’s foreign assets.
SAMA executes the Kingdom’s monetary policy and issues the country’s currency.
SAMA and the banks have invested substantial resources in upgrading the Kingdom’s
banking technology to cover a wide range of items such as ATMs, electronic clearing
and share trading. The Electronic Funds Transfer System provides considerable
advantages for banks and their customers, permitting direct transfers of payments
through an instantaneous, safe and accurate payments mechanism. The electronic
connection among the settlement systems, the payments network and the share
trading system 1s among the most modern in the world (Nova Stars Information

Services, 1998). SAMA is a member of the Bank for International Settlements.
3.3.2.2. The Commercial Banks

The Saudi banking industry remains a consistently strong sector of the
Kingdom’s economy. There are 14 licensed commercial banks (Table 3-2) in Saudi

Arabia (the U.S.-Saudi Arabia Business Council, 2003a).

The banking structure in Saudi Arabia is based on branch banking, with 1,201
commercial bank branches in the Kingdom (Al-Jasser, 2003). The expansion of
branch networks has been encouraged as the economy has grown. The last ten years
have seen substantial growth in Saudi Arabia’s domestic banking business in terms of
products, services, technological sophistication, capitalization, and earnings. Banks in
Saudi Arabia have already started to take advantage of the increased opportunities
associated with the Internet by setting up e-commerce programs (Jasimuddin, 2001).
They are relying on e-commerce for strategies to enhance customer services and
convenience for clients. The potential for on-line billing and business-to-business

markets is developing rapidly in the Kingdom.
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Table 3-2 Commercial Banks in Saudi Arabia

Classification Name of Bank

Saudi Banks Al-Rajhi Banking and Investment Corporation
Arab National Bank
Bank Al-Jazira
Banque Saudi Fransi
National Commercial Bank
Riyad Bank
Saudi American Bank
The Saudi British Bank
Saudi Hollandi Bank

Saudi Investment Bank

Foreign Banks Licensed and Gulf International Bank

Operating

Foreign Banks Licensed but not Emirates Bank International
yet Operating as of January 2004  National Bank of Kuwait
National Bank of Bahrain

3.3.2.3. The Specialized Funds

In addition to commercial banks, there are several domestic specialized credit
institutions which disburse loans and advances to Saudi individuals and companies
world-wide (Samba Financial Group, 2002; and Nova Stars Information Services,

1998). Those institutions are:

e Saudi Arabian Agricultural Bank
e Public Investment Fund

¢ Real Estate Development Fund

e Saudi Credit Bank

e Saudi Industrial Development Fund

Total disbursements by these institutions from their inception through 2003
exceeded $81 billion. Total assets increased by 6.3 percent over 2002 to $65.2 billion

in 2003. Actual loan disbursements from the five institutions in 2003 amounted to
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$1.6 billion, with loan repayments at $1.3 billion. At the end of 2003, total
outstanding loans from the institutions stood at $40.9 billion, a 1.1 percent rise over

2002 (the U.S.-Saudi Arabia Business Council, 2003a).
3.3.3. Saudi Corporate (Joint Stock) Sector

The history of the Saudi joint stock companies may be traced to the 1930's
when the first joint stock company, the Arab Automobile Company, was established
in 1934 (see the Committee on Payment and Settlement Systems, 2003). In 1954, the
Arabian Cement Company went public and was followed by the privatization of three
electricity companies. In response to the needs of the economic development of that
period, more joint stock companies were established. By 1975 there were 14 public
companies. The rapid economic expansion and Saudi-isation of foreign banks in the
1970s led to the establishment of a number of large corporations and joint venture
banks. Major share offerings were made to the public during this period (see the

Committee on Payment and Settlement Systems, 2003).

In 1985, the Saudi government placed all stock trading under the supervision
and control of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA) and discontinued the
existing broker-based stock trading system (Al-Jasser, 2003). The government then
authorized the domestic commercial banks to act as brokers in order to protect the
market against the adverse effects of speculation and to help it develop and mature
(Al-Jasser, 2003). This was also done so that the stock market could develop in a
manner that would contribute to national development and was consistent with its

policy of greater private sector participation.

The Saudi Share Market Index was included for the first time in 1998 as part
of the emerging stock markets database supervised by the International Finance
Corporation (IFC) of the World Bank (the U.S.-Saudi Arabia Business Council,
2003a). This supervision indicates the IFC's recognition of the importance of the
Saudi Share Market, which occupies an advanced position amongst new markets in
many important indicators, including market value, the daily average of shares value,
and the price percentage of the annual profit. Saudi banks managed 138 investment

portfolios valued at US$13.4 billion in 2001. Domestic investments made up 60.1
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percent of the investment funds, or $8.1 billion in 2001, an 83.5 percent increase from

2000 (the U.S.-Saudi Arabia Business Council, 2003a).

The Kingdom’s share market has improved considerably since 1999, showing
a 72 per cent growth in the three-year period between 1999 and 2001 and performing
better than international and Middle East indices. The market rose 43 percent in 1999,
11.3 percent in 2000, 7.6 percent in 2001, 2.3 percent in 2002, and its largest ever
increase of 76.3 percent in 2003 (the U.S.-Saudi Arabia Business Council, 2003a).
The first half of 2004 has seen continued strong performance, showing a 29 percent

increase through June 2004 (Embassy of the United States of America, 2004).

There were 71 firms listed on the Tadawul as of May 2004. Saudi Arabia has
taken a major stride by providing the opportunity to non-Saudis to participate in the
stock market for the first time through the creation of an investment fund for Saudi
equities (UAE Interact, 1997). International investors have been approved to
participate in the Saudi stock market through mutual funds since 1997 (Royal
Embassy of Saudi Arabia in London, 2003). During 1999, investment in portfolios of
local stocks managed by Saudi Arabian banks were opened to non-Saudis, which

gave them even more channels to invest their savings.

With the opening of the Saudi shares market and an upswing in oil prices, the
total value of shares traded on the Saudi stock market increased dramatically. Market
capitalization has increased by 650.98% and the all share index has increased by
499.85% (Tadawul, 2004). Table 3-6 shows the Saudi share market statistical

summary.
3.3.3.1. Sectors Classification

The joint stock companies listed on the Saudi stock market are currently

categorized into the sectors shown in Table 3-3.
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Table 3-3 Joint Stock Companies in Saudi Arabia

SECTORS NUMBER OF COMPANIES
Banking 9

Industrial 25

Cement 8

Service 18

Electricity 1
Telecommunication 1

Agricultural 9

TOTAL 71

3.4. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REGULATORS IN SAUDI
ARABIA

Formation and operation of business firms and companies in Saudi Arabia is
regulated by the Companies Law’ promulgated by Royal Decree No. M/6 dated
22/03/1385 Hijri (July 22, 1965)*, Royal Decree No. M/S dated 12/02/1387 Hijri
(May 22, 1967) and Royal Decree No. M/23 dated 28/06/1402 Hijri (April 23, 1982)
amended the regulations for companies (Ministry of Commerce, 1965, 1967, 1982
and 1985). Corporate governance practices in Saudi Arabia are governed by four
bodies: the Ministry of Commerce, the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA),

the Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) and some professional bodies.

In 1984, a Ministerial Committee consisting of Ministry of Finance and
National Economy, Ministry of Commerce and the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency
(SAMA) was formed to regulate and develop the Saudi market. SAMA was
additionally charged with the day-to-day regulation of the market. With the aim of
improving the regulatory framework, share-trading intermediation was restricted to

commercial banks. In 1984, the Saudi Share Registration Company (SSRC) was

f Sometimes called the “Regulations for Companies”.
* Because the lunar year (Hijri) is slightly shorter than the solar year (Gregorian), there is an extra one
year every 33.7 years. It is thereby necessary to divide the Islamic lunar by 33.7 and subtract it from

that Islamic lunar date. Then add 622 (the year of the Hegira, Muhammad's flight from Mecca to
Medina in 622AD).
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established by the commercial banks. The company provides central registration
facilities for joint stock companies and settles and clears all equity transactions.

Automated clearing and settlement were introduced in 1989.
3.4.1. The Ministry of Commerce*

The Ministry of Commerce was established by the issuance of the Royal
Decrees No. 10/22/5/5703 dated 11-07-1373 Hijri (March 17, 1954) (Ministry of
Commerece, 1954). The Ministry of Commerce controls corporate governance and
the accounting profession in Saudi Arabia. To guide corporate governance, the
Ministry has issued the Saudi Arabian Auditing Standards and the Saudi Arabian
Standards of General Presentation and Disclosure (Al-Otaibi et al., 2003). The Saudi
Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA) has issued additional accounting standards for
banks.

The Ministry of Commerce is directly responsible for primary market
offerings and regulation and supervision of the joint stock companies and all
companies operating in Saudi Arabia (Ministry of Commerce, 2003b). The
Regulations for Companies (Companies Law, 1965), and its 1967, 1982, 1985, 1987,
1992a,b,c, 1998a,b,c, 1999, 2003a.b amendments, list business forms and structures,
of which joint stock companies and limited liability partnerships are the most
attractive to foreign investors, and regulate all forms of company in Saudi Arabia
(Ministry of Commerce, 1967, 1982, 1985, 1987, 1992a,b,c, 1998a,b,c, 1999, and
2003a.b).

Under Article 1 of the Regulations for Companies (Companies Law, 1965), a
company has been defined as a contract pursuant to which each of two or more
persons undertake to participate, in an enterprise aiming at profit, by offering in
specie or as work a share, for sharing in the profits or losses resulting from such
enterprise. Under Article 2, companies can take any of the following forms: General
Partnerships; Limited Partnerships; Joint Ventures; Joint Stock (Corporation);
Partnerships Limited by Shares; Limited Liability Partnerships; Variable Capital

Companies; and Cooperative Companies (Ministry of Commerce, 1965).

* Became the Ministry of Commerce & Industry in 2003,
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All companies in Saudi Arabia formed in accordance with the Regulations for
Companies (Companies Law, 1965) are required by the Ministry of Commerce to
comply with Saudi Arabian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. Such
companies are required to have their financial statements audited by an auditor
licensed in Saudi Arabia and to file annually with the Ministry of Commerce
(Ministry of Commerce, 1992d, 1994). The major accounting and auditing

regulations are contained in the:

e Regulations for Companies or Companies Law (Ministry of Commerce,
1965).

e Foreign Capital Investment Act (Ministry of Commerce, 1979).

e Zakat and Tax Regulations (Ministry of Finance, 1950).

e Standards and the Saudi Arabian Standards of General Presentation and
Disclosure (Ministry of Commerce, 1992d, 1994).

e Saudi Arabian Accounting Standards (SOCPA)

e Saudi Arabian Auditing Standards (Ministry of Commerce, 1992d, 1994;
SOCPA).

The Ministry of Commerce is very strict about the companies’ violations to
the Companies Law. Very strict punishments have been clarified in the Companies
Law (1965: 28) to those who convict breaches. However, no records of convicting
breaches of the Companies Law have been fount in either the Ministry of
Commerce’s website or in the Capital Market Authority’s website. The Enforcement
Department in the Capital Market Authority monitors compliance with the

Companies Law and investigates potential violations or breaches of the Law.

In 1985, the Ministry of Commerce financed a research project that resulted in
the publication of a two-volume book. The first volume was entitled “Accounting
Objectives and Concepts”, and the second volume was entitled “Auditing Standards”
(Al-Otaibi et al., 2003). In October 1993, the Saudi Organization of Certified Public
Accounting (SOCPA) gave their seal of approval to the two volumes (Saudi
Organization of Certified Public Accounting, 1994a,b,c,e,f).

The Ministry of Commerce has given the Saudi Organization of Certified

Public Accounting’s (SOCPA) board of directors the powers required for realizing
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the organization’s assigned objectives (the objectives are shown in section 3.4.4). The
Secretary General of SOCPA executes and follows up Board decisions. Technical
committees prepare general rules organizing the profession, including establishing
and developing accounting and auditing standards, professional ethics, organizing
SOCPA fellowship examination, practice-monitoring programs, etc. These
committees are formed from experts and members of high specialization; University
staff, practitioners from companies and government departments (Saudi Organization
of Certified Public Accounting, 1994a,b,c,d,e,f; 1997a,b,c,d,e). Table 3-4 shows the

names of committees concerned and their constitution.

Table 3-4 Committees Organizing the Profession*

T > g o
: S g g 5 -1

Name of Committee 2 =y S o o

=3 3 = 5 )

3 & S g
Accounting Standards 4 4 2 3 13
Auditing Standards 4 4 2 1 11
Professional Ethics 3 3 1 2 9
Examinations 3 4 - 1 8
Quality Review 4 3 - 2 9
Education and Training 3 3 1 1

Source: (Saudi Organization of Certified Public Accounting, 1994a,b,c,d,e,f; 1997a,b,c,d,€)

The Accounting Standards Committee conducted a comprehensive study on
the adequacy of the adopted International Accounting Standards and on previously
issued standards (see Table 3-5), which included the objectives and concepts of
financial accounting and presentation and a general disclosure standard. It also
determined the topics that are considered as significant to be covered by accounting
standards, and consequently commenced preparing twenty standards. SOCPA is also
working on the preparation of some other standards, such as: fixed assets, intangible
assets, accounting for operation and maintenance contracts, accounting for supply and
construction contracts, segment reporting, other than temporary impairment, equity
method, real estate, lease contracts, government grants and subsidies, employee

wages, share dividend, liabilities and contingencies and financial bonds (Ministry of

Chapter Three: Corporate Governance in Saudi Arabia 91



Commerce, 1992d, 1994; Saudi Organization of Certified Public Accounting, 1994a,
1997e).

The Auditing Standards Committee conducted a comprehensive study
covering previously issued auditing standards, which included: professional
qualification; integrity, objectivity and independence; due professional care; planning,
control and documentation; and evidences of auditing and reporting. The Committee
determined the topics for which auditing standards are to be issued. The following are
the issued standards: auditing in computer environment; study and assessment of
internal control for the purpose of auditing financial statements; special reporting;
interim reporting; audit risk and materiality; and attestation standards. The Committee
has also decided to start issuing the following standards: audit sampling; related
parties transactions; auditor’s responsibility to detect and report errors or
irregularities; internal auditing for the purpose of auditing financial statements;
prospective financial reporting; reports on processing information by service
organizations; analytical procedures; and client representations (Saudi Organization

of Certified Public Accounting, 1994b,c,e,f).
3.4.1.1. Commercial Registration

* The Statute of Commercial Registration System as contained in the Council of
Ministers Resolution No. 54 dated 29-04-1375 H. (December 14, 1955) and No.
112 dated 13/10/1375 H. (May 24, 1956) requires every industrial or commercial
establishment, local and foreign, to be registered with the commercial registration
offices of the Ministry of Commerce established in all the major towns of the

kingdom (Saudi Commercial Office, 2004).

According to the Ministry of Commerce there were 10,000 companies in
Saudi Arabia by the end of 2000 with an estimated capital of SR 169.3 billion
(US$45.2 billion). Of these, 116 were public incorporated companies (69 registered
only) with an estimated capital of SR 87 billion (US$23.2 billion), and 6,238
companies were limited liability companies with a total capital of SR 67.6 billion
(US$18 billion). Of the later, 4,980 companies were fully owned by Saudi nationals,
141 companies were joint ventures and 117 Saudi companies were financed by

foreign capital (Saudi Arabian General Investment Authority, 2000).
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3.4.2. Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency

The Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA), the central bank of the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, was established in 1952. According to Article 1 of the
SAMA’s Charter (1957) issued by Royal Decree No.23 dated 23-5-1377 (December
16, 1957), the objectives of SAMA include the following (SAMA, 1957):

o to issue and strengthen the Saudi currency and to stabilise its internal and external
value;
e to deal with the banking affairs of the government; and,

e to regulate commercial banks and exchange dealers.

A subsequent Royal Decree in 1957 extended SAMA's objectives to
regulating exchange dealers and managing the country's official foreign exchange
reserves. In 1959 a Currency Law was issued which conferred on SAMA the sole
privilege of minting, printing and issuance of the Saudi currency as determined by the

Council of Ministers (Al-Sayari, 2002).

The Banking Control Law of 1966, issued by Royal Decree No. M/S dated 22-
2-1386 (June 12, 1966), gives SAMA broad powers to regulate and supervise Saudi
banks and to safeguard the banking system (SAMA, 1966). It defines banking
business, confers licensing power, determines capital adequacy, prescribes reserve
requirements, grants authority to formulate credit policy and deals with the usual
banking supervisory issues. These include conferral of enabling powers to issue rules
and guidelines to banks and to lay down conditions for certain actions and
transactions. Consequently, the Agency can issue rules and guidelines for any new
type of banking transaction or product, including payment cards, ATMs and
EFTPOS. It is by judicious exercise of these regulatory powers that SAMA has
sought to develop the payment and settlement services in the country with the full

participation of the banks (Committee on Payment and Settlement Systems, 2003).

SAMA plays an active role in the development of corporate governance in
Saudi Arabia, especially for the financial sector. To support the issuance and trading
of the shares of Saudi joint stock companies and the development of brokerage and

investment management services by the commercial banks, SAMA, in 1990, created
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an electronic screen-based trading and integrated settlement system (the Electronic
Securities and Information System, ESIS). During 2001, SAMA upgraded its ESIS to
a new internet-based system, Tadawul. Tadawul (an Arabic word meaning
“exchange”) provides a continuous, order-driven market, with up-to-the-minute price,
volume and company information. It concentrates all local equity trading into a single
market. Transfer of ownership occurs immediately after matching of buy-and-sell
orders and all trades are settled on the day of execution. All brokerage services are
provided through the commercial banks (Committee on Payment and Settlement

Systems, 2003).

Since the SAMA’s third and main objective is to regulate the commercial
banks operating in Saudi Arabia, SAMA has issued a series of directives to the banks
with regard to corporate governance. In 1982, SAMA issued a “Clarifying
Memorandum on Powers and Responsibilities of Members of the Board of Directors
of Saudi Commercial Banks” and in 1988, SAMA issued guidance on “Internal
Controls in Commercial Banks”. In 1990, SAMA issued “Accounting Standards for
Commercial Banks in Saudi Arabia”. SAMA also issued detailed guidance to the
Banks in 1994 on the “Role of the Audit Committees” to support the legislation for
all corporations to form audit committees. In 1996, SAMA issued rules on “Special
Examinations”, and subsequently conducted such inspections in all banks. These rules
and regulations taken together provide a strong infrastructure for corporate

governance in the Saudi banking system (Al-Sayari, 2002).

The Charter of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA, 1957) and the
Banking Control Law (SAMA, 1966) empowers the SAMA to issue rules and
regulations to Saudi banks, for achieving national policy objectives and for
safeguarding the soundness of corporate governance of the banking system in Saudi
Arabia. In this context, the Banking Control Law specifies rules relating to capital
adequacy, liquidity, legal reserves, loan concentration, prudential returns, reserves
with SAMA, etc. Furthermore, Article 16 of the Banking Control Law permits the
Agency to issue general rules regarding lending policies, collaterals, and various
banking transactions (SAMA, 1966). Over the years, the Agency has issued many
rules and regulations relating to provisioning, dividends policy, mutual funds, etc.

(SAMA, 1990).
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The SAMA forces the board of directors of all banks operating in Saudi
Arabia to pass a resolution to establish a committee of the board to be known as the
audit committee. Members of the audit committee must be appointed by the board of
directors for a period of three years. The committee must comprise at least three and
no more than five independent members. The appointment of all members of the
committee will be cleared with SAMA. Members of the committee should have a
sound knowledge of business, objectivity, good judgment, combined with knowledge
of financial reporting, accounting, and auditing of banks. In addition to the audit
committee members, financial controllers, chief accountants, head of accounts, head
of internal audit, representative from external auditors shall normally attend meetings.
The committee shall meet at least three but possibly more times a year contingent

upon the specific circumstances (SAMA, 1994).

3.4.3. Saudi Stock Market

On November 23, 1984, Royal Decree No. 1230/8 was issued to establish the
Saudi Share Registration Company (SSRC), which was to be sponsored by local
commercial banks under the supervision of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency
(SAMA) (Almossawi, 2004). The SSRC is currently in charge of managing the
records of shareholders and share certificates, as well as providing support facilities
for transactions and transferring and registering ownership of transactions
automatically. This was the beginning of a new era for establishing a specific

regulatory system for electronic share trading (Almossawi, 2004).

The existing stock trading system in the Kingdom — the Electronic Securities
Information System (ESIS) — was introduced to the Saudi market gradually in the
second half of 1990. It is an electronic screen-based system using a central host
computer in the SAMA head office in Riyadh, the capital city (U.S.-Saudi Arabian
Business Council, 2003a). The system is connected to many trading lounges of local
banks in the Kingdom. Banks are not, however, allowed to buy and sell stocks for
their own accounts or maintain inventory for trading purposes. ESIS trading ensures
the following: information transparency, fairness, narrow price spreads, efficient
trading cycles, liquidity, control and security (Committee on Payment and Settlement

Systems, 2003).
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The Saudi Stock Market began to emerge in the late 1970's when the number
of joint stock companies increased considerably. The government nationalized
(Saudi-ised) foreign banks and their shares were offered to Saudi nationals. This
contributed to the increase of shares available to the public and the need for share
trading. However, due to the lack of trading regulation at the time, stock trading was
fairly limited through the early 1980's when oil prices were increasing which, in turn,

resulted in an increase in both volume of trading and market capitalization.

In July 2003, the Saudi Cabinet approved a new Capital Markets Law (Saudi
Arabian General Investment Authority, 2003). The law is a milestone for economic
liberalization in the Kingdom and is expected to provide a legal and regulatory
framework for all capital-related activities, such as securities trading. It is also
expected to increase transparency and accountability and attract foreign investment.
According to this law, all rights and assets of the current stock exchange and the
Saudi Company for Stock Registration would be transferred to the capital market and
a new body called the Capital Market Authority (CMA), which was created by Royal
Decree No. (M/30) dated 2-6-1424 H. (June 16, 2003). A new stock market named
the Saudi Capital Market ‘Tadawul’ will be established in the form of a joint-stock
company to manage and facilitate stock exchange activities and set out and execute

the criteria for middlemen and agents (Khayyat, 2003).

The Capital Market Authority (CMA) functions are to regulate and develop
the Saudi Arabian Capital Market. It issues the required rules and regulations for the
implementation of the provisions of Capital Market Law aimed at creating an
appropriate investment environment. The CMA enjoys authority to: regulate and
develop the capital market; protect investors and the general public from unfair and
unsound practices involving fraud, deceit, cheating, manipulation and insider trading;
chieve fairness, efficiency and transparency in securities transactions; develop
measures to reduce the risks pertaining to securities transactions; develop, regulate
and monitor the issuance and trading in securities; regulate and monitor the activities
of entities subject to the control of the CMA; regulate and monitor full disclosure of
information related to securities and their issuers; and regulate proxy and purchase

requests and public share offerings (Capital Market Authority, 2004).
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Article 20 of the Capital Markets Law (Saudi Arabian General Investment
Authority, 2003: p.10) stated:

A market is to be established in the Kingdom for trading in securities and it will be called
the "Securities and Exchange", having a legal status of a joint-stock company in pursuance
of the provisions of this Law. This Exchange will be the sole entity authorized to operate in

trading of securities in the Kingdom.
The purposes of the Exchange include,

o ensuring fair, efficient and transparent listing requirements, trading rules and technical

mechanisms and information for securities listed on the Exchange;

e providing through its Share Deposit Center reliable and rapid settlement and clearance

procedures;

e establishing and enforcing professional standards for its brokers and their agents; and

e assuring the financial strength of its brokers through establishing and periodically
reviewing compliance with its capital adequacy requirements, including such arrangements

as it believes appropriate to protect the funds and securities in the custody of brokers.

3.4.4. Professional Bodies

There are some other regulators for corporate governance in Saudi Arabia, the
professional bodies. The professional bodies are those in charge of organizing and
regulating the accounting and the auditing professions in the Kingdom. Accountants,
auditors, legal consultants and all other professional bodies must be licensed by the

Ministry of Commerce.

The Companies Law (1965) required companies to prepare financial
statements to be audited by a licensed auditor. The Law also included provisions that
govern the assignment of a CPA and a definition of the scope of his responsibilities.
In 1968, a new law specified certain requirements that should be complied with in
order to practise accounting and auditing in Saudi Arabia. In 1974, the Ministry of
Commerce issued the CPA Regulations, which was the first step to organize the
profession in the Kingdom. A higher committee for certified public accounting was
established, in accordance with the Regulation, to supervise and monitor the

profession (Saudi Organisation for Certified Public Accountants, 1994a, 1994b, and
1994c).
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In 1981, King Saud University commenced a series of symposiums about
accounting development methods in Saudi Arabia, in order to reach suitable
recommendations for resolving any obstacles that may hinder the development of the
profession. In 1981, the Academic Board allowed King Saud University to establish
the first accounting and auditing professional body in Saudi Arabia, the Saudi
Accounting Association. The purpose of the Association is to promote accountancy

thoughts, exchange of ideas, consultation and conducting studies (El-Saqa, 1997).

In 1992, the second professional body, Saudi Organization for Certified Public
Accounting “SOCPA”, was established by the Royal Decree No. M/12 (Ministry of
Commerce, 1992; SOCPA, 1994a,b,c,d). Article (19) mentioned that an Organization
shall be established under the name of (Saudi Organization for Certified Public
Accounting “SOCPA”). It shall operate under the supervision of the Ministry of
Commerce in order to promote the accounting and auditing professions and all
matters that might lead to the development of the profession and improve its status.
Following is an executive summary of the SOCPA objectives and the standards
issued by them (Table 3-5) (Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants,
1994 a, b, ¢, and d).

« Review, develop and approve accounting standards.

+ Review, develop and approve auditing standards.

« Establish the necessary rules for fellowship certificate examination (CPA exam.)
including professional, practical and scientific aspects of audit profession and
applicable regulations.

» Organize continuous education programs.

« Establish an appropriate quality review program in order to ensure that Certified
Public Accountants implement professional standards and comply with the
provisions of Certified Public Accountants Regulations and relevant by-laws.

 Conduct special research work and studies covering accounting, auditing and
other related subjects.

o Publish periodicals, books and bulletins covering accountancy and audit related
subjects.

¢ Participate in local and international committees and symposiums relating to the

profession of accounting and auditing.
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Table 3-5 The Standards Issued by the SOCPA

Standard No.  Standard Name Date of Issue

1 Presentation and general disclosure 1990 (amended
1996)

2 Foreign currency 1997

3 Inventory 1997

4 Related parties’ transactions 1997

5 Consolidation and mergers 1997

6 Revenue recognition 1998

7 General and administrative expenses, and sale 1998

and distribution expenses.

Research and development expenses 1998
9 Investment in equity securities 1998
10 Interim reports 1999
11 Zakat and income tax 1999

Source: SOCPA

3.5. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DEVELOPMENTS IN SAUDI

The improvements in the Saudi economy (Section 3.2) have brought about a
corresponding need to enhance the accountability of the managers of companies in
Saudi Arabia with the need to adopt good corporate governance. A direct
consequence of this is the initiation of this study in corporate governance in Saudi

Arabia that may lead to the implementation of domestic codes in Saudi Arabia.

The assessment of corporate governance is the outcome of the assessment of
the four corporate governance legs (mechanisms), namely: shareholder rights; board
of directors; audit committee and internal audit; and disclosure and transparency, and
testing the intensity of adoption of these mechanisms in the Saudi publicly traded
(joint stock) corporations. Therefore, the author intends to describe and develop the

situation and real practices of corporate governance in Saudi Arabia. The rules
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governing each mechanism of the four corporate governance mechanisms in Saudi

Arabia are covered in this section.

Accounting practices in Saudi Arabia are regulated by three laws: the

Companies Law, Accountancy Law and Income Tax and Zakat Law (Naser et al.,

2003). Naser et al. (2003: p.43-44) stated:

The Company Law, the primary authoritative reference for professional accounting
practice, includes some accounting guidelines. It determines the legal basis for companies and
accountants and its articles deal with the fundamental details of formation, such as
registration procedures, minimum capital required number of partners, number of directors,
and other related matters. Article 38, for example, asks the board of directors to prepare a
balance sheet for every financial year, a profit and loss account, and a report on the
company's operations and financial position. It also provides some guidance on auditing and

accounting measurement and procedures.

The Accountancy Law was enacted by Royal Decree No. 43 (1974) and was the first to
regulate the accounting profession in Saudi Arabia. It is still in effect and sets the standards
that should be followed by auditors. It consists of 35 articles, which establish the fundamental
requirements of practicing accounting services such as registration procedures and fees,
qualifications, the responsibilities of the auditor, violation and trial proceedings, and other

related issues.

During the past decade, the Ministry of Commerce realized there was an urgent need to
update the 1974 Accountancy Law. Accordingly, a new law was enacted by Royal Decree
Number 12/M on 13.5.1412 H (1991). This law comprises the following: conditions for
registration; registration procedures; the obligations of a chartered accountant; and the

establishment of the Saudi Public Accountants' Committee.

The Income Tax and Zakat Law was first introduced in Saudi Arabia by Royal Decree
No. 17/2/28/3321, dated 21.1.1370H (1950), and has been amended several times. Zakat is a
religious duty (tax), in accordance with [slamic Law, charged to Saudi citizens, wholly Saudi-
owned companies, and the Saudi portion of profit of companies owned jointly with
foreigners. The Zakat is imposed on capital and earnings: all profits, gains, and proceeds from

business, industry acquisitions of whatever kind or description, including financial and

commercial transactions, and dividends, crops, and livestock.
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3.5.1. Shareholder Rights in Saudi Arabia

Trading in shares in Saudi Arabia commenced in 1934 when the first
corporation was established in the country. The number of corporations until the early
1970s was only 14. However, as a result of the dramatic increase in oil prices during
the 1970s, the number of companies listed on the Saudi stock exchange increased
rapidly, reaching 73 companies by 1999 with a market capitalization of almost US$44
billion (Emerging Stock Markets Factbook, 2000; Committee on Payment and
Settlement Systems, 2003). The corporations (joint stock companies) in Saudi Arabia

are the targeted sample of this thesis.

A joint stock company in Saudi Arabia is a common type of company where
shareholders have limited liability and shares are freely transferable. The company is
organized around two main institutional bodies: the shareholders and the board of
directors. The board oversees the management of the company, and its members are
elected by shareholders who meet in general meetings. A joint stock company is
owned by five or more individuals or entities. Capital is apportioned into negotiable
shares of an equal amount, and shareholders are liable only to the extent of the value
of their holdings. The minimum capital requirement is two million Saudi Riyals (SR)
(US$533,334) or no less than ten million SR (US$2,666,667) if its shares are offered
for public subscription. The par value of each share cannot be less than SR 50
(US$13.3), and upon incorporation, its issued paid-up capital must be no less than
one-half of the authorized capital. Prospective joint stock companies involving
businesses such as minerals exploitation, administration of public utilities, banking

and finance require authorization by Royal Decree prior to incorporation (Info-Prod

Research, 1999).

Since the regulation of share trading through commercial banks in 1985, the
share market has witnessed significant growth (Table 3-6). Over the period from 1985
to the end of 2004, the number of shares traded has increased by more than 257,450
(10,298/4) per cent and the value traded has gone up by 233,464 (473,029/202.67) per
cent. The market value of shares has risen by 1,712 per cent and the general share

price index increased to 8,206.23. Over 2.4 million individuals have invested in the
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shares of Saudi joint-stock companies, that is over 10 percent (see Table 3-1) of the

Saudi citizens.

Table 3-6 Share Market Indicators in Saudi Arabia*

End of Number of Value of Market Number of General

period shares shares value of  transactions Index
traded traded shares (1985 =
Million Million Billion US$ 1000)
USS
1985 4 202.67 17.87 7,842 690.88
1986 S 221.60 16.80 10,833 646.03
1987 12 449.60 19.47 23,267 780.64
1988 15 543.20 22.93 41,960 892.00
1989 15 897.07 28.53 110,030 1,086.83
1990 17 1,174.13 25.87 85,298 979.80
1991 31 2,273.87 48.27 90,559 1,765.24
1992 35 3,653.07 54.93 272,075 1,888.65
1993 60 4,629.33 52.80 319,582 1,793.30
1994 152 6,632.27 38.67 357,180 1,282.90
1995 117 6,193.87 40.80 291,742 1,367.60
1996 138 6,772.53 45.87 283,759 1,531.00
1997 312 16,549.33 59.47 460,056 1,957.80
1998 293 13,736.00 42.67 376,617 1,413,10
1999 528 15,087.47 61.07 438,226 2,028.53
2000 555 17,411.20 68.00 498,135 2,258.29
2001 691 22,293.87 73.33 605,035 2,430.11
2002 1,736** 35,676.53 74.93 1,033,669 2,518.08
2003 5566 159,069.33 157.33 3,763,403 4,437.58
2004 10298 473,029.07 305.87 13,319,523 8,206.23
2005-Q1 1757 131,021.87 393.33 4,615,084 10,499.26
* Source: Tadawul (2005)
o The Suadi Telecommunication was privatized in 2001
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Trading in shares in Saudi Arabia was dictated by personal contact between
investors and between investors and brokers because the Saudi stock market has
always been an informal market and, until 1980, unofficial brokers ran the market
without any established trading procedures. In order to protect investors, in 1980 the
Saudi Authorities banned the contact with companies or through the conpany’s
commercial banks (Naser, 1998). Consequently, commercial banks now operate
special departments to facilitate trading in shares. In addition to commercial banks,
the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA) and the Saudi Share Registration
Company (SSRC) are involved in the process of share trading in Saudi Arabia. The
executive basis for regulating shares through commercial banks is a system

administrated by the following.

¢ A ministerial committee made up of the Minister of Trade, the Minister of
Finance and National Economy and the Governor of the Saudi Arabian Monetary
Agency (SAMA).

o A permanent supervisory committee consisting of deputies from the Ministries of
Trade, Finance and National Economy and the Governor of the SAMA.

o The Stock Control Department at SAMA, which oversees the implementation of

regulations for share trading and daily transactions.

Some shareholders rights are stated clearly in the laws and by-laws of the
Saudi Companies Law (1965). There is a regulation that outlines shareholders rights
in securing ownership registration, participating and voting in general shareholders
meetings, as well as involvement in decisions concerning fundamental corporate
changes. Although some shareholders rights are clearly identified in the rules and
regulations of Saudi Arabia, unfortunately, there is a gap between what the law states

and what is practised.

The general meeting of joint-stock companies is the connecting link between
the company’s management and the shareholders, allowing them to discuss with the
board of directors matters relevant to the company’s activities and performance, and
to offer constructive proposals to enhance the position of the company in the market.
In order to promote the role of the general meetings and stress their importance in

undertaking their functions, the Authority has issued general regulations to organize
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convening of the meeting and to draw the shareholders’ attention of the importance of

attending such meetings.

Article 84 (Companies Law, 1965) stipulated that at least one ordinary general
meeting should be held during the six months following the end of the financial year,
to study and discuss the agenda items as indicated by the law such as: the board of
director and auditor reports and any other items, in order to advise the shareholders of
the company’s position and allow them to discuss and comment on all matters related
to the company’s activities (Article 94). Article 88 stated that the date of the general
meeting must be published in a local newspaper at least 25 days prior to the meeting,
and the proposed agenda and all related documents should be sent to all shareholders
and to the Companies Department at the Ministry of Commerce giving adequate time

in advance prior to the meeting.

Article 83 of the Saudi Companies Law (1965) showed that shareholders who
own 20 shares and more have the right to attend general meetings. A shareholder
could attend general meetings by proxy (Ministry of Commerce, 1965). Article 91
states that general meetings would not be regarded as valid unless shareholders who
own at least half of the company’s capital attend them; otherwise, another meeting
must be called for and conducted during the next thirty days of the previous one
(Ministry of Commerce, 1965). For example, the Arabian Industrial Development Co.
(NAMA), a Saudi Joint Stock corporation, postponed the general meeting which took
place on September 19, 2004 because shareholders who attended owned less than half
of the company’s capital. Therefore, another meeting was called for which was on

September 26, 2004 (Tadawul, 2005).

Article 93 emphasizes that the company’s regulations must clarify the voting
methods used by their system in general meetings (Ministry of Commerce, 1965).
Although shareholders are explicitly given the right to vote and participate in the
general assembly of the company, some practical restrictions are placed on the voting
exercise. Shareholders are entitled to attend the general assembly personally or by
proxy. Voting by mail or electronically is not allowed or not practised and in some
cases, shares must be blocked before the meeting. With the development of the
central depository, international standards suggest that procedures should not make it

unduly difficult or expensive to cast votes.
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Article 94 states that every shareholder has the right to participate in the
discussion in general meetings and could ask questions of board members and any
company law which prevents shareholders exercising this right is invalid. However,
shareholder participation is usually weak (Ministry of Commerce, 1965). This could
be attributed to the lack of culture, poor awareness among small investors, and the
speculative nature of stock trading. The consequences of this situation are
unfavorable qualitative and quantitative participation of shareholders in the decision
making process. The power is dominated by controlling shareholders. Controlling
shareholders are individuals, institutions, or families. A single family may have
controlling stakes over a number of companies either directly or indirectly. They have
strong incentives to monitor the company and its management and can have a positive
impact on the governance of the company. However, their interests may also conflict
with the interests of minority shareholders. The conflict is evident when controlling

shareholders abuse the company's resources for private benefits.

While each shareholder has the right to vote (one share one vote), he or she
has the right to file a complaint with the regulating agency regarding the violation of
the Company Law. Article 109 states that shareholders representing at least 5 per cent
of the capital have the right to complain to the Ministry of Commerce and ask for
inspection on the company if they are worried. Articles 109 and 78 indicate that
minority shareholders are protected by the courts as they can request the nullification
of a resolution issued for the benefit of a certain category of shareholders, causing
harm to the minority shareholders, or bringing special benefit to the board of directors

(Ministry of Commerce, 1965).

There are no limits on Saudi citizens trading shares of Saudi joint stock
companies. The Gulf Cooperation Council® (GCC) citizens are allowed to invest in
certain companies and within limited percentages according to a decision of the GCC.
Non-GCC nationals are not allowed to invest directly in Saudi companies except
through closed investment funds. The purpose of this procedure is to open the market
gradually to attract foreign investment and acquaint foreign investors with the local

economy.

’ Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates
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3.5.2. Board of Directors of Joint Stock Companies in Saudi Arabian

In the absence of adequate empirical evidence, the author will attempt to shed
light on the nature of the board of directors in Saudi Arabia by analyzing the Board of
directors in all listed Saudi corporations. The management of the joint stock
companies in Saudi Arabia is composed of a board of directors. This board, appointed
by the shareholders, must have a minimum of three members. Directors must own at

least 200 shares of the company.

The Board of directors in Saudi Arabia has been given considerable
responsibility to ensure the effectiveness of corporate governance in the Saudi
Arabian corporations. This authority and responsibility has been legislated by the
Royal decree No. 6 of 1385H (1965) and is contained in the Companies Law (1965)
articles 66 to 82. Hence, the board of directors in Saudi Arabia has a legally defined
role in the overall corporate governance system in the Saudi joint stock companies.
Consequently, the use of an audit committee as a committee reporting to the board is
not new in Saudi Arabia and some corporations already have an audit committee as a
regular feature of their corporate control structure. They serve as a committee
reporting to the board of directors and perform so as to make the board more effective
and more professionally accountable to depositors, investors, shareholders and

regulators.

The duties and powers of directors of the Saudi joint stock companies are both
statutory and contractual in nature. They are conferred by the Saudi Arabian
Companies Law and the company's constitutional documents. Additional directors’
duties are also set down in specific legislation such as the Banking Control Law, the
Commercial Registration Law, the Commercial Information Law and the Commercial

Fraud Law.

Saudi Arabia has placed particular emphasis on the issue of corporate
governance. Hence the Saudi Companies Law issued in 1965, includes a number of
Articles that organize the operations of commercial companies and the relation
between the concerned parties through identifying the relationship between the board

of directors, the companies’ executive management and the shareholders.
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The following Articles have been translated from Chapter Three, entitled
“Managing Joint Stock Companies”, section one, entitled “Board of Directors”, of the
Saudi Companies Law (Ministry of Commerce, 1965), which govern boards of

directors in Saudi Arabia.

o Article 66 of the Companies Law stated that a joint stock company must be
managed by a board of directors. Board members of a joint stock company must
be three and more. Ordinary general meetings have rights of appointing,
reappointing and dismissing board members.

e Article 68 - A director must hold shares in the company of not less than SR10,000
(US$2667) in value. The shares must be deposited in one of the banks designated
by the Minister of Commerce within 30 days of the director's appointment. The
shares are non-transferable until the lapse of the time prescribed for the hearing of
any liability suit against the director, or until a judgment is entered in a liability
suit.

e Article 69 - A director must not have any direct or indirect personal interest in any
business or contract carried out on the company's account, unless he holds a
permit from the ordinary general meeting to do so. This permit must be renewed
every year although transactions by a director which were subject to a public bid,
where the director makes the best bid, are excluded.

o Article 72 - A director must not divulge to the shareholders or others, other than at
the ordinary general meeting, any of the company's secrets which came to their
knowledge through their role as a director.

o Article 74 - Companies must clarify the directors’ compensations which could be
monetary, physical, percentage of dividend (not more than 10% of net dividends)

o Article 74 — Also states that the directors' report to the ordinary general meeting
must give a comprehensive statement of all fees, dividends, expenses and/or other
advantages obtained by the directors during the fiscal year.

e Article 76 - The directors shall be jointly liable to pay damages sustained by the
company if the company's articles of association or any amendments to them are
not published correctly.

¢ Articles 229 and 230 - There are certain penalties of the Companies Law which a
director may be liable for in respect of non-compliance with the Companies Law.

These penalties are without prejudice to the requirements of Islamic law and its
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relevant penalties. The Companies Law penalties include imprisonment for a term
between three months and one year, and a fine between SR1,000 (US$267) and
SR20,000 (US$5,334), depending on the nature of the non-compliance or

contravention.

Separation of ownership and control in Saudi Arabia, however, has not yet
been fully realized. After the recent international corporate crises, experts in the
developed countries recommended the separation between the Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) and the duties of the Chairman of the board. While this
recommendation may be acceptable, it would be difficult to have it adapted in Saudi
Arabia, as the majority of companies are family-owned. Although the Saudi
Companies Law, specifically Article 66, specified the minimum required number of
non-executive directors, it does not provide for the separation of the roles of the
chairman of the board from those of the general manager (Ministry of Commerce,
1965). The existence of three non-executive board members was considered sufficient
to exercise independent judgment and avoid conflict of interest. Experience, however,
indicates that despite the existence of non-executive members, their role in this regard
is not practised. In many cases, the controlling shareholders are in a position to
choose all board members. Consequently, the assigned persons are either
inexperienced in the field of activity of the company or in financial matters, or are in
close relationship with executive board members or the Chairman, and may feel

obligated to act in the interest of the controlling shareholders.
3.5.3. Audit Committee and Internal Audit in Saudi Arabia

The resolution of the Minister of Commerce No. 422, issued in 1388H (1968),
specified certain requirements that should be complied with in order to practise
auditing in Saudi Arabia (Ministry of Commerce). This resolution was in force until
issuing the CPA Regulations in 1395H (1974), which was the first foundation stone
laid to organize the profession in the Kingdom. A higher committee for certified
public accounting was established, in accordance with the Regulation, to supervise
and monitor the profession (SOCPA). Serious steps were then taken to promote the

accountancy and auditing professions in Saudi Arabia.
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Recognising the importance of audit committees as a major tool to increase
confidence in financial statements the Minister of Commerce issued a resolution in
January 1994, mandating all public companies to establish audit committees
(SOCPA). In 2003, the Saudi Organisation of Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA,
2003) regulated the establishment of audit committees in Saudi Arabia and regulated
what is required from the audit committees’ members. The SOCPA (2003)

regulations and guidelines are summarized as follows.

o Audit committee must be at least four members. A maximum number of two
members could be elected from the non-executive board members.
o Audit committee member:
o must be a shareholder holding at least 100 shares and not more than 5 per
cent of the company’s shares.
o must be qualified and have knowledge of accounting and financial matters as
well as the company’s business. One of the members must:

« hold a PhD in accounting with at least two-year experience in the
accounting and auditing field; could be reduced to one year if he has
the Saudi CPA; or

=  hold a master in accounting with at least four-year experience in the
accounting and auditing field; could be reduced to three years if he
has the Saudi CPA; or

= hold a bachelor in accounting with at least seven-year experience in
the accounting and auditing field; could be reduced to six years if he
has the Saudi CPA.

o must not be an executive board member of the company or its branches.

o must not be a member of any other committee in the company which is
assigned by the board of directors.

o must be independent. A member is independent if:

= he has no direct or indirect interest in the company’s transactions
and/or contracts;

* he has no direct financial benefits with the executive board members
or their wives;

* he has no personal relationship with the executive board members;

and
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* he is not a member of more than one committee in the same industry

at the same time.
o Fach audit committee member must provide the board of directors with a
nomination of the eligible board members with the CV for each person nominated.
The board of directors, then, choose from those nominated by the audit committee

members.

Section 7 of the Regulation stated that the committee must meet every three
months at least (four meetings a year). It also stated that the audit committee must
meet with the external auditor, the chief executive officer, the board of directors and

the internal auditor at least once a year (SOCPA, 2003).

The audit committee should also nominate five audit firms (external auditors)
from those licensed by the Saudi Ministry of Commerce. The nominated audit firms
are then asked to submit proposals to the company. The audit committee, then,
recommends one or more firm/s as appropriate. The recommendation will then be
taken, by the directors, to the general meeting, which has the ultimate responsibility
for appointing the external auditor, determining the audit fee and the tenure of office.
Subject to the requirements in the resolution, if only one audit firm is appointed, then
the audit committee does not recommence the nomination process until three years
after the audit firm commenced the audit. When more than one audit firm is
appointed, the nomination process does not recommence until five years after the

audit firms commenced their audit (Ministry of Commerce, 1994).

With regard to internal audit in Saudi Arabia, Al-Twaijry et al (2003) held
some interviews in 1998 with academics and external and internal auditors to
examine the effectiveness of the internal audit in the Saudi Arabian corporate sector.
The result showed that the internal audit in the Saudi corporations “was not well

developed” (Al-Twaijry et al., 2003: p.507). Al-Twaijry et al. (2003: p. 507) stated:

The results show that internal audit is not well developed. Where it does exist it operates
in departments that are inadequately resourced, lack qualified staff, have restrictions on
their degree of independence, concentrate on compliance audit rather than performance

audit and where internal auditors are not accepted by management and auditees.
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Al-Twaijry’s interviewees expressed concerns about the terms of reference of
audit committees and the scope of work undertaken. The independence and expertise
of audit committee members were called into question. The interviewees were of the
opinion that there was a clear need for the Ministry of Commerce to issue further
regulations in order to improve the effectiveness of audit committees in Saudi
corporations. However, the members of audit committees have not participated in

these interviews.
3.5.4. Disclosure and Transparency in Saudi Arabia

Listed companies on the Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) are required to
disclose financial, non-financial and operational performance on continuous and
regular quarterly, semi-annual and annual bases. Article 89 of the Saudi Companies
Law emphasizes that the board of directors must prepare mandatory information
including: balance sheets, income and cash flow statements, directors’ reports,
changes in stockholder equity and board composition, as well as the external auditors
report (Ministry of Commerce, 1965). These statements must be prepared no more
than sixty days before the annual general meetings. The board’s chair must sign all
statements and keep copies in the main branch of the company so that they could be
available to shareholders at least twenty-five days before the general meeting.
Compliance with these requirements is monitored and enforced by the capital market
regulating agencies as well as the Saudi Stock Exchanges. Non-compliance with these
legal requirements is subject to sanctions. Article 89 also states that the board of
directors must publish the abovementioned statements in a Saudi newspaper (Ministry

of Commerce, 1965).

Joint stock companies in Saudi Arabia circulate information about themselves
through their published annual reports. Abu Baker and Naser (2000) argued that the
annual report is viewed as the main source of corporate information in developing
countries and it is used by companies as a medium to disseminate information to
exteral interested parties. Given that the report contains information on a firm’s
profitability and liquidity, it is expected to help investors, creditors and other users

make informed decisions about the company. Unlike companies operating in the
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developed world, the annual report published by a Saudi company represents the only

source of financial information available to users from the company.

The role of the accounting and auditing profession is the key to the application
of corporate governance principles with regard to disclosure and transparency and is
the key to a stronger legal environment within the corporate sector. Saudi Arabia as
well as other countries in the region has not managed to establish a supervisory body
that would ensure auditor independence and sound and fair practices of corporate
governance. At present, supervision is thin and scattered among many agencies

without formal mechanisms of coordination and consistency.

It is common practice for the company statutes to determine what leve] of
disclosure relating to the board should be disclosed to shareholders at the assembly
meeting. The disclosure of the names of directors and their remuneration is required.
Article 74 of the Saudi Companies Law states that companies must clarify the board
of directors’ remuneration method in the general meeting. This remuneration could be
a salary, bonus or percentage of revenues (must not exceed 10 per cent of net

revenues) and it could be a combination (Ministry of Commerce, 1965).
3.6. ISLAM AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Islam literally means ‘peace’ and ‘obedience’, and adherents to Islam have to
be ‘obedient’ to God and to appreciate the purpose of their existence in this world (Al
Faruqi, 1992). God is said to have proclaimed that, “I have only created... men that
they may serve me” (al-Qur’an, 51:56). The nature of this service is taken to have
been spelled out clearly when God, upon creating men, declared, “I will create a
vicegerent on earth” (al-Qur’an, 2:30). Muslims consider humans to be vicegerents
(successor) of God. Thus, whatever worldly possession a Muslim has is to be held in
a stewardship capacity — that is simply in trust from God (Abu-Sulayman, 1994).
According to Islam, Muslims are trustees (or stewards) for God: Man therefore agrees

to assume this great responsibility in a covenant with God (Abdul Rahman, 2003).

The influence of religion upon corporate governance is not an issue that has
been explored to a great extent in the literature, although it is easy to see how the two

might be connected. Traditionally, religion has had a role in shaping and enforcing
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ethical behaviour such as truthfulness, honesty and justice. A community in which
such values are paramount may be marked by a high degree of trust in business
dealings and financial affairs. More generally, following Gray (1988) and Perera
(1989), culture has been recognised as a likely determinant of corporate governance,
since culture — defined by Hofstede (1994: 180) as the collective programming of the
mind which distinguishes the members of one group from another — governs how
individuals perceive their responsibilities and carry out their duties. If culture
influences corporate governance then so surely does religion, if only because religion

affects cultural values (Hamid et al., 1993).

Since the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is the heartland of Islam, the birth place
of its history and the site of the two holy mosques and the focus of Islamic devotion
and prayer, it is essential, when studying corporate governance in Saudi Arabia, to
determine and investigate the effects of Islam upon corporate governance. Saudi
Arabia is committed to preserving the Islamic tradition in all areas of government and
society. Islam guides not only the lives of the people, but also the policies and
functions of the government, which, in turn, regulate and impose corporate
governance. The Holy Qur'an is the constitution of the Kingdom and Shari'ah
(Islamic law) is the basis of the Saudi legal system. Saudi Arabia is a leader in the
pursuit of world-wide Islamic solidarity. It hosts the Muslim World League and the
Organization of the Islamic Conference, institutions dedicated to preserving Islamic
interests. In many respects, the Kingdom has been responsive to the needs of the
Islamic world. Saudi Arabia contributes generously to the Islamic Development Fund,
which provides assistance for community infrastructure projects; to the Islamic
Development Bank, headquartered in Jeddah, and to the Islamic Organization for

Science, Technology and Development.

The government laws and regulations in Saudi Arabia must be submissive to
the Shari'ah (Islamic laws). Chapter I, Article 1 of the Saudi Basic Law explicitly
provides that Saudi Arabia’s only “constitutions” are the Qur’an and the Sunnah (the

teachings and deeds of the Prophet Muhammad).

Two aspects, in particular, shape the relationship between Islam and corporate
governance. One is the Islamic law, the shari’ah, and the other is the [slamic

jurisprudence, the figh.
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3,6.1. Islamic Law (the Shari'ah)

The Islamic Law (shari‘ah) refers to the laws and way of life prescribed by
Allah (God) for his servants. The shari'ah deals with the ideology and faith;
behaviour and manners; and practical daily matters. "To each among you, we have
prescribed a law and a clear way,” (Qur 'an 5:48). Shari'ah includes the Qur'an and
the Sunnah of the Prophet Mohammed. The Qur'an is the direct word of Allah, and is
the first most important source of guidance and rulings. The Sunnah of the Prophet
Mohammed is the second source of guidance and rulings. The Sunnah is an
inspiration from Allah, but relayed to us through the words and actions of the
Prophet, and his concurrence with others' actions. The Sunnah confirmed the rulings
of the Qur'an; detailed some of the concepts, laws and practical matters which are
briefly stated in the Qur'an; and gave some rulings regarding matters not explicitly

stated in the Qur'an (Foundation for Islamic Knowledge).

The shari‘ah claims to regulate all aspects of life, ethical and social, and to
encompass criminal as well as civil jurisdiction. Every act of believers must conform
to Islamic law and observe ethical standards derived from Islamic principles.
Corporate governance practices must be in accordance with the rules and regulations

of Islam.
3.6.2. Islamic Jurisprudence (the Fiqh)

Islamic jurisprudence (the figh) means knowledge, understanding and
comprehension. It refers to the legal rulings of the Muslim scholars, based on their
knowledge of the shari'ah; and as such is the third source of rulings. The science of
figh started in the second century after Hijrahé, when the Islamic state expanded and
faced several issues which were not explicitly covered in the Qur'an and Sunnah of
the Prophet. Rulings based on the unanimity of Muslim scholars and direct analogy
are binding. The four Sunni schools of thought, Hanafi, Maliki, Shafi'i and Hanbali,
are identical in approximately 75% of their legal conclusions. Variances in the

remaining questions are traceable to methodological differences in understanding or

® Hijrah is an Arabic calendar which starts from the immigration of the Prophet Mohammed from
Makkah to Al-Madinah.
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authentication of the primary textual evidence. Differing viewpoints sometimes exist

even within a single school of thought.

3.63. How do the Shari'ah and the Figh Govern Corporate

Governance Practices and Polices?

Corporate governance practices and polices in Saudi Arabia must be based on
the Islamic faith and must stay within the limits of the shari*ah and the figh in ail of
its actions and deeds. The shari'ah emphasizes that corporate governance should be
value orientated and promote fairness and justice with respect to all stakeholders of a
company. Those stakeholders who receive the most attention paid money to invest
and share the corporation's profits and losses. Western corporate governance
structures are quite different from these under Islamic joint stock companies because
the corporations must obey a different set of rules - those of the Holy Qur'an - and
meet the expectations of the Muslim community by providing Islamically acceptable
operating modes. Corporate governance as a set of relationships between a company's
management, its board, its shareholders and other stakeholders can be seen as an
internal interaction process which is externally governed by the shari'ah and figh on

the one side and the market system on the other side.

Many verses in the Holy Qur’an regulate corporate governance, and the
attitude of Islam is that there should be no impediment to honest and legitimate trade
and business, so that people earn a living, support their families and give charity to
those less fortunate. Trading and investment can only be undertaken in activities
which are not prohibited in Islam (prohibitions include gambling, alcohol,

pornography, manipulation and anything which is harmful to society).

In a Muslim society like Saudi Arabia, the development of corporate
governance should be based on the provisions of the Islamic shari‘ah and the figh
along with other necessary principles and postulates which are not in conflict with the
shari‘ah and figh. Two approaches have been suggested by several authors to develop
Islamic corporate governance (Karim, 1999; Adnan and Gaffikin, 1997; Askary and
Clarke, 1997; Alam, 1997; Baydoun and Willett, 1997; Lewis, 2001; and the
Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions, 2003). The

tWo approaches are:
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a. establish corporate governance based on the spirit of Islam and its teaching,
and then consider the established corporate governance in relation to
contemporary corporate governance thought; and

b. start with corporate governance established in contemporary corporate
governance thought, test them against Islamic shari ah, accept those that are

consistent with shari‘ah and reject those that are not.

Baydoun and Willet (1997) argued that there are at least four objectives of
accounting disclosure for an Islamic firm, whereby the first two are specific
requirements laid down by shari’ah for the firm to avoid riba (usury) and pay zakat
(the religious levy). The second two objectives are based on inferred general
requirements which can be referred to as ‘social accountability’ and ‘full disclosure’.
According to Baydoun and Willett (1997), full disclosure does not mean to disclose
everything down to every minute detail of transactions. There is, however, the need
for the preparer of accounts to disclose everything that is believed to be important to
users for purposes of serving God. In a more precise word, the Accounting and
Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions’ Statement of Financial
Accounting No. 2 on Concepts of Financial Accounting for Islamic Banks and
Financial Institutions (SFA 2) made it very clear that the Islamic concept of
disclosure revolved around the concept of ‘adequate’ disclosure. Here, adequate
disclosure means that the financial statements should contain all material information

necessary to make them useful to users (Abdul Rahman, 2003).

Corporate governance operates to discharge the accountability of enterprises
as a result of separation of ownership and the management. The users might be
shareholders, creditors, potential investors and the public. In the Muslim society, the
concept of accountability is ingrained in the basic creation of man as a vicegerent
(successor) of God on the earth. Man’s mission on earth is to fulfill the purpose of its
existence in the universe. Man is thus created as trustees and accountable for all their

actions (Abu-Sulayman, 1994; Abdul Rahman, 2003).

Boards of Directors in Islam are not merely responsible to human superiors,
the management, shareholders and stakeholders. He/She is a servant and trustee of
God in all situations, is simultaneously responsible to God the Owner of his very self

and the resources he is utilizing and managing. To forget or to neglect this
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fundamental aspect of this responsibility is tantamount to a betrayal of divine trust

with all the attending consequences in this world and in the next (Hassan, 1995).

Certain Islamic economic and financial principles have an impact upon
corporate governance practices and policies. These principles include, most
importantly, the institution of zakat” (the religious levy), and the prohibition of riba
(usury), the institution of an interest free economic system, the prohibition of haram
(forbidden: business, food, relationship, etc.) and institution of halal (lawful:
business, food, relationship, etc.), the prohibition of gharar (e.g., undertake a venture
blindly without sufficient knowledge or to undertake an excessively risky transaction)

and others.

According to Beheshti (1992, 126) the Shari'ah calls for fair and free trading,
fully complying with principles. Baydoun and Willett (1997, 12-19) argued that the
accounting implications of the shari’ah includes four titles: the need to properly
compute zakat, the prohibition of interest, the concept of social accountability and the
concept of full disclosure. The board accountability and decision usefulness contexts
have been used for the development of boards of directors and disclosure and
transparency from an Islamic view meant to provide information for prohibition of
interest in the firms. The principle of social accountability and justice is embodied in
Islam by the elements and guarantees which Islam provided for the system of the
distribution of wealth in Islamic society. Zakat (levy), Riba (usury), haram (forbidden
activities), halal (permissible activities), gharar (trading in risk) are the original tools

to carry out social justice in society.

Zakat is the amount of money that every adult, mentally stable, free, and
financially able Muslim, male and female, has to pay to support specific categories-
people. Every Saudi joint stock company® has to establish a Zakat fund for collecting
the tax and distributing it exclusively to the poor directly or through other religious

institutions.

" Zakat is a form of religious tithe paid annually by Saudi and GCC companies and individuals
engaged in trade in the Kingdom. The Zakat on trade activities is 2.5 percent on taxable capital.

*A company is considered resident in Saudi Arabia if the company is registered in Saudi Arabia, if its
administrative office or factory is in Saudi Arabia or if it is performing contracts or work in Saudi
Arabia.
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Disclosure in financial statements of Islamic firms is to be guided by several
considerations. The use of historical cost for asset valuation satisfies the stewardship
objective. On the other hand, for calculating and paying zakat, the use of market
selling prices would be appropriate. There has to be a distinction made between halal
and haram transactions and how the profits from the latter have been utilitized (for
example, money given to charity). There has to be substantial additional disclosure
about the social performance of the firm’s operations, including the allocation to and

utilization of funds for zakat.

Shareholders must comply with the Shari'ah principles in their trading
activities. To comply with Islamic Shari'ah, share investing, for example, should be
restricted to common stocks. Investment in preferred stocks is prohibited in Islam as
preferred stocks guarantee the amounts paid out to investors in the form of dividends.
Such a predetermined and guaranteed rate of return is prohibited for the reason that it
may be classified as riba (usury). Thus, while an investor may share the risks of
ownership with other investors, the preferred status of the preferred stock means that
there is extra compensation for the owner for which the owner has not had to pay. In
some cases, however, preferred stock may be offered without a fixed dividend or
without a dividend at all. Even so, it is the right of the shareholders to change those
terms through a vote at their shareholders’ meetings. Thus, while a Muslim investor
may purchase such stock, he/she may hold it only for as long as it carries no fixed
dividend. If the status of the stock changes as a result of a vote, the Muslim investor
will have to liquidate his/her interest in the company immediately. And if a fixed-
amount dividend is received before the stock can be sold, the entire amount of the

dividend will have to be given away as charity.

The use of interest-bearing bonds is also prohibited and so would the use of
interest in leasing transactions, notes receivable and notes payable. In other words,
firm managers cannot enter into contractual relationships involving riba.
Shareholders must invest only in companies that meet the following criteria (Muslim

Investor, 2005).

* companies that have a debt to equity ratio equal to or less than 33%;

* companies that have Account Receivables to Total Asset ratio equal to or less

than 47%:;
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= companies that do not receive more than 9% of total income from non-

operating Interest activities.

How can Islamic banks survive and prosper when they are not allowed to
charge interest? This is certainly the question that faces a lot of non-Muslim
economists. The answer is that there are many Islamic versions and alternatives to the
Riba in Islamic banking with equal profit. The Murabaha (cost-plus financing) is one
of the alternatives for a just monetary system. Murabaha is a cost-plus contract in
which a client, wishing to purchase equipment or goods, requests the Islamic bank to
purchase the items and sell them to him at a cost plus declared profit. By this
technique a party needing finance to purchase certain goods gets the necessary
finance on a deferred payment basis. The finance provider does the purchasing of the
required goods and sells them on the basis of a fixed mark-up profit, agreeing to defer
the receipt of the value of the goods even though the goods can be delivered
immediately. The need for finance of the one in need is thus met. This financing
technique is sometimes considered to be the same as interest, however, in theory, the
mark-up is not in the nature of a compensation for the time or deferred payment, even
though the entire cost had to be incurred because the needy person did not have at
hand to make the purchase he wanted. Rather, the mark-up is for the service that the
finance-owner provides, namely, seeking out and locating and purchasing the

required goods at the best price.

Islam has an effect on auditing too. Auditors must monitor performance so
that the company operates as a strictly Islamic concern. The Shari’ah highlights the
differences between Islamic and Western business practices. Based on man’s contract
with Allah, which is to adhere to the Shari’ah, types of business activities are
constrained to only those that are halal (permissible) as mentioned earlier.
Involvement in any haram (forbidden) activities results in sin. The wisdom behind
forbidding certain business activities is that they are harmful and undesirable for
human beings and the ecosystem. Avoidance of such activities aids in fulfilling the
contract with Allah and society by channeling resources into activities that would
bring greatest benefit to society. Hence, choice of business activities must not only be
within the boundary of Shari’ah but also influenced by maslahah (greatest benefit to

society) (Haniffa et al., 2003). The following set of business activities are considered
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prohibited in Islam, and thus investing in these kind of businesses is not something a

Muslim should undertake (Muslim Investor, 2005).

» Food and beverage related (alcoholic beverages, pork and pork products, tobacco
products, etc.).

* Gambling (casinos, Internet gambling outfits, betting, lottery, etc.).

* Pornography and adult-orientated material.

* [nterest and businesses based mainly on interest.

» Jllegal activities (prostitution, drugs, etc.).

» QOther activities (margin trading, shorting, etc.).

Islam recognises corporate governance not only as a lawful profession but
also as a moral duty. Islam has laid down a complete set of rules for corporate
governance. The reason for these rules is to specify what halal earning is. There are
many traditions (Ahaadith) concerning halal provision that can also be found in the
books containing the traditions of the Prophet Mohammed (peace be upon him).
Actually, Islam has encouraged men to earn their own provision and to provide for
their families. The condition is that the earning has to be according to the conditions
set by the Shari’ah. Any sort of transaction that does not correspond to the rules of
trade will not be allowed. These rules can be found under the heading of trade in the
books of jurisprudence. Interest is amongst those conditions from which all dealings

must be free.
3.7. SUMMARY

In this chapter, an attempt has been made to investigate the Saudi history,
constitution, legislation, culture, economy, capital market, regulatory authority and
religion to come up with a clear vision of “corporate governance in Saudi Arabia,”

which is the title of this chapter.

It has been said that the Basic Law adopted in 1992 declared that Saudi Arabia
is a monarchy ruled by the sons and grandsons of King Abdul Aziz Al Saud, and that
the Holy Qur'an is the constitution of the country, which is governed on the basis of
Islamic law (Shari'ah) and on decrees promulgated by the Council of Ministers. Saudi

Arabia has the world’s largest oil reserves, 25 per cent of the world’s total. Saudi
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Arabia's huge oil reserves and mineral resources, expanding domestic market, liberal
labour policies, increasing privatization and generous packages of investment

incentives make it one of the best investment locations in the Middle East.

Corporate governance practices in Saudi Arabia are governed by four bodies:
the Ministry of Commerce, the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA), the Saudi
Stock Exchange (Tadawul) and some professional bodies such as the Saudi
Accounting Association and the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants.

Each regulatory body of these four bodies was investigated.

The assessment of corporate governance is the outcome of the assessments of
the four corporate governance mechanisms, namely: shareholder rights; board of
directors and outside directors; audit committee and internal audit; and disclosure and

transparency.

Given that the influence of Islam upon corporate governance is not an issue
that has been explored to a great extent in the literature, although it is easy to see how
the two might be connected, the last section contains a clarification of how Islam is
expected to effect corporate governance. Two aspects, in particular, were argued to
shape the relationship between Islam and corporate governance. One is Islamic law,
the shari’ah, and the other is Islamic jurisprudence, the figh. Corporate governance
practices and polices in Saudi Arabia must be based on the Islamic faith and must
stay within the limits of the shari'ah and the figh in all of its actions and deeds. Many
verses in the Holy Qur’an regulate corporate governance, and the attitude of Islam is
that there should be no impediment to honest and legitimate trade and business.
Certain Islamic economic and financial principles, Zakat, Riba, haram, halal, gharar,

which have an impact upon corporate governance practices and policies were

discussed.
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CHAPTER FOUR:

MECHANISIMS FOR EFFECTIVE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE IN SAUDI ARABIA

4.1. INTRODUCTION

In recent years, pushing for higher corporate governance standards has
become a regular campaign with the participation of an increasing number of parties:
academics, media, regulatory authorities, corporations, institutional investors,
international organizations, shareholder rights watchdogs, etc. Numerous initiatives
have been proposed by developed and developing countries to enhance their corporate
governance practice (e.g., new listing/disclosure rules, mandatory training for board

directors, enforced codes of governance, etc).

For capital markets to function efficiently and effectively, participants must
have confidence in the corporate governance system. The corporate failures of recent
times, Enron Corp., WorldCom, HIH and others, raised concerns about the lack of
vigilant oversight and the lack of corporate governance systems in those

organizations. These failures are serious threats to the confidence of investors.

Effective corporate governance systems can be achieved when there are well-
balanced, functioning mechanisms of corporate governance. Corporate governance is
a mechanism of managing, directing and monitoring a corporation with the goal of

creating shareholder value while protecting the interests of other stakeholders.

In this chapter, a “four-legged chair” model that supports responsible, reliable,
fair, accountable and transparent corporate governance systems is developed.
Shareholders, board of directors, audit committees and disclosure and transparency
are the four legs of the chair, supporting the one top goal of producing an effective
corporate governance system in a firm. The model is based on the active participation

of all parties and fosters continuous improvements.
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Therefore, the model (chair) consists of four participants (legs):

e shareholder rights;
e board of directors;
e audit committees; and

e disclosure and transparency.

The report of the Blue Ribbon Committee (1999) on “Improving the
Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committee” suggested a “three-legged stool”
involving the chief financial officer, independent auditor and audit committee. Now,
however, more emphasis is being placed on the entire corporate governance

responsibility.

42. FOUR MECHANISIMS FOR EFFECTIVE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE IN SAUDI ARABIA

Corporate governance emphasizes the values of fairness, accountability,
transparency and responsibility, and it involves a set of relationships between a
company's management, its board, its shareholders and other stakeholders. Effective
corporate governance revolves around strong, active and independent boards of
directors; laws and regulations that guarantee shareholder rights; and the presence of
accepted standards of financial accountability and transparency within firms. Sound
corporate governance principles can create safeguards against corruption and

mismanagement, while promoting democracy and transparency in economic life.

A number of multilateral organizations (e.g., the United Nations Development
Programme ‘UNDP’; the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
‘OECD’; the World Bank; the International Monetary Funds ‘IMF’; the International
Corporate Governance Network *ICGN’; and others) have reflected on the elements
of “good governance”, and on their relationship to development. As the experiences

of these organizations vary, their perceptions of what constitutes good governance

vary, too.

The Business Sector Advisory Group on Corporate Governance to the

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) in 1999
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articulated a set of core principles of corporate governance practices that are relevant

across a range of jurisdictions. These principles are:

o fairness, referring to the equitable treatment of all shareholders;

e transparency, i.e., the process of disclosing information on a company’s
performance over a certain period of time;

e accountability based on a system of checks and balances and sound auditing
practices; and

o responsibility for decisions and actions through clearly defined roles and duties

for owners, shareholders, directors and managers.

The World Bank’s interest in governance stems from its concern with the
effectiveness of the development efforts it supports. From this perspective, sound
corporate governance, in the broadest sense of the phrase, is critical so that firms
ensure adequate returns and efficacy of projects financed and for the World Bank’s
underlying objectives of helping countries reduce poverty and promoting sustainable
growth. Hence, the World Bank’s emphasis in recent years has shifted from its own
interventions to the overall country context within which those interventions take
place. In doing so, it has been guided by the nature of its operations and the
opportunities for action that these offer. Accordingly, the key dimensions of
governance identified by the World Bank are: (1) private sector management; (li)
accountability; (iii) legal framework for development; and (iv) transparency and

information (ADB, 1995).

Accordingly, the researcher is concerned directly with the manner in which
joint stock corporations are managed in Saudi Arabia, and with the legal framework
for corporate governance development. However, in formulating an analytical
framework for addressing governance issues, a distinction between elements of good
governance is drawn. The specific areas of action (e.g., private sector) in which they
could be promoted or their existence enhanced is also considered. In line with this
reasoning, and building upon the approach of the multilateral organizations, four basic

elements of effective governance have been identified:

Chapter Four: Mechanisms for Effective Corporate Governance in Saudi Arabia 124



a. shareholders’ rights;
b. board of directors;
c. audit committee and internal audit; and

d. disclosure and transparency.
4.2.A. Shareholders’ Rights

The first basic principle of corporate governance relates to shareholders’
rights, and their timely access to financial information, voting rights and their
involvement in the process and approval of important matters. The OECD (1999,
2004) emphasized the importance of shareholders as an important element of good

corporate governance in their definition of corporate governance. The OECD stated:

(Corporate governance is) a set of relationships between a company's management, its
board, its shareholders and other stakeholders. Corporate governance also provides the
structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining
those objectives and monitoring performance are determined. Good corporate governance
should provide proper incentives for the board and management to pursue objectives that are
in the interests of the company and shareholders and should facilitate effective monitoring,

thereby encouraging firms to use resources more efficiently (OECD, 1999: pp.11).

The California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) quotes the
definition of corporate governance from Monks and Minow (2001), believing that it
represents the relationship among various participants in determining the direction
and performance of corporations, namely: shareholders, management and board of

directors.

The Report of the Cadbury Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate

Governance (1992) clarified the accountability of boards to shareholders. The Report
stated:

The formal relationship between the shareholders and the board of directors is that the
shareholders elect the directors, the directors report on their stewardship to the shareholders
and the shareholders appoint the auditors to provide an external check on the directors’
financial statements. Thus the shareholders as owners of the company elect the directors to
run the business on their behalf and hold them accountable for its progress. The issue for
corporate governance is how to strengthen the accountability of boards of directors to

shareholders (Cadbury Report, 1992: pp. 48).
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In Saudi Arabia, over 2.4 million individuals have invested in shares of Saudi
Arabian joint stock companies (Al-Jasser, 2002). Despite the huge economic base of
the oil-rich kingdom, the stock market in Saudi has so far been limited to a small
number of dealers as the overwhelming majority of stocks is concentrated in the
hands of the government and business families (Khayyat, 2003). Only 71 firms are
listed on the bourse, which economists say has a capacity for more than 200 firms.

During the last decade, only 13 new companies were admitted to the market

(Tadawul, 2005).

The Saudi Arabian government has privatized state-owned assets very quickly
in the last few years and allocated considerable amounts of shares to the public. While
the Saudi privatization procedure led to very fast privatization, it also frequently
resulted in dispersed ownership of shares. Since the owners of small share packages
have little incentive to collect costly information to monitor management, many firms
are essentially controlled by management which, in turn, increases the agency
problems. The creators of the privatization process were hoping that this problem
would be mitigated over time. By selling state-owned shares directly to outside
blockholders, the power of management would be curbed. However, in practice, the
role of outside blockholders has been restricted by the fact that management can
choose not to honour shareholder rights of outside shareholders due to weak

enforcement of the laws concerned (Willer, 1997).

Therefore, it seems necessary to analyze the issue of shareholder rights in
Saudi Arabia. La Porta et al. (1996) examined the relationship between protection of
investors and the financing patterns observed over a variety of countries. Their main
findings suggested that concentrated ownership could act as a substitute for strong
legal protection of outside shareholders’ interests. However, their paper says little

about how this equilibrium outcome is to be reached.

In this respect, the case of Saudi Arabia is an interesting natural experiment,
where directly after the privatization process there were neither strong laws of

corporate governance nor concentrated ownership.

It is worth noting that these problems are not specific to Saudi Arabia. The

1995 International Finance Corporation (IFC) Factbook of Emerging Markets lists
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only 5 out of the 26 emerging markets it covers as having investor protection of an
internationally acceptable quality. It also singles out the Chinese equity market as
having especially poor investor protection. While this study focuses on Saudi Arabia
in its empirical investigation, Saudi Arabia had not been included in the last IFC

ranking, the findings will be relevant to other Islamic emerging markets as well.

The importance of investigating shareholder protection in a developing market
like Saudi Arabia comes from the following reasons. First, studies of emerging
markets more clearly reveal the importance of shareholders rights in corporate
governance (Lins, 2000) even though emerging markets generally suffer from a lack
of shareholder and creditor protection and have poorly developed legal systems (La
Porta et al., 1998). Second, governance theories about ownership concentration,
which implicitly rely on shareholder protection, may not be appropriate in this setting.
As such, it is an open question whether evidence on shareholder rights from studies of
firms in other contexts, or countries, will hold true in emerging markets such as Saudi
Arabia. Moreover, the potential impact of governance improvement in emerging
markets is substantial. It is assumed that poor corporate governance bears much of the
blame for the relatively poor terms on which entrepreneurs can obtain external capital
in emerging markets. Corporate governance evidence specific to emerging markets
should, therefore, be of benefit to policy makers, practitioners and academics on how
to improve their governance structures in order to be able to draw international

investors and quality issuers.

Shareholders and investors do care about the corporate governance system in a
firm. It is generally recognized that shareholders and investors, both foreign and
domestic, consider the quality of corporate governance when making investment
decisions about a specific country and/or a specific company (Weil, Gothshal and
Manges, 2002). Giannetti and Simonov (2003) analysed whether investors take into
account corporate governance when they select stocks. The authors found that all
categories of investors who generally enjoy only security benefits (domestic and
foreign; institutional and small individual investors) are reluctant to invest in
companies with bad corporate governance. In contrast, individuals who have strong
connections with the local financial community because they are board members or

hold large blocks of at least some listed companies behave differently. They also
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found that the effects of corporate governance on portfolio decisions were more
pronounced for small and medium-size companies. These findings shed new light on
the determinants of investor behaviour and suggest that in order to promote investors

it is important to provide them with better protection.

In regards to the first mechanism of corporate governance, which is
shareholders’ rights, the author is intending to discover the differences between
shareholders’ rights as defined by some related organisations such as the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and their rights in Saudi joint
stock corporation and then to discover whether Saudi shareholders “get” their
expectations. To ensure shareholders get their rights, key categories were considered

such as:

¢ whether all shareholders are able to exercise their rights; and
e whether all shareholders have equal basic rights (Equitable treatment of

shareholders).
4.2.A.1. The Rights of Shareholders

A shareholder can be an individual, a family or family group, a holding
company, a bank, an institutional investor (such as a finance company, an insurance
company, an investment company, a pension fund, or a mutual fund), or a non-

financial corporation (Abdul Samad, 2002).

The Saudi Ministerial Resolve No. 70 has clarified the rights of shareholders
to attend general meetings and participate in the discussions, the right to vote and the
right to question board members. However, studies have shown that the reality in
most general meetings in the public companies in Saudi indicates that minority
shareholders are not aware of their rights, do not care about attending general
meetings and are not treated in the same way as the majority shareholders (Al-

motairy, 2002).

The OECD principles of corporate governance were considered as the

benchmarks for best practices in corporate governance to which companies world-
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wide should aspire. The following have been excerpted from the OECD principles
(1999) covering the rights of shareholders:

4.2.A.1.1. The OECD (1999: pp.27-30) Principles of shareholders’ rights
The corporate governance framework should protect shareholders’ rights.

A. Basic shareholder rights include the right to: 1) secure methods of ownership registration;
2) convey or transfer shares; 3) obtain relevant information on the corporation on a timely and
regular basis; 4) participate and vote in general shareholder meetings; 5) elect members of the

board; and 6) share in the profits of the corporation.

B. Shareholders have the right to participate in, and to be sufficiently informed on, decisions
concerning fundamental corporate changes such as: 1) amendments to the statutes, or articles
of incorporation or similar governing documents of the company; 2) the authorisation of
additional shares; and 3) extraordinary transactions that in effect result in the sale of the

company.

C. Shareholders should have the opportunity to participate effectively and vote in general
shareholder meetings and should be informed of the rules, including voting procedures that

govern general shareholder meetings:

I. Shareholders should be furnished with sufficient and timely information conceming the
date, location and agenda of general meetings, as well as full and timely information
regarding the issues to be decided at the meeting.

2. Opportunity should be provided for shareholders to ask questions of the board and to
place items on the agenda at general meetings, subject to reasonable limitations.

3. Shareholders should be able to vote in person or in absentia, and equal effect should be

given to votes whether cast in person or in absentia.

D. Capital structures and arrangements that enable certain shareholders to obtain a degree of

control disproportionate to their equity ownership should be disclosed.

E. Markets for corporate control should be allowed to function in an efficient and transparent

manner.

I. The rules and procedures governing the acquisition of corporate control in the capital
markets, and extraordinary transactions such as mergers, and sales of substantial portions
of corporate assets, should be clearly articulated and disclosed so that investors
understand their rights and recourse. Transactions should occur at transparent prices and

under fair conditions that protect the rights of all shareholders according to their class.

~o

Anti-take-over devices should not be used to shield management from accountability.
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F. Shareholders, including institutional investors, should consider the costs and benefits of

exercising their voting rights.

Section ‘A’ can be seen as a statement of the most basic rights of shareholders,
which are recognized by law in virtually all OECD member countries. Shareholders’
rights to influence the corporation on certain fundamental issues include: the election
of board members; or other means of influencing the composition of the board;
amendments to the company's organic documents; approval of extraordinary
transactions; and other basic issues as specified in company law and internal company
statutes. Various jurisdictions also provide for additional rights such as the approval
or election of auditors, direct nomination of board members, the ability to pledge

shares, the approval of distribution of profits, etc.

The role of shareholders in corporate governance is to monitor and supervise
those who direct and control the corporation. The power to direct and control rests
with the board, and through it, senior management. Shareholders have no power to
interfere in the control and direction of the company. Instead, shareholders monitor
and supervise the performance of the board and senior management and exert
influence by voting at general meetings, by bringing proceedings directly against the

company and by exercising their right to sell their shares (Bird, 2002).

Shareholders should have secure ownership. the right to full disclosure of
information, voting rights, participation in decisions concerning fundamental
corporate changes such as the sale or modification of corporate assets including
mergers and new share issues (OECD, 1999). Markets for corporate control should be
efficient and transparent and shareholders should consider the costs and benefits of

exercising their voting rights.

Therefore, effective exercise by shareholders of their powers of intervention
and control is a very important component of the governance system. It could be
concluded that shareholders have the right to: (i) receive a dividend; (ii) transfer
ownership; (iii) appoint and remove directors; (iv) appoint and remove auditors; (V)
submit resolutions; (vi) be consulted over changes to the memorandum and articles of
association; and (vii) be consulted over any changes to the share capital of the

company.
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Modigliani and Perotti (1996) showed how the development of the equity
markets in different countries depends on how well laws protect the property rights of
minority shareholders. Furthermore, La Porta et al. (1996, 1998) showed that in
countries where legal institutions are under-developed and where the enforcement of
laws cannot be relied upon, it is not sufficient to analyze the legal framework when
examining whether shareholder rights are protected. Instead, it is necessary to find
indicators that reflect the actual behaviour of management towards outside

shareholders.

Shares give two different rights to its owners: rights of control and income-
rights (Grossman and Hart 1980). Shleifer and Vishny (1997) stated, “Corporate
governance deals with the ways in which suppliers of finance to corporations assure
themselves of getting a return on their investment,” (pp. 737). The quality of
corporate governance is defined by Shleifer and Vishny as the degree to which
shareholders and other suppliers get a return on their investment. Assuring that
shareholders get a fair share of return requires board of directors to be independent
and accountable, managers to be responsible, disclosure to be timely and accurate,
auditors to be independent and minority shareholders to be protected. If shareholders
are not in a position to hold the company accountable, the agency problem occurs.
The agency theories argue that the actions of the agents (managers) depart from those
required to maximise shareholder returns (Berle and Means 1932). That is, agents will
act in their own interest as opposed to that of the principals (shareholders). If agency
theory is applied to corporate governance, it is posited that managers will not act to
maximise returns to shareholders unless appropriate governance structures are in

place.

However, during transition, the more important feature of shares is arguably
the control rights. This is true as the majority of privatized enterprises are in need of
severe restructuring (Division for Public Economics and Public Administration,
1999). During this period of restructuring, control rights matter even more than during
‘normal’ times because many long-term, strategic decisions that can involve
substantial sunk costs have to be made. Furthermore, the income of firms is in many
cases relatively low during transition but is expected to grow fast, such that income

rights during the first years are of relatively little importance.
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The effectiveness of large shareholdings in the corporate governance system,
whereby the equity of an enterprise is concentrated in blocks in the hands of a small
number of individuals and institutions, has been the subject of much theoretical and
empirical research in the literature. The issue has gained increasing importance in
view of some research providing evidence that concentrated ownership of
corporations is much more prevalent across countries than is generally believed, and
that the Berle and Means (1932) image of the modern corporation being widely held

by dispersed shareholders “has begun to show some wear” (La Porta, et al., 1999).

The literature on blockholders focuses on the extent to which these
shareholders are in a better position to make the management accountable as opposed
to dispersed shareholders (Sarkar et al. 2000). The existing theoretical and empirical
literature on the role of block shareholders, however, reveals conflicting predictions
and evidence on the role of such shareholders in enhancing corporate value (Shleifer

and Vishny, 1997).

The benefits of large shareholding highlighted in the literature may be
summarized in terms of the “convergence-of-interest” hypothesis and the “efficient-
monitoring” hypothesis (Sarkar et al. 2000). According to these hypotheses, large
shareholders are likely to be more efficient than small and dispersed shareholders in
monitoring company management since they have substantial investments at stake as
well as significant voting power to protect these investments (Berle and Means, 1932;
Jensen and Meckling, 1976; Fama and Jensen, 1983; and Shleifer and Vishny, 1986).
In addition, large shareholders are likely to mitigate the collective action problem that
is present among dispersed shareholders in disciplining inefficient management
especially if management stands in the way (Dodd and Warner, 1983), and are also
likely to engage in relational investing and be more committed to a company in the

long run (Black, 1998; and Blair, 1995).
4.2.A.2. The Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

The legal framework allows for multiple share classes, provided that within a
given class shareholders are treated equally and have the same rights. In Saudi Arabia,
there are two main classes of shares: ordinary shares and preference shares (Article

103, Saudi Companies Law, 1965). Shareholders in listed companies are usually
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classified into three categories (see Berle and Means, 1932 and 1968; Farrar, 1987;
and Stapledon, 1999): significant shareholders; institutional investors; and individual

investors.

The OECD (1999: p. 31-34) stated:

4.2.A.2.1. The equitable treatment of shareholders

The corporate governance framework should ensure the equitable treatment of all
shareholders, including minority and foreign shareholders. All shareholders should have the

opportunity to obtain effective redress for violation of their rights.
A. All shareholders of the same class should be treated equally.

. Within any class, all shareholders should have the same voting rights. All investors
should be able to obtain information about the voting rights attached to all classes of
shares before they purchase. Any changes in voting rights should be subject to
shareholder vote.

2. Votes should be cast by custodians or nominees in a manner agreed upon with the
beneficial owner of the shares.

3. Processes and procedures for general shareholder meetings should allow for equitable
treatment of all shareholders. Company procedures should not make it unduly difficult or

expensive to cast votes.
B. Insider trading and abusive self-dealing should be prohibited.

C. Members of the board and managers should be required to disclose any material interests

in transactions or matters affecting the corporation.

All shareholders of the same class should be treated equally, including
minority and foreign shareholders and should have the opportunity to obtain effective
redress for violation of their rights. The OECD (1999, 2004) emphasized the
protection of minority and foreign shareholders rights with full disclosure of material
information. It ensures the setting up of systems that keep insiders, including
managers and directors, from taking advantage of their roles, insider trading is
prohibited and members of board and managers should be required to disclose any

material interest in transactions.

(OS]
(U}
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4.2.B. Board of Directors

Adam Smith (1776) is one of the first authors to address the problem of boards

of directors. He stated:

The directors of (joint stock) companies, however, being the managers rather of other
people’s money than of their own, it cannot well be expected, that they should watch over it
with the same anxious vigilance (as owners) ... Negligence and profusion, therefore, must
always prevail, more of less, in the management of the affairs of such a company (Smith,
1776: pp.700).

The Board of directors is an important part of the governance structure (Fama
et al. 1983). Aligning the interests of managers and shareholders requires vigilant,
independent, effective Boards. A Board of directors may not get involved in day-to-
day management, yet it has the unique role of overseeing, monitoring, and controlling
management activities. It should monitor management plans, decisions, and activities
and act independently. The tone set by the Board usually influences the behaviour of

others within the company.

According to a McKinsey (2000) survey of 200 institutional investors from the
US, Europe, Latin America and Asia, three-quarters of institutional investors say that
Board practices are just as important to them as financial performance when they
evaluate companies for investment. They said that they would pay an average
premium of 18% for well-governed companies in the UK and US, and a higher
premium in other countries. Investors define good governance as having a majority of
outside investors on the board who have no ties with management, holding regular
director evaluations and are responsive to investor requests for information on

governance issues.

The effectiveness of any board of directors is primarily dependent on the
integrity and commitment of the people involved, both the directors and the
management team. But, it is also important that a responsible and transparent
governance system is in place to assure there will be an appropriate focus on relevant,

meaningful information and issues.
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4.2.B.1. OECD Principles of Board of Directors

4.2.B.1.1. The OECD (1999: pp. 42-45) Principles of the responsibilities of the board

The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the

company, the effective monitoring of management by the board, and the board’s

accountability to the company and the shareholders.

A. Board members should act on a fully informed basis, in good faith, with due diligence and

care, and in the best interest of the company and the shareholders.

B. Where board decisions may affect different shareholder groups differently, the board

should treat all shareholders fairly.

C. The board should ensure compliance with applicable law and take into account the interests

of stakeholders.

D. The board should fulfil certain key functions, including:

Reviewing and guiding corporate strategy, major plans of action, risk policy, annual
budgets and business plans; setting performance objectives; monitoring implementation
and corporate performance; and overseeing major capital expenditures, acquisitions and
divestitures.

Selecting, compensating, monitoring and, when necessary, replacing key executives and
overseeing succession planning.

Reviewing key executive and board remuneration, and ensuring a formal and transparent
board nomination process.

Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of management, board members
and shareholders, including misuse of corporate assets and abuse in related party
transactions.

Ensuring the integrity of the corporation’s accounting and financial reporting systems,
including the independent audit, and that appropriate systems of control are in place, in
particular, systems for monitoring risk, financial control, and compliance with the law.
Monitoring the effectiveness of the governance practices under which it operates and
making changes as needed.

Overseeing the process of disclosure and communications.

E. The board should be able to exercise objective judgement on corporate affairs independent,

in particular, from management.

Boards should consider assigning a sufficient number of non-executive board members

capable of exercising independent judgement to tasks where there is a potential for
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conflict of interest. Examples of such key responsibilities are financial reporting,
nomination and executive and board remuneration.

2. Board members should devote sufficient time to their responsibilities.

F. In order to fulfil their responsibilities, board members should have access to accurate,

relevant and timely information.

Therefore, Boards of directors monitor managers and control companies on
behalf of all shareholders. Boards are expected to formulate corporate policy, approve
strategic plans, authorize major transactions, declare dividends, and authorize the sale
of additional securities. They are also expected to hire, advise, compensate and, if
necessary, remove management; arrange for succession; and determine the size of

Boards and nominate new members, subject to approval by shareholders.

Although the Saudi Ministerial Resolve No. 70 has shaped the general lines of
the responsibilities of Boards of directors and given Boards a wide range of power, it

was criticized for not being clear (Al-motairy, 2002).
4.2.B.2. Effectiveness of Boards of Directors

The effectiveness of Boards of directors in monitoring managers, exercising
control on behalf of shareholders and improving the protection of shareholders,

especially minority shareholders, depends on a number of common factors:

e the representation of independent or non-executive directors on Boards;

e independent Board committees for remuneration, nomination and auditing;
and

o splitting the role of the chief executive officer (CEO) from that of chairman

of the Board.

42.B.2.1. The Representation of Independent or Non-Executive Directors on
Boards

Boards are typically composed of inside directors (executive) and outside
directors (non-executive). Outside directors are often viewed as representing outside
shareholders while inside directors are assumed to represent the management. Inside

directors are employees of the firm. They generally are not thought to be independent
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of the CEO, since the success of their careers is often tied to the CEO’s success.
Outside directors are not employees of the firm and usually do not have any business
ties to the firm aside from their directorship. Outside directors are typically CEOs
from other firms or prominent individuals in other fields. Finally, about 10 per cent of
directors do not fall into either category; often these are attorneys or business people
that have a long-standing relationship with the firm. These directors are usually
referred to as “affiliated” or “grey” directors. Studies in the literature focus solely on
inside and outside directors (e.g., Collier and Gregory, 1999; Menon and Williams,
1994) and studies that consider "grey" area directors who are not insiders but still
have ties to management or the corporation (e.g., Carcello and Neal, 2000; Vafeas,

2001).

The main function of non-executive directors is to ensure that the executive
directors are pursuing policies consistent with shareholders’ interests, (Fama 1980).
Non-executive directors possess two characteristics that enable them to fulfil their
monitoring function. First, their independence (Cadbury 1992) and second, they are
concerned to maintain their reputations in the external market (Fama and Jensen
1983). There are influences and powerful sources who recommend the need for
independent, non-executive directors such as the Council of Institutional Investors in
the US, the Cadbury Commission (1992) in the UK, Australian Institutional Investors

and all those who would like to become non-executive directors.

According to the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association College
Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF), independent directors (i) are not present or
former employees of the company, and (ii) do not have significant financial or
personal ties to the company or its management that could compromise the director’s
objectivity and loyalty to shareholders. All monetary arrangements with directors for
services outside normal Board activities should be approved by an independent Board

committee and disclosed in the company’s proxy statement.

According to the The California Public Employees' Retirement System
(CalPERS), independent directors:

* are not consultants or service providers to the company;
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« have not been employed by the company in an executive capacity within the
past five years;

o are not, and are not affiliated with a company that is, an adviser or
consultant to the company or senior management;

o are not affiliated with a significant customer or supplier;

« have no personal service contract with the company or a senior executive of

the company;

o are not affiliated with a not-for-profit organization that receives significant
contributions from the company;

e are not, and within the last five years have not been, in a business
relationship with the company that requires disclosure pursuant to
Regulation S-K;

e are not employed by a company upon whose board an executive officer of
company Serves;

e have no such relationships with affiliates of their company; and

¢ have no member of immediate family with such a relationship.

The Hampel Report (1998: para. 3.9) concurred with the recommendations of
the Cadbury Code in that it required that, ... a majority of non-executive directors be

independent.” It was also stated in the Hampel Report (para. 3.14) that,

.. we believe that it is difficult for them (the non-exective directors) to be effective if
they make up less than one third of the board. Thus, board size to some extent must be

considered to influence board effectiveness

The Cadbury Report (1992) stipulated a minimum of three non-exective
directors. The Hampel Report (1998) went further as it stated that boards with less
than three non-exective directors could not be considered effective. The Cadbury

Code (1992: paragraph 4.10) also stated that,

The Committee believes that the caliber of the non-executive members of the board is of
special importance in setting and maintaining standards of corporate governance (paragraph
4.10) ... We recommend that the caliber and number of non-executive directors on a board
should be such that their views will carry significant weight in the board’s decisions. To meet
our recommendations on the composition of sub-committees of the board, all boards will

require a minimum of three non-executive directors. one of whom may be the chairman of the
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company provided he or she is not also its executive head. Additionally, two of the three

should be independent (paragraph 4.11).

Therefore, non-executive directors are considered to be in a better position to
play a monitoring and controlling function as opposed to executive management due
to their independent nature. Research on the ability of non-executive directors to
determine compensation (Core et al. 1997) may suggest otherwise. Vance (1983)
argued that non-executive directors are more likely to be obligated to the chief
executive officer (CEO) for their position and are, therefore, less likely to

aggressively challenge and oversee executive management.

4.2.B.2.2. Independent Board Committees for Remuneration, Nomination and

Auditing

It has been noted that the Board of directors is an important leg amongst three
other legs of one chair — corporate governance. The Board of directors delegates some
of its oversight to the audit committee and other committees of the Board. Other
corporate governance arrangements added to the Board enable the Board to function
more effectively. Common among these arrangements are the sub-committees of the
Board (Forker, 1992; Malone, Fries and Jones, 1993; McMullen, and Raghunandan
1996). The Board will work through these committees, composed of members who
are appointed by the directors from among their number, in exercising governance

over certain activities.

The Cadbury Committee (1992) recommended that all listed British
companies should establish internal Board sub-committees to oversee amongst other
things the audit process. Board sub-committee structure and quality provide insights

into those responsible for undertaking the monitoring roles within companies (Vafeas
1999).

4.2.B.2.2.1. Audit Committee

This Committee would assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in
respect of the financial statements. It would also report to the Board on the accounting
policies, the contents of annual reports and accounts, the conclusions drawn from

internal control reports and the adequacy and scope of the audit. The Committee
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would not limit its activities to year-end accounts but would have a continuing role
during the year with the auditors, both external and internal, attending key meetings
and having direct access to the committee charter. The existence of the Committee
would help to ensure that the accounting function is kept under review and that the
highest importance is attached to the preparation of the financial statements. The
independence of the Committee can be enhanced when it is comprised of non-

executive members that have financial expertise.

The Treadway Commission Report (1987) concluded that audit committees

had a critical role to play in ensuring the integrity of US company financial reports.

The Cadbury Committee Report on the Financial Aspects of Corporate
Governance (1992) also recommended that all listed UK companies should establish
audit committees. The Cadbury Committee has emphasized the independence of the
board committees. It was stated in the Cadbury Report (Cadbury Report, 1992:
paragraph 4.35.b) that,

There should be a minimum of three members (of audit committee). Membership

should be confined to the non-executive directors of the company and a majority of the non-

executives serving on the committee should be independent.
4.2.B.2.2.2. Nominations Committee

This Committee would meet as necessary and would be responsible for
nominating, for the approval of the Board, candidates for appointment to the Board.
The role of this Committee might appear less effective in a privately owned company,
but a provision for independent non-executive directors would require selection and
recruitment criteria to be formally established and applied. The Committee provides
important assessment of Board effectiveness and directs the process of renewing and

replacing Board members.

The Cadbury Committee Report on the Financial Aspects of Corporate

Governance (1992) recommended that,
One approach to making board appointments, which makes clear how these appointments

are made and assists boards in making them, is through the setting up of a nomination

committee, with the responsibility of proposing to the board, in the first instance, any new
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appointments, whether of executive or of non-executive directors. A nomination committee
should have a majority of non-executive directors on it and be chaired either by the chairman

or a non-executive director (Cadbury Report, 1992: paragraph 4.30).

Various commentators have raised the question whether independent directors
can be truly regarded as independent if the nominating committee and the nomination
process are not wholly independent of management. Strine (2002), the Vice
Chancellor of the Delaware Chancery Court, in an article discussing the impact of

Enron observed that,

Courts are aware that corporate boards are not elected in a process that would be
considered fair if replicated by the political processes of our nation. In reality, boards are most
powerfully shaped by nominating committees, rather than by stockholders. The proxy
mechanism is tilted heavily in favour of the management slate, and contested elections rarely
occur outside the takeover context. That puts the independence concept under stress from the
start, because outside directors are usually identified and selected in the first instance by the
incumbent board members. Traditionally, chief executive officers (CEOs) have played an
important role in board selection, a practice that has often resulted in the selection of directors
with pre-existing relationships with management (Strine, 2002: pp. 1377) To the extent
directors in such companies are nominated in a manner heavily influenced by management —
rather than by a nominating committee of independent directors — the presumption that
directors’ compensation is not a bias-producing factor can be viewed as less sustainable

(Strine, 2002: pp. 1384).

4.2.B.2.2.3. Remuneration Committee

This Committee, which would meet typically just twice a year, would be
responsible for recommending to the Board the terms and conditions of employment
of directors, including executive directors. It might have further responsibility for
considering management recommendations and advising the board on appropriate
policy for the remuneration and terms of employment of key staff. To minimize the
risk of any potential conflict of interest the committee should be composed of a

majority of independent non-executive directors.

The Cadbury Committee Report on the Financial Aspects of Corporate

Governance (1992) recommended that,
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We also recommend that boards should appoint remuneration committees, consisting
wholly or mainly of non-executive directors and chaired by a non-executive director, to
recommend to the board the remuneration of the executive directors in all its forms, drawing
on outside advice as necessary. Executive directors should play no part in decisions on their
own remuneration. Membership of the remuneration committee should appear in the

Directors’ Report (Paragraph 4.42).

The compensation of executive directors is an important factor in Board
effectiveness. The separation of ownership from control means that the compensation
of executives plays a central role in governance. The key problem here is one of
aligning the interests of managers and shareholders. The exact form of the optimal
incentive package depends on the specific details of the agency problem but often

involves performance-related pay and the award of stock options to managers.

By tying a manager’s compensation to measures of corporate performance, the
manager is forced to internalise investors’ objectives. This can be reached through
performance-related bonuses, stock grants, etc. However, executive incentive pay has
been criticized as being manipulated or controlled by the executives themselves. The
Remuneration Committee, composed of non-executive directors, has the
responsibility to determine, on behalf of the Board and the shareholders, the
company’s policy on remuneration and the remuneration packages of each of the

executive directors.

The Cadbury Code (1992: paragraph 3.3) stated that, ““...executive directors
pay should be subject to the recommendations of a remuneration committee made up
of wholly or mainly of non-executive directors”. The reasoning behind this
recommendation being that if executive directors rewards are to be linked to
performance, those directors benefiting, should not decide on their own remuneration,

due to a conflict of interest.

On the other hand, in the literature, it is not clear whether the compensation of
non-executive directors enhances corporate governance and firm performance or not.
Vafeas (2000) found no significant link between the adoption of outside director
incentive plans and operating performance improvements. Cordeiro et al. (2000),
taking data on 200 large US corporations in 1996, found a significant relationship

between compensation of outside directors and firm performance. They observed that

Chapter Four: Mechanisms for Effective Corporate Governance in Saudi Arabia 142



projected earnings per share growth rate is significantly negatively related to cash
compensation, but positively related to stock compensation, suggesting a bias towards
stock compensation in high growth areas. Perry (2000), studying over 1,600 US firms
between 1992 and 1995, documented a significant increase in firms providing outside
directors with a financial stake in the performance of the firm through incentive-based
compensation. He found that incentive compensation for directors influences the level

of monitoring by the Board.

Finally, it is important to mention that the OECD Principles (1999) called on
companies to disclose the remuneration of members of the board and key executives
so that investors may ensue that corporate pay policies are aligned with the interests

of shareholders.

4.2.B.3. Splitting the Role of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) from that of

Chairman of the Board.

The case for splitting the CEO and chairman positions was made by Lorsch
and Maclver (1989) who argued that, when the positions were combined, the CEO
exercised great power primarily because of his or her expertise in and knowledge of
company matters. Also, the CEO controls the agenda and plays an important role in
the selection of outside directors. All of these factors impede outside directors fully
exercising their power. Lorsch and Maclver (1989) argued that providing a leader
separate from the CEO could help directors prevent a crisis and act quickly when one
does arise; would give directors a strong voice in setting meeting agendas and in
selecting directors; encourage more open discussions in meetings, and would
underscore the board’s right and obligation to govern the corporation (Lorsch and

Maclver, 1989).

Only a small number of corporations in the United States has installed an
outside director as a chairman, but the practice has long been common in Great
Britain. According to Proned, a London research organization, 80 percent of U.S.
public companies combine the jobs, a practice referred to as CEO duality. In Britain
the reverse situation is the norm, as only 24 percent of public companies have a
combined chairman and chief executive (Stevenson 1992). The Russell Reynolds

Associate Survey Board Practices (1998) highlighted that 85 per cent of the Standard
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and Poors (S&P) 500 companies in the USA do not have separate individuals as chief

executive officer and chairman.

Millstein et al. (1998) found that even where the roles of the CEQ and
Chairman were separated, the chairman in many instances was not independent.
Furthermore, Daily et al. (1997) considered the independence of the chairman under
both the dual and separate role structures. No statistically significant relationship was
found to show that the independence of the chairman was any less when the role was
joint as compared to when the role was split. Kenser et al. (1986) noted that

shareholder returns were inferior when the CEO and chairman roles were combined.

The combined Code on Corporate Governance (1998) in the UK, however,

considers that the separation of the roles to be important to Board effectiveness.

Given that these recommendations have emphasised the importance of
splitting the roles of the CEOs and chairmen and given the abovementioned mixture
in the literature, the separation of the role of the CEO and chairman was considered to

be an important determinant of board effectiveness.
4.2.C. Audit Committees and Internal Audit

The role played by independent non-executive directors on the Board
continues to be a prominent feature of corporate governance. One of the most
important committees of Boards of directors is the audit committee. The Audit
committees of public traded companies have become a common component of the
corporate governance structure. The Board of directors selects the members and chair
of the audit committee, all of whom need to be able to function as a team. The audit
committee should consist of three to five members, depending upon the size and

business of the company (the Cadbury Committee, 1992; Blue Ribbon, 1999).

All codes of corporate governance recommend the establishment of audit
committees but few jurisdictions have so far actually made them mandatory. Canada
and Singapore are exceptions in this respect (Spira, 1999). By law Canadian public
companies are generally required to have an audit committee of at least three

members, the majority of whom must be independent (PWHC, 1999). Similarly, the
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Singapore Companies Act sets out basic requirements in relation to the composition,

duties and responsibilities of audit committees (PWHC, 1999).
4.2.C.1. Activities of Effective Audit Committees

The role of audit committees has evolved over the years. The Cadbury
Committee Report on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance (1992), the
Blue Ribbon Committee’s (BRC) Report on Improving the Effectiveness of Corporate
Audit Committees (1999), the National Association of Corporate Directors’ (NACD)
Report of the Blue Ribbon Commission on Audit Committees (2000), the National
Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting (Treadway Commission, 1987) and
the Royal Commission on the Economic Union and Development Prospects for
Canada (the Macdonald Commission, 1982) all provide numerous recommendations
for improving audit-committee effectiveness and highlight the recent surge in interest
in performance quality. In addition, some authors and organizations have issued
publications on “best practices” for audit committees (e.g., Arthur Andersen, 2000;

Burke and Guy, 2001; PwC, 2000; Verschoor, 2000).

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in the USA and the National
Commission on Fraudulent Financial Reporting (1987) in the USA stated that the
audit committee is an important element in corporate governance. An effective audit
committee is viewed as a critical link in providing investors with reliable financial
reporting. The US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has stated that an
effective audit committee affords the “greatest possible protection to investors” (Price
Waterhouse, 1993). In addition, Wild (1996) documents a significant increase in an
entity’s earnings response coefficient subsequent to the formation of an audit

committee.

4.2.C.1.1. Audit Committees’ Functions

Functions normally performed by audit committees vary in accordance with
the mission statement or charter granted to them by the board of directors (Rezaee and
Farmer, 1994). The Smith Report (Smith, 2003: pp.6) clarified the main roles and

responsibilities of audit committees, which should be:
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o to monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the company;

o to review the company’s internal financial control system and, unless
addressed by a separate risk committee or by the board itself, risk
management systems;

o to monitor and review the effectiveness of the company’s internal audit
function;

o to make recommendations to the board in relation to the appointment of
the external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of

engagement of the external auditor following appointment by the

shareholders in general meeting;

+ to monitor and review the external auditor’s independence, objectivity
and effectiveness; and

o to develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external

auditor to supply non-audit services.

The National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) mentioned that with
each new wave of financial irregularities, the cry for more effective audit committees
as an important part of the financial control system becomes even more urgent.
Venables et al. (1988) stated that audit committees in the USA and Canada were
developed to: (i) increase confidence in the credibility and objectivity of the financial
statements; (i1) assist directors in discharging their financial reporting responsibilities;
and (iii) to strengthen the independence of the external auditors. Kalbers and Fogarty
(1993), investigating the relationship between audit committee power and audit
committee effectiveness, found that effectiveness included oversight of financial

reporting, external auditors and internal control.

Such concern has lead to recent regulation of the audit committee function in a
number of areas, including independence, composition, expertise, disclosure of
activities, discussion of financial reporting quality, and materiality assessment (e.g.,

BRC, 1999; Sarbanes-Oxley, 2002; SEC, 1999a; and SEC, 1999b).

Wolnizer (1995) summarised the functional audit committee recommendations

of corporate governance commissions and committees in the US, UK, Canada and
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Australia. He demonstrated that the audit committee is expected to perform almost

exclusively in the technical areas of financial reporting, auditing and internal control.

Therefore, the audit committees’ common functions in the literature and most
accepted international corporate governance recommendations and publications (e.g.,
Smith, 2003; Wolnizer, 1995; Arthur Andersen, 1998; BRC, 1999; Burke and Guy,
2001; Grant Thon, 1997, KPMG, 1999; PwC, 1999; Rittenberg and Nair, 1993; and

others) include:

+ internal control assessment (e.g., reviewing the adequacy of the system of internal

control; reviewing the scope of internal auditing activities);

o financial reporting process; and

¢ external auditing (e.g., appointing or removing external auditor; reviewing the
external auditing plans; approving the provision of consultancy services by the

external auditors; reviewing the independence of the external auditors).
4.2.C.1.1.1. Internal Control Assessment

The internal audit function is important in achieving an effective audit
committee. Raghunandan et al. (2001) linked audit committee member independence
and expertise to influence with internal auditors via private access to chief internal
auditors, amount of meeting time with chief internal auditors, and ability to review
internal audit activities and results. The KPMG's Audit Committee Institute (2001)
evaluated audit committee members' perceptions about effective use of the internal
audit function. DeZoort (1997) surveyed audit committee members' perceptions of
their responsibilities in areas related to financial reporting, auditing and overall
corporate governance. Members consistently ranked internal control evaluation as the
most important oversight area, with financial statement review and internal

auditor/external auditor evaluation considered highly important.

The KPMG's Audit Committee Institute (1999, 2000, 2001) found that audit
committee members tended to agree that internal auditors are "well equipped” to
identify material weaknesses in internal controls. Beasley et al. (2000) also found that
companies in technology, health care and financial services industries had less

internal audit support than no-fraud industry benchmarks. Raghunandan and McHugh
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(1994) found that audit committee involvement in the hiring and firing of the internal
audit head was associated with the number of meetings with him. Finally, the results
in DeZoort et al. (2000) emphasised that internal audit members have agreed that
communications between internal auditors and audit committees could improve the
quality of corporate governance. Bishop et al. (2000) reported on the forces in the US
reshaping and reforming audit committees. They argued that extending and expanding
interaction between audit committees and internal auditors can enhance the quality of

corporate governance and strengthen the organisational infrastructure.

According to Wolnizer (1995: pp. 48), the audit committee’s responsibilities

in the internal audit functions include:

o evaluate the independence and competence of the internal audit function;

discuss with the chief of internal auditors:

- internal audit findings and reports;
- effectiveness of internal controls; and
- problems in performing the internal audit.
o review the scope of internal audits planned for the year;
o review management’s response to internal auditors’ recommendations;
e review and approve internal audit budget;
o review the relationship between internal and external auditors and co-
ordination of their work; and

o appoint and dismiss the head of internal audit.

It is important to mention here that a key characteristic of an effective internal
audit department is the independence with which it operates. Independence is crucial
to the nature of internal audit as it allows the internal auditor to render impartial and

unbiased judgement. It is best achieved through organisational objectivity.

The essence of the relationship between the internal auditors and the audit
committee is to provide reporting independence (i.e., the internal auditors have the
ability to report all deficiencies to an authority without fear of reprisal by

management). The chief internal auditor should have direct communication with the

audit committee.

Chapter Four: Mechanisms for Effective Corporate Governance in Saudi Arabia 148



The audit committee could also protect the independence of the internal audit
department by ensuring that the chief internal auditor is not dismissed as a result of
reports which reflect unfavourably on management. The Treadway Commission
stressed that the audit committee should review the appointment and dismissal of the

chief internal auditor.

Scarborough et al. (1998), examining the relationship between the audit
committee and internal audit, found that audit committee composition did influence
the extent of interaction between the audit committee and internal audit. Raghunadan
etal. (2001) also examined the association between audit committee composition and
the committee’s interaction with internal auditing and found that audit committee

composition influenced the extent of committee interaction with internal auditing.
4.2.C.1.1.2. Financial Reporting Process

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing the financial statements and
considering whether they are complete and consistent with the information known to
management. The financial reporting process and ensuring reliable financial
information is one of the most important functions of audit committees (Rezaee and

Farmer, 1994).

While the audit committee should not become involved in day-to-day operations, there is
pressure from the oversight role for the audit committee to get more involved to ensure the

integrity of the financial reporting process (Rezaee and Farmer, 1994: 14),

The Blue Ribbon Report (1999) stated that audit committees do not prepare
financial statements, but rather are responsible for monitoring and overseeing the
financial reporting process. To fulfil its responsibilities, the audit committee must
ensure that proper internal controls are established, must be familiar with the
company’s risk assessment policies and must be informed of critical accounting
choices for any kind of transaction or judgement decisions. McMullen and
Raghunandan (1996) found that companies with financial reporting problems were
less likely to have CPAs on the audit committee. The audit committee also should
meet regularly and as needed with the company’s CFO, comptroller, internal auditor,
and other personnel responsible for the company’s financial reporting process and

internal controls, as well as with the outside auditor.
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According to Rezaee and Farmer (1994), Wolnizer (1995), Lee and Stone
(1997) and Smith (2003), the audit committees’ roles in the financial reporting

processes include:

o review all financial statements, whether interim or annual, before they are
approved by the board of directors and publicly disseminated to ensure their
objectivity, accuracy and timeliness;

e review all existing accounting policies, and concentrate on the impact on the
financial statements of any changes in accounting policies including the
likely impact of any contemplated changes;

e evaluate exposure to fraud;

o appraise key management estimates, judgements, and valuations where they
are thought to be material to the financial statements;

o evaluate the adequacy of financial statement disclosures;

e review adequacy of organization’s structure, including management’s
implementation of internal controls; and

o review all significant transactions, especially those that are non-routine and

those that might be illegal, questionable or unethical.

Studies in the US literature have found positive associations between the
existence of the audit committee and various proxies for the quality of financial
reporting. Defond and Jiambalvo (1991) found that companies overstating their
earnings were less likely to have an audit committee. McMullen (1996) found a
positive relationship between audit committee existence and the quality of financial
reporting. Wild (1996) found a positive relationship between audit committee

formation and the quality of accounting earnings.

The Treadway Commission Report (1987) recommended that the audit
committee oversee the internal reporting process. This recommendation has been
adopted in the USA, as SEC rules require that the audit committee review the internal
reports. However, according to the Macdonald Commission (1988) and Cadbury
Commission (1992), it is not mandatory for the audit committee to undertake the
financial reporting review in Canada and the UK, respectively. The Macdonald

Commission only recommended that the audit committee review financial
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information before publication, and the Cadbury Report only recommended that the
audit committee review the half-year reports before submission to the board for

approval.

4.2.C.1.1.3. External Audit

The audit committee is directly responsible for the nomination, compensation,
and oversight of the outside auditor. A number of studies (e.g., Cohen and Hanno,
2000; Knapp, 1987, 1991; Schroeder et al., 1986) highlight the importance of the
external auditor in pursuing effectiveness of audit committees. Cohen et al. (2000)
found that external auditors made less favourable audit planning judgments in cases
where the corporate governance structure included an audit committee that lacked
technical experience and regular access to internal and external auditors without top

management present.

Accountability to shareholders and other stakeholders is achieved primarily
through financial reports (Pincus et al., 1988) that have been subject to a statutory
external audit. Whilst the problems regarding user perception may be to some extent
addressed by better disclosure and an expansion in the nature and scope of external
audit assignments to reflect these concerns, the problems associated with the

credibility of external auditors and the perceived lack of independence still remains.

Knapp (1987) found that the use of a Big 8 audit firm was associated with
increased audit committee support for the auditor in auditor management
disagreements. This finding supports the argument in the literature that audit quality
and auditor credibility are associated with audit firm size. Knapp (1991) found that
audit committee members perceived Big 8 firms were more likely to discover material
errors than local firms. In addition, members believed that length of auditor tenure
was positively related to audit quality in early engagement years, but negatively

related to audit quality in later years.

According to Wolnizer (1995: pp. 47), the audit committees responsibilities

toward external auditors include:

* review the findings of the external audit;
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o determine the completeness and appropriateness of management’s response
to audit findings;
o evaluate independence of the external audit function;
e review the reasonableness of the external audit fees;
o arbitrate in disputes between management and auditors;
¢ nominate external auditors;
¢ review the management letter prepared by the independent auditors; and
o discuss with external auditor:
» conduct and problems of the audit;
= audited financial statements; and

» scope and timing of the audit.

The audit committee should meet regularly with the internal and external
auditors with and without senior members of management present. It is important that
the audit committee have a way of ascertaining whether the auditors have had
disagreements with management and how these disagreements have been resolved.
The audit committee should also review with the auditors whether all the systems and
procedures are adequate and whether there are any material systems and controls that

need strengthening (Cohn et al., 2000; Knapp, 1987).

It is important that the audit committee review the criteria for external auditor
independence. The SEC, following the recommendations of the Blue Ribbon
Committee on the Effectiveness of Corporate Audit Committees (1999), adopted rule
amendments requiring reporting companies to include a report disclosing whether the

audit committee has taken certain actions. Specifically, the audit committee report

should have to disclose:

¢ whether the audit committee has reviewed and discussed certain matters with
the independent auditors, whether the audit committee has reviewed and
discussed the audited financial statements with management; and

¢ whether the audit committee has discussed with the independent auditors
certain matters required under SAS 61 auditing standards and whether they
have received and discussed the information required by independent

standards Board Standard No. 1 regarding the auditors’ independence.
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Therefore, the disclosure requirements on external auditor independence in the
USA highlight the extent to which the role of the external auditors and their
relationship with the audit committee is considered to be a key mechanism in

corporate governance.
4.2.C.2. Developments in Audit Committee Effectiveness

As a result of shareholder suits, governmental investigations and criminal
proceedings arising from recent financial debacles at Enron, WorldCom, Adelphia
and others, liability is lurking around every corner of the corporate world for
directors, officers, outside auditors and members of audit committees (Buchalter et
al, 2003). Expectations of audit committees have increased dramatically (e.g., BRC,
1999; Burke and Guy, 2001; Grant Thornton, 1997; Levitt, 1998; Rezaee and Farmer,
1994; SEC, 1999b) with a number of other initiatives bringing focus to the challenge

of achieving effectiveness.

The audit committee has responsibilities to the entire Board of directors,
current shareholders, and regulators (Price Waterhouse, 1993). One function of the
audit committee is to help protect the independence of the external auditor (Price
Waterhouse, 1993). The Public Oversight Board (POB)" (1993) has stated, “...In too
many instances the audit committee members do not perform their duties adequately”.
Similar findings have been reported by other professional and regulatory groups, both

domestically and internationally (e.g., Cadbury Committee, 1992; and Sommer,
1991).

In the literature, authors have indicated a great deal of variation in both
perceived and stated responsibilities of audit committees (e.g., Abdolmohammadi and
Levy, 1992; Coopers & Lybrand, 1995; DeZoort, 1997, and Kalbers, 1992a) and the
need better to understand responsibilities to improve the effectiveness of audit
committees (e.g., Rittenberg and Nair, 1993). Coopers et al. (1995) argued that the
scope of audit committee activity had expanded considerably over the two decades.

They found that most of the audit committees conducted a wide range of oversight
duties.

| . i '
In the Public Interest: A Special Report by the Public Oversight Board of the SEC Practice Section,
AICPA. Stamford, CT: Public Oversight Board (1993)
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Pincus et al. (1988) noted that audit committees enhance the board’s capacity
to act as a management control by providing a more detailed knowledge and
understanding of the financial statements and other financial information issued by
the organization. Lee and Stone (1997) studied 100 U.S. multi-national companies
and found a “mismatch” between audit committees' stated responsibilities and the
levels of instrumental experience (defined as skills related to accounting, auditing,

and control issues) among members.

Rezaee (1997) pointed out that,

The effectiveness of the audit committees’ involvement in corporate governance and
the extent of the board of directors reliance on audit committees’ services depends on the
availability of resources and the degree to which audit committee members are independent

from management (pp.34).

Therefore, the author introduced three audit committee attributes that enhance
the effectiveness of audit committees and help audit committee members to achieve

their expected roles and responsibilities. These attributes are:

¢ independence;
e expertise; and

e resources (Charter).
4.2.C.2.1. Independence

Audit committees must be independent to achieve their expected roles and
functions (Rittenberg and Nair, 1994). Raghunandan et al. (2001) reported survey
results indicating that audit committees composed only of independent directors were
more likely to have stronger relationships with internal auditors than were audit

committees with one or more insiders.

The Treadway Commission (1987) recommended that the board of directors of
all public companies should be required to establish audit committees composed
solely of independent directors. The Blue Ribbon Committee on Improving the

Effectiveness of Corporate  Audit Committees (1999) also recommended that
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companies should have audit committees comprised entirely of independent outside

directors.

The Cadbury Committee (1992) stated that, “all listed companies should
establish an audit committee” (paragraph 4.35). The Cadbury Committee emphasised

the independence of audit committee members. [t was stated that,

There should be a minimum of three members. Membership should be confined to the
non-executive directors of the company and a majority of the non-executives serving on the

committee should be independent (Cadbury Report, 1992: paragraph 4.35.b).

The NYSE requires listed companies to have at least a two-member audit
committee composed of all independent directors (Blue Ribbon Committee, 1999).
The NYSE Listed Company Manual (1999) characterizes independent directors as

those who are,

independent of management and free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the
Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgement as a committee

member. (Treadway Commission 1987: pp. 41; Blue Ribbon Committee 1999: pp. 1079).

The Treadway Commission (1987) mentioned that the New York Stock
Exchange (NASD) requires that all national market system companies establish and
maintain audit committees that have a majority of independent directors. The Blue

Ribbon Committee (1999: p.1079) described an independent director as,

a person other than an officer or employee of the company or its subsidiaries or any other
individual having a relationship that, in the opinion of the board of directors, would interfere

with the exercise of independent judgement in carrying out the responsibilities of a director

Willis and Lightie (2000) analyzed the annual reports of the Fortune 100 in
1998 and found that 78 companies had included management reports on their internal
controls. Of these, 74 (95%) referred to an audit committee, 92% said its members
were independent or not part of management, 1% said the audit committee regularly
met with the independent auditor, 78% with the internal audit director and 76% with
management. Of the 74 companies with an audit committee, 78% said the committee

Was responsible for oversight of the financial reporting process, 81% review of
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internal controls, 69% review of the scope and results of internal and independent

audits performed, and 27% oversight of the internal and independent audit functions.

McMullen and Raghunandan (1996) found that companies without reporting
problems were more likely to have an audit committee composed solely of outside

directors than companies with reporting problems.

To be effective, such a committee must be made up of independent directors representing
public shareholders. [f given relatively specific responsibility for the review of both
independent auditing and financial reporting, it can, without destroying the present structure
of the accounting profession, separate independent auditors from management in a way that
should strengthen the independence of the former without usurping any of the operating

responsibilities of the latter (Mautz and Neary, 1979: 84).

4.2.C.2.2. Expertise

Audit committee experience/expertise is perceived to be a critical component
of the effectiveness of audit committees, yet many authors (e.g., Beasley and Salterio,
2001; DeZoort, 1997, General Accounting Office (GAO), 1991; Kalbers, 1992a,
1992b; and Lee and Stone, 1997) have concerns with audit committee members'
expertise levels. Audit committee expertise is associated with factors including: (i)
greater interaction with internal auditors; (ii) reduced incidence of financial reporting

problems; and (iii) greater support for auditors in auditor-management disagreements.

DeZoort et al. (2001) found that companies with suspicious auditor switches
had fewer audit committee members with experience in accounting, auditing or
finance than their non-switching counterparts. Beasley and Salterio (2001) studied
Canadian boards and found that voluntary increases in audit committee members'
collective financial reporting and audit committee knowledge and experience were
related to board size, proportion of outsiders on the board and separation of board
chair and CEO/president. The General Accounting Office (GAO) (1991) found that
approximately half of the 40 surveyed audit committee chairs from large U.S. banks
perceived their audit committee had no members with expertise in assigned
accounting, auditing, banking and legal oversight domains. DeZoort (1997) found that
audit committee members believed that all audit committee members should have

sufficient expertise in oversight areas related to accounting, auditing and the law.
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Each of these studies identified audit committee member experience and an
awareness of technical issues as a prerequisite for committee effectiveness. It is
therefore reasonable to consider that an audit committee composed of non-executive

directors, who possess sufficient background experience, will be effective.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (2002) requires US companies to disclose whether,
and if not — why not, the audit committee includes at least 1 financial expert, who has
(Seaman, 2003: 15):

an understanding of GAAP;

o experience in the preparation or auditing of financial statements of generally
comparable issuers;

o experience in the application of principles in connection with estimates,
accruals, and reserves;

e experience with internal accounting controls; and

o an understanding of audit committee functions.

Hurtt et al. (1999) claimed that financial literacy for audit committee members
consists of “the ability to read and understand fundamental financial statements,
including a company’s balance sheet, income statement, and cash flows statement”
(pp. 124). The Blue Ribbon Committee (1999) suggested that members of the audit
committee with limited familiarity with finance could achieve financial literacy
through company-sponsored training programmes. This level of literacy can also be
achieved through completion of a basic financial accounting course such as those

taught in most MBA programmes at colleges and universities (Hurtt et al, 1999).
4.2.C.2.3. Resources (Charter)

The audit committee charter is an important resource in ensuring an effective
audit committee. The charter is “a formal statement of the charge, or to acknowledge
the existence of the audit committee in the corporate bylaws™ (Pomeranz, 1997: 282).
In the United States, most audit committees were working with charters written in the

1970s. The charters were very short and consisted of four to eight lines of text.
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The Blue Ribbon Committee (1999: pp. 1073) recommended that each

company’s audit committee adopt a written charter that:

o describes its responsibilities and how it carries out those responsibilities;

o isapproved by the full board;

e isreviewed and assessed on an annual basis;

o specifies that the outside auditor is ultimately accountable to the board and
the audit committee;

o requires a dialogue with the auditor about all relationships that may impact
the auditor’s objectivity and independence; and

e requires the taking of appropriate action by the audit committee to ensure

the independence of the outside auditor.

The major purpose for developing a charter is to establish formally the audit
committee as a functional element of the company’s over-all organisational structure
(Rezaee and Farmer, 1994). According to Arthur Andersen® (1991), the committee’s
charter should detail:

e the committee membership and term of office;
e roles and responsibilities;

e relationship with management;

e internal and external auditors; and

e frequency and timing of meetings.

Therefore, the charter defines the background and experience requirements for
audit committee members and sets guidelines for the committee’s relationships with
management, external auditors and others. This document should not be complex, and
it should be approved by the board and discussed with management and the auditors
(Arthur Andersen, 1991). This charter is developed, periodically up-dated, and
approved by the governing board.

Raghunandan et al. (1994) argued that a charter establishes a framework to

[13

enhance the effectiveness of the audit committee. Bean (1999) argued that, “a

2
Arthur Andersen is still working in Saudi Arabia.
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comprehensive charter enhances the effectiveness of the audit committee, serving as a

road map for committee members” (pp. 47).

Recent SEC pronouncements, that have been effective since June 2001, have
required all US listed companies to state whether the audit committee has adopted a

written charter.

The audit committee roles and responsibilities are laid down in the charter. Therefore,
it is reasonable to infer that audit committee effectiveness must be affected by the

existence of a charter.
4.2.D. Disclosure and Transparency

Transparency refers to the principle of creating an environment where
information on existing conditions, decisions and actions is made accessible, visible
and understandable to all market participants. Disclosure refers to the process and
methodology of providing the information and making policy decisions known

through timely dissemination and openness.

The financial crises in many countries around the world and their aftermath
have underscored the need for a more transparent environment for investment, fair
competition and building confidence in the transparency and accountability of both
the public and corporate sectors. These crises have highlighted the fact that the long-
term health of any financial system and corporate sector depends on practices that
adequately protect outside investors. Reliable financial information and disclosures
are an efficient means of protecting shareholders and are at the heart of corporate
governance and the restoration of investor confidence and market efficiency

(Nowroozi, 2000).

Disclosure and transparency have been noted to play an important role in the
cOrporate governance system of firms (Bushman and Smith, 2000). The Blue Ribbon

Committee (2000) emphasised that:
If a corporation is to be a viable attraction for capital, its board must ensure disclosure

and transparency concerning the company’s true financial performance as well as its

governance practices” (p.10).
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The OECD (1999) prescribed that

“the corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate disclosure
is made on all material matters regarding the corporation, including the financial situation,

performance, ownership, and governance of the company” (pp.21).

Thus, disclosure and transparency are key pillars of an effective corporate
governance framework because they provide all the stakeholders with the information
necessary to judge whether their interests are being protected. To maintain integrity
and to function fairly and efficiently, the market needs high quality information,
timely disclosures and efficient access to such information. Investors need this
information to make investment decisions and to trade. When relevant information is
not properly disclosed in a timely fashion, when insiders abuse their positions and
misuse information, or when misleading information is given, this will destroy market

fairness and integrity and the level playing field.

Transparency and disclosure are keys to effective corporate governance.
Information about a company usually includes: financial results of the company;
major share ownership; members of the board of directors and key executives and
their remuneration; governance structures; and company objectives and policies. The
quality of transparency and disclosure depends partly on accounting and auditing
standards and the financial reporting system. The ingredients for transparency and
accountability revolve around accurate and complete financial statements. Accounting
is indeed the language of business and financial statement disclosure is the means by
which the status of a company is communicated to shareholders, potential
shareholders and others who have an interest in the firm. Independence of auditing is
a key to ensuring that the information disseminated is reliable and credible. Good
financial reporting systems facilitate easy access to reliable and credible information
by shareholders and other investors. Transparency, therefore, refers to the availability

of information to the general public and clarity about government rules, regulations,

and decisions.

The formal requirements of disclosure in Saudi Arabia take us back to the
initialisation of the Company Regulations issued by Royal Decree No. M/6, dated

1963, requiring companies to prepare financial statements audited by a licensed CPA.
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The Ministerial Resolve 89 stated that Boards of directors must prepare a balance
sheet, an income statement, a report about the company’s activities and its financial
status and the intended method of the revenue allocations every financial year and at
least 60 days before the general meeting (Ministry of Commerce, 1965). These
documents must be accessible to shareholders at least 25 days before the general
meeting. Also, the Resolve mentioned that the board must disclose in a public

newspaper the abovementioned documents.

Two essential conditions for the existence of a fair market are that information
should be available to all players at the same time and that the rules that govern the
market are known to everyone (Keong, 2002). Complete information on the processes
and their results not only ensure fairness but also improve the market as well as
company efficiency and value. It should be ensured that timely and accurate
disclosure is made on all relevant matters about the company. The OECD (1999)
stated that disclosure should not be conservative and not limited to a few variables.
Besides the more obvious operating results of the company, the shareholders should
be provided with facts on the remuneration of the board and key executives, material
foreseeable risk factors, and material issues regarding employees and other

shareholders.

The quality of information disclosure and transparency has been the subject of
an increasing stream of academic research. Studies suggest that better disclosure has a
positive impact on the efficient functioning of capital markets. Healy and Palepu
(2001) reviewed research on financial reporting and voluntary disclosure of
information by management and concluded that the increased pace of
entrepreneurship and globalization has increased the value of reliable information in
capital markets. Verecchia (2001) and Dye (2001) provided comprehensive reviews

of the theoretical research on disclosure and related issues over the last two decades.

Gelos et al. (2002) examined whether country transparency affects
international portfolio investment or not using new measures of transparency and a
unique micro-data set on international portfolio holdings of emerging market funds.
They distinguished between government and corporate transparency. There was clear
evidence that funds invest systematically less in less transparent countries. Herding

among funds tends to be more prevalent in less transparent markets. Funds seemed to
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react less strongly to macroeconomic news about opaque countries. There was also
some evidence that during crises, funds flee non-transparent countries to a greater

extent.

In further research on disclosure and transparency, Standard & Poor have
introduced the new disclosure and transparency (T&D) rankings to provide an
objective, transparent, globally consistent, and replicable measurement of the levels of
disclosure provided by the largest and most liquid companies in more than 30

countries.

The value-added of increased transparency is also considered in several recent
studies (Brown and Han, 1992; and Gibson, Tamburini and Tuchschmid, 1998).
These studies have provided evidence that transparency promotes greater convergence
of beliefs and significantly improves the accuracy of analyst earnings forecasts. In
these studies, empirical results on the quality of disclosure support the conjecture of
Strong and Walker (1987) and Ohlson (1987) that public information causes
convergence of beliefs which leads to more complete markets which, in turn, lead to

improved risk-sharing.

There are, however, several factors which reduce incentives for transparency
(the release of accurate, complete and timely information in the annual report).
Among them are the threat of product-market competition (Darrough and Stoughton,
1990; and Chen 1994), tax avoidance considerations, conflicts of interest among
various classes of shareholders and finally the management's fear of losing the

confidence of a diffused ownership.

A study of Swiss non-financial exchange-listed firms, by Gibson, Tamburini
and Tuchschmid (1998), showed that the analyst rating (a measure of the quality of
the disclosure in the annual report) increased with the equity free float (a measure of
the degree of openness of the firm) and with the number of financial analysts that

follow the firm, suggesting an additional incentive to disclose.
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42.D.1. The OECD Principles of Corporate Governance on Disclosure and

Transparency

The OECD principles (1999) prescribe that,

the corporate governance framework should ensure that timely and accurate disclosure is

made on all material matters regarding the corporation, including the financial situation,

performance, ownership, and governance of the company” (pp.21).

There are, however, specific issues that need to be addressed in regard to the

requirements of disclosure and transparency. The following are excerpts from the

OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (1999: Section IV. Disclosure and

Transparency). They are quoted here because of the clarity and simplicity of the

language used in explaining the various issues involved.

A. Disclosure should include, but not be limited to, material information on:

1.

2
3
4
5.
6
7

The financial and operating results of the company.

Company objectives.

Major share ownership and voting rights.

Members of the board and key executives, and their remuneration.
Material foreseeable risk factors.

Material issues regarding employees and other stakeholders.

Governance structures and policies.

B. Information should be prepared, audited, and disclosed in accordance with high quality

standards of accounting, financial and non-financial disclosure, and audit.

C. An annual audit should be conducted by an independent auditor in order to provide an

external and objective assurance on the way in which financial statements have been

prepared and presented.

D. Channels for disseminating information should provide for fair, timely and cost-efficient

access to relevant information by users. (OECD, 1999: Section V)

Therefore, it can be seen from part ‘A.1> above that the most widely used source

of information on companies is the audited financial statements that show the

financial performance and the financial situation of companies (e.g., balance sheet;

profit and loss statement; cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements).
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Management’s discussion and analysis of operations should also be included in
annual reports. Investors are particularly interested in information that may shed light

on the future performance of the enterprise.

The Principle ‘A.2” emphasises that companies should disclose their commercial
objectives and policies relating to business ethics, the environment and other public
policy commitments. Also the Principle ‘A.3,” shows that one of the basic rights of
investors is to be informed about the ownership structure of the enterprise. Such
disclosure might include data on major shareholders and others that control the
company, including information on special voting rights, shareholder agreements, the
ownership of controlling or large blocks of shares, significant cross shareholding

relationships and cross guarantees.

Principle ‘A.4’ shows that investors require information on individual board
members and key executives in order to evaluate their experience and qualifications
and assess any potential conflicts of interest that might affect their judgement. They
also need information on reasonably foreseeable material risks (see Principle A.5) that
may include: risks that are specific to the industry or geographical areas; dependence
on commodities; financial market risk including interest rate or currency risk; risk
related to derivatives and off-balance sheet transactions; and risks related to
environmental liabilities. Companies are also encouraged to provide information on
key issues relevant to employees and other stakeholders that may materially affect the
performance of the company and to report on how they apply relevant corporate

governance principles in practice (see Principles A.6 and 7 above).

From the Principle ‘B’ it could be realized that high quality standards are
expected to improve significantly the ability of investors to monitor the company by
providing increased reliability and comparability of reporting, and improved insight

Into company performance.

The independence of auditors (Principle C) and their accountability to
shareholders is an issue that has been given attention by many companies, authors and
Corporate governance organizations all over the world. The OECD (1999) by stating
the Principle ‘C’ above has considered the importance of auditor independence, too.

The OECD countries have paid attention to this issue, too, and some of them apply
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limitations on the percentage of non-audit income that the auditor can receive from a
particulaf client. Other countries require companies to disclose the level of fees paid
o auditors for non-audit services. It is widely felt that the application of high quality
audit standards and codes of ethics is one of the best methods for increasing

independence and strengthening the standing of the profession.

Following the OECD Principle ‘D,” some countries have started to enhance
filing of statutory reports by electronic filing and data retrieval systems. In Saudi
Arabia, a major development in the stock market was the introduction of an electronic
stock trading system (Tadawul) on October 6, 2001. Market prices, news, regulatory
announcements, corporate information and companies’ financial statements become
available to everyone, as it happens, within the Kingdom and abroad, which has

boosted the disclosure and transparency of the Saudi market.
4.2.D.2. Disclosure, Transparency and Financial Statements

The objective of financial statements is to provide information about the
financial position (balance sheet), performance (income statement) and changes in

financial position (cash flow statement) of a firm (Greuning, 1999).

The transparency of financial statements is secured through full disclosure and
by providing fair presentation of useful information necessary for making economic
decisions to a wide range of users. Financial statements should be easy to interpret but
the provision of information to the market is costly. Therefore the net benefits of

additional transparency should be carefully assessed.

The adoption of internationally accepted accounting standards is a necessary
measure to facilitate transparency and proper interpretation of financial statements.
The framework for financial accountability depends on the prevailing cultural norms

in each country and it may consist of a complex set of relationships, rules and

regulations.

International standards of accounting define the basis for the financial
teporting and disclosure for accountability and transparency. The International

Accounting Standards Board in 1989 (amended in 2001) developed a Framework for
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the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, which describes the basic
concepts by which financial statements are prepared. The Framework serves as a
guide to the Board in developing accounting standards and as a guide to resolving
accounting issues that are not addressed directly in an International Accounting

Standard or International Financial Reporting Standard. This framework:

o defines the objective of financial statements;

« identifies the qualitative characteristics that make information in financial
statements useful; and

o defines the basic elements of financial statements and the concepts for

recognising and measuring them in financial statements.

However, in the absence of comprehensive useful information, even managers
may not be aware of the true financial condition of their enterprise, and other key
market participants may be misled. This may prevent the market to act as an
intermediary of the price discovery mechanism and discourage investors from taking

the risk to invest in the particular enterprise (Yener, 2002).

According to the International Accounting Standards Board, there are four-key

qualitative characteristics of accounting that make financial statements useful to users:

o relevance: nature and materiality of information;

o reliability: true and faithful representation of financial status; substance;
neutrality; prudence and completeness;

o comparability: with financial statements of other firms; and

¢ understandability: informational content
But these characteristics are subject to the following constraints:

* timeliness: the financial information must be provided on a timely basis, but at
times a delay may improve reliability, at the cost of relevance;

¢ benefit vs. cost: the benefit of having this information must outweigh the cost of

providing it.
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o balancing of qualitative characteristics: the company providing this information
must achieve an appropriate balance among the abovementioned qualitative
characteristics;

o faimess: the information should be a fair representation of the economic reality of

events and transactions in a given year, and users can find all relevant aspects of

the firm’s financial performance and position.
4.2.D.3. Transparency and Disclosure Measurements

Standard & Poor have published a study that examines the transparency and
disclosure practices of major public companies around the globe. The study was
launched in 2001 in Latin America and Asia, and in 2002 the study was extended to
the S&P/TOPIX 150 in Japan. The transparency and disclosure methodology
incorporates disclosure items from the criteria that Standard & Poor’s Governance
Services uses in its interactive corporate governance scoring service. Standard &
Poor’s has introduced a methodology to assess the level of transparency and
disclosure, which is evaluated by searching company annual reports for the
information of 98 possible attributes broadly divided into the following three sub-

categories:

¢ ownership structure and investor relations (28 attributes);
¢ financial transparency and information disclosure (35 attributes); and

¢ board and management structure and process (35 attributes).

The Standard & Poor’s Transparency & Disclosure scores was a proprietary
evaluation of corporate disclosure patterns and have covered approximately 1,600
companies, covering the Standard & Poor’s Global 1200 index and an additional 400
companies representing the leading companies in Standard & Poor’s/IFCI emerging
markets index. The S&P Global 1200 represents leading global companies and
includes the S&P 500, 150 companies in Japan, and 350 companies in Europe. These
1,600 companies cover over 40 markets and represent approximately 70% of the

world’s tradable market capitalization.

The Transparency & Disclosure scores are developed from the analysis of the

latest available annual reports, and assess the level of transparency and disclosure of
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companies in emerging markets (Asia, Latin America, central and eastern Europe, and

Africa) as well as developed markets (Europe, developed Asia and Us).

43.  MEAURING THE MECHANISMS OF EFFECTIVE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The academic literature has emphasized the importance of effectiveness,
which could be seen by the frequency of reference to the concept in the titles of
papers (e.g., Ecton and Reinstein, 1982; Spangler and Braiotta, 1990; Verschoor,
1990a,b; Kalbers and Fogarty, 1993; Cameron, 1986, and others). However, these
studies reveal that the characteristics contributing to effectiveness are not always

easily identifiable and research into their impact is equivocal in its conclusions.

Measures of effectiveness are difficult to establish and criteria tend to be
confined to those factors which can be quantified (Spira, 1999). Spira (1999: 32) also
noticed that, “there is no discussion of the meaning of effectiveness, resources, or
independence within the literature and this assertion is unsupported”. Lee and Stone
(1997: 98) in explaining the purpose of their study noted that, “actual effectiveness

was impossible to observe”.

In addition, Cameron (1981) stated that organisational effectiveness has
become “an enigma,” and the meaning of effectiveness in academic research is
unclear because of the variety of referents used. Therefore, evaluators of
organisational effectiveness will never measure all of the relevant aspects of
effectiveness of an organisation from all the relevant points of view. For this reason, it
is very important that evaluators make clear certain critical choices they make when

measuring effectiveness.

However, Cameron (1981) added that effectiveness is an “elusive” concept
that can be approached through several models, none of which is appropriate in all

Circumstances. Cameron (1986: 544) argued that,
there is no single model or criteria for organisational effectiveness. There cannot be a

single theory about effectiveness, and the primary task facing any investigator of effectiveness

lies in determining what are the appropriate indicators and standards.
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For this reason, the selection of data by which to measure effectiveness is
important because an organisation may be judged effective on the basis of biased data
(Cameron, 1981: 10). Cameron (1981) also compared twenty-one empirical studies of
organisational effectiveness on the basis of the type of effectiveness criteria used and
the sources from which the criteria were derived, and it was discovered that no
overlap occurred in the criteria of effectiveness in approximately 80 per cent of the

studies.

Baugher (1981) argued that there is often no single model for defining
effectiveness in any given situation. It was noted that it is possible to say that the
investigator should focus on a particular type of effectiveness. However, one could
look at effectiveness from one perspective and ineffectiveness from another
perspective. It was concluded that “the investigator should determine which type of
effectiveness is of the greatest concern to the constituency or constituencies to which

he or she must report” (pp. 102).

Therefore, in this thesis, the word “effectiveness” refers to corporate
governance mechanisms as follows: shareholders get their rights; boards of directors
and audit committees carry out their specific oversight responsibilities; disclosure and

transparency are timely and sufficient.
44. SUMMARY

Although observers in the literature have increasingly come to recognize that
governance mechanisms (e.g., shareholders’ rights, board of directors, audit
committees and disclosure and transparency) should work together in a system, much
of the previous research has focused only on individual mechanisms. This has
contributed a great deal to knowledge about these particular instruments but left gaps
in our understanding of how these mechanisms jointly could enhance the

effectiveness of corporate governance system as a whole.

The corporate governance mechanisms, just described, should not be viewed
in isolation from each other, Again, it has been generally argued that these elements

jointly enhance the effectiveness of corporate governance in a firm.
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CHAPTER FIVE:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE EFFECTIVENESS
IN SAUDI ARABIA:

THEORY, LITERATURE AND HYPOTHESES

5.1. INTRODUCTION

The international organizations discussed in the previous chapters such as the
International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Organization of Economic Cooperation and
Development (OECD), the World Bank and others are very keen on governance
issues. The IMF has demanded that governance improvements be included in its
programs. In 1999 (amended in 2004), the OECD issued its influential OECD
Principles of Corporate Governance, which are intended to assist member and non-
member countries in their efforts to evaluate and improve the legal, institutional and
regulatory framework for better corporate governance. The World Bank has always
encouraged developing countries to adopt international best practices and implement
legal and regulatory reforms. In addition, private sector organizations, such as
Standard & Poor, California Public Employees’ Retirement Pension System
(CalPERS), Credit Lyonnaise Securities Asia' (CLSA) and McKinsey, are also calling

for sweeping reforms of governance practice in emerging economies.

Corporate governance has gained importance in Saudi Arabia, too. The Saudi
government initiated stock trading in 1935 in order to raise capital and improve

operating performance. By the year 1947, Saudi’s stock market has grown

! C_LSA is a leading provider of brokerage, investment banking and direct investment services in the
Asia-Pacific markets. Founded in 1986 and head-quartered in Hong Kong, CLSA is a unit of France's
Credit Lyonnais banking group with substantial staff ownership. CLSA has over 700 dedicated
professionals spread across all Asian and international financial centres. CLSA is consistently
fecognised as one of the top research, sales and execution houses in Asia and is known for its
novative and independent research. CLSA was recently named the ‘Most Independent Research

Brokerage House in Asia' for 2002 in both the Asiamoney Brokers Poll and the Asset Equities
Benchmark Survey.
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aggressively with market capitalization of over US$70 billion. Saudi companies have
benefited tremendously from the rapid growth in issuance and general public’s

enthusiasm in the equity market.

In this chapter, the four guiding mechanisms are identified and promoted as
the benchmarks for best practices of corporate governance in Saudi Arabia to which
companies should aspire while paying a special attention to the influence of religion
(Islam) and culture upon those principles. The related literature is investigated
followed by an introduction to the underlying theories: the no-one-size-fits-all theory

and agency theory. The hypotheses involved in this research are introduced.
52. LITERATURE REVIEW

For ease of reference, the discussion regarding the literature will be divided
into two main sections. The first section is a review of the literature relating to the
topic of corporate governance in general, which will be divided into two parts: cross-
country corporate governance literature and within-country corporate governance
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